

### Analytical Business Process Modeling Language

## DISSERTATION

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doktoringenieur (Dr.-Ing.)

angenommen durch die Fakultät für Informatik der Otto-von-Guericke-Universität Magdeburg

von M.Sc. Azeem Lodhi

geb. am 02.03.1983

in Sialkot - Pakistan

Gutachterinnen/Gutachter

Prof. Dr. Gunter Saake

Prof. Dr. Klaus Turowski

Prof. Dr. Juan J. Cuadrado Gallego

Magdeburg, den 12.12.2022

Lodhi, Azeem: Analytical Business Process Modeling Language Dissertation, University of Magdeburg, 2022.

# Abstract

Global socio-economic changes and technological developments bring new opportunities and threats for enterprises. In this competitive environment, business process management and improvement are crucial for enterprises. For this purpose, business process modelling is widely used for graphical representation of processes and communication between different stakeholders. Process understanding and its evaluation are crucial steps for process improvement.

Business process models can be annotated with performance information which in turn can be used to identify deficiencies. In practice, annotation-based models are used, however, they are not designed for this purpose and do not sufficiently support the post execution analysis and improvement of business processes. Performance evaluation with business process model is undermined research area. Our goal is to address this challenge and focus on the relationship between evaluation of business processes and their representation at the process level.

For this purpose, we specify an analytical framework for post execution analysis and improvement of business processes. We focus on the representational part of the framework and discuss the limitations of modelling languages in post execution analysis context. By doing so, we define the characteristics of analytical modelling languages. We also provide patterns to extend modelling languages for post execution analysis and improvement purpose. These analytical characteristics and patterns are modelling language independent.

We extend a business process modelling language to demonstrate the usage of our proposed patterns. Furthermore, we evaluate the proposed extension empirically and analytically as well. We discuss how these extensions solve the evaluation challenges of business processes. We emphasize the benefits of extended business process models for expressiveness and understanding to improve business processes.

# Zusammenfassung

Globale sozioökonomische Veränderungen und technische Entwicklungen bergen neue Möglichkeiten und Risiken für Unternehmen. In diesem Wettbewerbsumfeld sind Geschäftsprozessmanagement und -verbesserung entscheidend für Unternehmen. Zur grafischen Darstellung der Prozesse und Kommunikation zwischen verschiedenen Stakeholdern, ist die Verwendung von Geschäftsprozessmodellierung weit verbreitet, denn das Verständnis und die Evaluierung von Prozessen sind Schlüsselfaktoren des Verbesserungsprozesses.

Geschäftsprozessmodelle können zusätzlich mit Informationen zur Leistung versehen werden, welche wiederum verwendet werden, um Mängel zu identifizieren. Auch wenn solche kommentierten Geschäftsmodelle in der Praxis Verwendung finden, so sind sie nicht dafür geschaffen und unterstützen die Post-Execution-Analyse und die Verbesserung der Geschäftsprozesse nur unzureichend. Die Leistungsmessung mit Geschäftsprozessmodellen ist ein vernachlässigter Forschungsbereich. Unser Ziel ist es daher, diese Problematik anzugehen und den Fokus auf die Beziehungen zwischen Geschäftsprozessevaluierung und deren Repräsentation auf Prozessebene zu legen.

Hierfür erstellen wir ein Framework zur Post-Execution-Analyse und Verbesserung der Geschäftsprozesse. Wir konzentrieren uns dabei auf den repräsentativen Aspekt des Modells und erörtern die Anwendungsgrenzen der Modellierungssprache im Kontext der Post-Execution-Analyse. Wobei wir auch die Merkmale der analytischen Modellierungssprachen definieren. Außserdem stellen wir Muster zur Erweiterung der Modellierungssprachen für die Post-Execution-Analyse sowie der Verbesserung zur Verfügung. Diese analytischen Merkmale und Muster sind jedoch Modelliersprachenunabhängig.

Wir erweitern dafür eine Geschäftsprozessmodellierungssprache, um den Nutzen unserer vorgeschlagenen Vorlagen zu demonstrieren. Des Weiteren führen wir eine empirische und analytische Evaluierung der vorgeschlagenen Erweiterung durch und erörtern, wie sie die Evaluierungsproblematik der Geschäftsprozessmodelle lösen. Dazu konzentrieren wir uns auf die Vorteile der erweiterten Geschäftsprozessmodelle, damit deren Ausdruckskraft und Verständnis die Geschäftsprozesse zu verbessern.

# Contents

Li	List of Figures x		xi	
Li	List of Tables xi		xiii	
1	Intr	oduction	1	
	1.1	Motivation	2	
	1.2	Research Questions	4	
	1.3	Contribution of the Thesis	6	
	1.4	Research Methodology	7	
	1.5	Structure of the Thesis	9	
	1.6	Summary	10	
2	Busi	ness Process	11	
	2.1	Business Context	11	
	2.2	Business Process Definitions	13	
	2.3	Business Process Management Aspects	14	
	2.4	Business Process Data	15	
	2.5	Characteristics of Business Processes	17	
	2.6	Business Process Lifecycle	19	
	2.7	Business Process Levels and Stakeholders	23	
	2.8	Summary	24	
3	Busi	ness Process Modelling	<b>25</b>	
	3.1	Business Process Models	25	
	3.2	Research in Business Process Modelling	27	
	3.3	Business Process Model and Notation	36	
	3.4	Phases and Modelling Languages	37	
	3.5	Summary	38	
4	Post	Execution Analysis	41	
	4.1	Evaluation of Business and Processes	42	
	4.2	Evaluation based Classification	42	
	4.3	Organisational Metrics and Classes	46	
	4.4	Analytical Framework for Improvement	47	
	4.5	Post Execution Analysis and Representational Support	50	

	4.6	Modelling Challenges in Post Execution Analysis 51
	4.7	Context for Analytical Business Process Modelling Language (ABPML) 54
	4.8	Related Work
	4.9	Summary
5	Ana	lytical Business Process Modelling Language (ABPML) 59
	5.1	Characteristics for Analytical Business Process Modelling Language . 60
	5.2	Proposed Modelling Constructs and Patterns
	5.3	Extension of BPMN as an ABPML
	5.4	Related Work 71
	5.5	Summary
6	Emp	pirical Evaluation of Modelling Language 77
	6.1	Case Study
	6.2	Results
	6.3	Discussion
	6.4	Limitations of Empirical Evaluation
	6.5	Related Work
	6.6	Summary
7	Ana	lytical Evaluation of Modelling Language 107
	7.1	Bunge-Wand-Weber Model
	7.2	Construct Deficit: Evaluation based on BWW-Model
	7.3	Construct Overload and Redundancy
	7.4	Analytical Queries
	7.5	Benefits
	7.6	Related Work
	7.7	Summary
8	Con	clusion and Future Research 121
	8.1	Conclusion
	8.2	Future Research
A	Арр	endix 125
	A.1	Questionnaire
	A.2	Results of Empirical Evaluation
Bi	bliog	caphy 145
	0	1 V

# List of Figures

1.1	Business Analytics with Value	3
1.2	Design Science Research Framework and Cycles by $[{\rm Hev}07]$	7
2.1	Relationship between Management Perspectives of an Enterprise	12
2.2	Business Process Meta-model	15
2.3	Business Process Context and Management Techniques	16
2.4	Classification of Business Objects	18
2.5	Business Process Management Lifecycle	20
2.6	Business Process Meta-model in Different Layers	23
3.1	Main Categories of BPMN with Example Constructs	35
3.2	A Meta-model of Business Process Modelling Notation	37
3.3	Business Process Lifecycle and Modelling Languages	38
3.4	Phases of BP Lifecycle and Modelling Languages	39
4.1	Evaluation Meta-model with Base and Derived Measures	43
4.2	Business Object Characteristics and Dimensions	44
4.3	Classification of Attributes	44
4.4	Framework for Business Process Improvement and Analysis	48
4.5	Data and Process Visualisation in Tableau	50
4.6	Positioning of ABPML	56
5.1	Extended Meta-model of BPMN for Performance Evaluation	66
5.2	Process Model in the Time Dimension and its Attributes	67

5.3	Process Model in Cost Dimension and its Attributes	67
5.4	Swimlanes in Colour	68
5.5	Activities in Colour	69
5.6	Connecting Objects in Colour	69
5.7	History Construct with Statistics	70
5.8	Gateways with Rules or Conditions	70
5.9	Objects in Process Model	71
6.1	Case Study 1: Gender Distribution of Participants	82
6.2	Case Study 1: Time Perspective Comparison	84
6.3	Case Study 1: Cost Perspective Comparison	85
6.4	Case Study 1: Time-Cost Perspective Comparison	86
6.5	Case Study 1: Rule Perspective Comparison	86
6.6	Case Study 1: History Perspective Comparison	87
6.7	Case Study 1: Mean Scores of Two Methods w.r.t. Patterns	88
6.8	Case Study 1: Feedback over Time Pattern	89
6.9	Case Study 1: Feedback over Cost Pattern	89
6.10	Case Study 1: Feedback over Time-Cost Pattern	90
6.11	Case Study 1: Feedback over Rule Pattern	91
6.12	Case Study 1: Feedback over History Pattern	92
6.13	Case Study 2: Time Perspective Comparison	92
6.14	Case Study 2: Cost Perspective Comparison	94
6.15	Case Study 2: Time-Cost Perspective Comparison	94
6.16	Case Study 2: Rule Perspective Comparison	95
6.17	Case Study 2: History Perspective Comparison	95
6.18	Case Study 2: Mean Scores of Two Methods w.r.t. Patterns	96
6.19	Case Study 1: Mean Scores of Patterns Evaluation	99
6.20	Case Study 2: Mean Scores of Patterns Evaluation	100
6.21	Case Study 2: Feedback over Time Pattern	102
6.22	Case Study 2: Feedback over Cost Pattern	103

6.23	Case Study 2: Feedback over Time-Cost Pattern	103
6.24	Case Study 2: Feedback over Rule Pattern	104
6.25	Case Study 2: Feedback over History Pattern	104
7.1	Bunge-Wand-Weber: Evaluation Criteria of Modelling Languages	110
7.2	Construct Deficit: Performance Representation in Business Process Modelling Languages	111
7.3	Construct Overload: Constructs Representing different Concepts	114
7.4	Construct Redundancy: Concepts Represented by different Modelling Constructs	115
7.5	Representational Gap in Modelling Languages	116
A.1	Case Study 1: Ages of Participants	141
A.2	Case Study 1: Experience of Participants	142
A.3	Case Study 1: Experience and Expertise of Participants	142
A.4	Case Study 2: Gender Distribution of Participants	143
A.5	Case Study 2: Experience and Expertise of Participants	144
A.6	Case Study 2: Roles of Participants in Organizations	144

# List of Tables

2.1	Business Process Lifecycle	22
3.1	Business Process Models for Business-IT Alignment	28
3.2	Research in Business Process Modelling	32
3.3	Research in Business Process Modelling (Continued from Table 3.2) $% \left( \mathcal{L}^{2}\right) =\left( \mathcal{L}^{2}\right) \left( \mathcal{L}^{2}\right) \left$	33
4.1	Challenges, their Importance, and Representation	55
5.1	Characteristics of ABPML and Challenges (Section 4.6) Addressed $\ .$	61
5.2	Pattern and Characteristics	63
6.1	Case Study 1: Descriptive and Inferential Statistics of Two Methods .	83
6.2	Case Study 2: Descriptive and Inferential Statistics of Two Methods .	93
6.3	Case Study 1: Evaluation of Patterns under Quality Criteria	98
6.4	Case Study 2: Evaluation of Patterns under Quality Criteria	99

# 1. Introduction

The business world is competitive and fierce competition exists between companies due to globalisation, emerging technologies, and digitalisation. Even small companies with niche characteristics give competition to well-established companies and have a reach to broader international markets. Research in 2014 indicated that in 14 years (since 2000), 52% of companies in the Fortune 500 had been disappeared from the list (either gone bankrupt, been acquired or ceased to exists) [Wan14]. Only 12% of companies (60 in total) are still in Fortune 500 list since 1955 as analysed in [Per17]. Old products are replaced by new products and services (e.g. camera films with digital cameras) and traditional business models with new business models.

Consider an example of a customer purchasing a product from a company. She has many options like purchasing from an online store or a physical store and from big brand companies to small manufacturers. In the past three decades, significant technological development has been made and reached broader society. The competition between organisations is not only increased but also raised the expectation of customers. Therefore, enterprises seek new strategies to provide innovative and quality services to satisfy customers' needs. Enterprises attract and involve customers with digital experiences. These new ways also paved the way for new business models and services to generate more revenue and serve different customer segments.

In order to respond to the changes in business world with existing infrastructure, enterprises continuously try to streamline their organisational structure and processes [KT21]. The streamlining helps to provide new and better services for customers. However, before making any changes to existing operations, first, we need to understand and analyse how processes are executed in an enterprise.

Recent technological developments open new horizons for products and services in business sectors. These changes affect business process management research, like satisfying stakeholders' requirements from different perspectives. Changes bring up several challenges for the business process modelling domain as well. These challenges need to be addressed for better management of business processes. For example, data about business process executions are stored in different tables and logs. This type of data facilitates the analysis of business processes in deep detail and helps in making business decisions [TW20].

Business processes (BP) are represented in a graphical way for easy communication between stakeholders. The intuitive nature of business process models and explicit representation of business objects improve the overall understanding of business processes. Business process modelling is fundamental for understanding, managing, and improving business processes [Rei21]. Most of the research in business process modelling is focused on the alignment of information technology with business processes [LKS11d]. However, limited research is carried out to represent process knowledge through business process models for improvement [ETDRORRC21, ZBGD19, VTM08].

The remaining part of this chapter is structured as follows. In Section 1.1, we provide the research motivation by discussing data and process-oriented approaches in correspondence to performance representational support. In Section 1.2, we formulate the research questions of the thesis. In Section 1.3, we elaborate on the research contributions of the thesis. In Section 1.4, we present the research methodology followed by the thesis. We outline the structure of the thesis in Section 1.5. At the end of the chapter in Section 1.6, we summarise this chapter.

## 1.1 Motivation

Management of business operation undergoes in various research disciplines. Specific terms have been introduced to describe the focus of research disciplines like controlling in the early twenty century by Henri Fayol [FS16]. In the 1970s, the storage of business records in databases started where data was used to keep in operational and analytical databases. Later, these databases were used in decision support systems to answer business questions for decision makers. Different reporting dashboards are made on these databases. These databases were also used to find interesting relationships and patterns between data.

Data mining approaches were proposed and applied in various fields in the midnineties. However, mere data perspective is not enough for operational improvements. Therefore in practice, data scientists work closely together with business experts to gain knowledge about processes and to relate the discovered knowledge with operations for better application. Visualisation techniques and methods have been proposed to represent the knowledge. We represent these two types of analytics are represented as descriptive and predictive analytics in Figure 1.1 and often known as business intelligence technologies. Figure 1.1 is adopted from [DH07, Eck07, LDJD10] and put in the manufacturing context in [BL20].

In data-oriented approaches, the provision of IT support (software/service) to business functions and its analytics is primary focus of research, e.g., data models,



Figure 1.1: Business Analytics with Value

dimensional modelling, and database systems. With the maturity of research on data-oriented approaches, the focus shifted to higher levels where processes are the main focus of research to provide better analytics [vdAvH02]. In the start of 1990's, methods focusing on processes were proposed like process modelling (EPCs), process mining [vdAW04] and process management systems, i.e., workflow management systems [Mue04], process aware information systems [DvdAtH05]. The field focusing on process analysis is known as business process intelligence [vdA16, GCC<sup>+</sup>04].

Process Mining techniques [vdARW<sup>+</sup>07] provide excellent opportunities to extract knowledge from business process executions (including operational data, events and logs). Process mining fits between the business process models and business executions. Most of the research in process mining is focused on process model discovery, alignment between information technology and business processes, and social networks in operations [vdARS05].

The knowledge extracted by descriptive and predictive analytics have to be applied in business operations. Process mining techniques help further to extract knowledge about running processes. Prescriptive analytics as represented in Figure 1.1, attempts to address the question which changes should be carried out to get the desired results. The changes are carried out by an enterprise's business experts (process managers). In order to carry out such changes, they are interested in performance details of processes in an organisation. These details are necessary in order to identify deficiencies and improve processes. A deep understanding of processes is required for improvement purposes [KT21, DDB05]. Different phases of process management (from initial setting to optimisation) require different models [AS04, Mac93, Pha98, Alo16]. Phalp and Shepperd distinguish the usage of business process models into two types [PS00]. On the one side, software development is in focus, whereas on the other side, restructuring business processes is a priority. Diagrammatic notations are used for software development where a focus is on a certain perspective. Different models and views are required to restructure and analyse business processes [AS04]. Most of the modelling methods address only the needs of information system development purposes.

Limited research is carried out to represent process knowledge through business process models for improvement. Currently, information is represented with key performance indicators (KPIs), statistics, or visualisations (e.g., pie charts or histograms) which are abstract and does not provide process details to business analysts. Business process modelling has to be investigated for adequate representations of business processes, especially after execution. Similarly, different cognitive studies show that users read and perceive the information in a particular order. The order in which information is presented is an important factor. Elements essential for business process improvement should be presented in a definite position to get the attention of an analyst.

The motivation for this thesis is to represent business processes in a way where deficiencies can be easily identified for improvement. In addition to this, we propagate the need for an analytical business process modelling language for post-execution analysis by discussing the limitations of business process modelling and its focus. Furthermore, we also propagate the need for the specification of a business process improvement framework. According to this view, a process model should be enriched with performance details for business process improvement. In the following, we formulate them as our research questions.

## **1.2 Research Questions**

Business process improvement is challenging because of the complexity of carrying out the changes in processes. Enterprises find it difficult to decide where to start and what changes should be implemented for improvement. Complexity in the business process is due to various factors like inter-dependencies between activities, stakeholders, involved elements, their attributes, and applications. Research in business process improvement needs to address these complex issues and provide support to decide which action should be taken for business process improvement. We address the main research challenge in this thesis to provide representational support for business process improvement. In order to address the research challenges, the research question (RQ) is as follows.

**RQ:** How to represent the performance of a business process for its improvement?

This research question is further subdivided into detailed questions. We divide it into three parts. In the first part, we want to investigate existing methods to represent business processes. We also want to evaluate, how well they are used for postexecution analysis. The following research questions are related to the first part.

**RQ1.1:** Which novel contributions exist in the business process modelling domain?

**RQ1.2:** How business process modelling is used in different phases of a business process lifecycle?

In order to address the above research questions, we discuss the research in the business process modelling domain. We also discuss the usage of business process modelling artefacts in the context of a business process lifecycle. We represent some of the modelling languages according to their usage in a business process lifecycle and also discuss the lack of modelling languages in post-executional analysis.

Decision makers want to know the actual situation of processes and involved objects in order to make a decision about processes. The representation of the actual situation also helps to process managers to identify and improve the deficiencies in processes. In the second part, we want to address the challenges related to performance evaluation and post-execution analysis of business processes. The research questions related to this part are as follows.

**RQ2.1:** How are business processes evaluated in an organisation? Which perspectives and dimensions are used for this purpose?

**RQ2.2:** Which components are involved in the evaluation of a business process?

**RQ2.3:** How the performance of a process is represented after execution? Which type of methods and techniques are available?

**RQ2.4:** What are the current challenges to represent performance in a business process model?

In order to answer these research questions, we discuss different perspectives for evaluating business and provide corresponding dimensions for evaluation. We also introduce a framework to collect, compute and then represent the data about business operations. The challenges of business process models in post-execution are discussed to answer these research questions.

For process improvement, process managers are interested in more details for process performance analysis. Therefore, new detailed graphical models are required for this purpose. These approaches go beyond typical applications and usage of process models [Rei21]. However, existing representational techniques of evaluation do not adequately fulfil the requirements. Given this context, further questions are also raised. These questions compliment the third part of our research questions which is related to post-executional representation of process with performance details.

**RQ3.1:** What are the requirements for process performance representation in postexecution context?

**RQ3.2:** Is it possible to analyse the performance of a process with existing modelling languages?

**RQ3.3:** How business process modelling languages are adapted to improve the performance representation?

We discuss the characteristics of an analytical modelling language. Being able to identify characteristics, we also propose an analytical modelling language that is generic enough to use as a basis to extend other modelling languages for postexecution analysis. We also extend an existing modelling language for demonstration purposes. This extension is evaluated and compared with traditional methods from experimental and analytical perspectives with the help of a case study.

In the following section, we describe the contribution of our thesis in detail.

### **1.3** Contribution of the Thesis

This thesis propagates the need for representational support for post-execution analysis and improvement. Representational support dedicated to business process intelligence is missing. Existing methods focus only on the data perspective (business intelligence). The main focus of this thesis is to provide representational support for business process improvement after business process execution. With this motivation, first, we provide the context and meta-model of business processes with its management techniques. We also discuss business process lifecycle, different stakeholders and their level of participation in processes. The context and meta-model provide the basis for understanding the influencing factors of business processes.

We investigate the first part of the research questions by investigating the business process modelling domain and its usage in business process lifecycle. We categorise the research in business process modelling and discuss the current challenges. We also position some modelling languages with their usage in different phases of a business process. By doing so, we find that limited research is carried out in the phases of post-execution analysis of business processes.

For the evaluation of business processes, data from different sources are collected and used for computation. Quantitative and qualitative measurements are made for performance evaluation of business processes. In order to get the required data, an analytical framework has been proposed in this thesis which addresses the issues in different areas. These areas include the collection of data from information systems, its computation, and representation in business process models. We also discuss the challenges for existing modelling languages in post-execution analysis context.

We see the scope of an innovative artefact to solve the problems related to business process analysis and improvement. Therefore, our objective is to provide a new representation of business processes for performance analysis and help managers to make decisions. Focusing on the third part of the research questions, we provide the characteristics of an analytical modelling language. We also propose languageindependent constructs and patterns of the analytical modelling language. We extend an existing modelling language with the proposed constructs and patterns as



Figure 1.2: Design Science Research Framework and Cycles by [Hev07]

example. The extended modelling language is further evaluated from experimental and analytical evaluation methods. The extended modelling language enhances the user's understanding of business processes, execution environment, and help them make improvement decisions.

### **1.4 Research Methodology**

Two science paradigms are mostly discussed in information systems research. One is a design science research paradigm (as discussed in [MS95, HMPR04]) which focuses on problem-solving and extending the artefacts. Another approach is the behavioural science paradigm which focuses on developing and verifying theories that explain or predict the behaviour of human and organisational elements [PTRC07, HMPR04]. Behavioural science follows the natural science research methods where principles and laws are observed in the environment. In [HMPR04], the authors present a conceptual framework by combining both paradigms. This framework and guidelines are further extended with three design science research cycles in [Hev07] and shown in Figure 1.2.

Design science is a problem-solving paradigm seeking for ideas, practices, technical capabilities, and artefacts through which problems can be effectively and efficiently solved [MS95]. The new artefacts attempt to extend the boundaries of human and organisational capabilities. In [HMPR04], authors broadly define IT artefacts defined as constructs (symbols and vocabulary), models (abstractions and representations), methods (algorithms and their practices), and instantiations (prototype systems and implementations). In this thesis, we follow the design science paradigm and acknowl-edge the work presented in [HMPR04, PTRC07, Hev07].

In [Hev07], the authors discuss three cycles of design science, as shown in Figure 1.2. These are relevance cycle, design cycle and rigour cycle. We introduce these cycles from [Hev07] and discuss their corresponding implementation in our research.

The relevance cycle of design science provides the context or reason for the research. It provides the requirement for the research and also the acceptance criteria. The output of the design cycle is provided in the application environment for testing. The result of the field test will decide whether additional iterations are needed in design science or not.

The rigour cycle provides the knowledge base of scientific theories and methods that provide the foundation for a research project. It also provides the experience, expertise and existing artefacts in a domain. Thus providing the state of the art in the domain and sometimes referred to design science as a search process. The result of the design cycle is included in the knowledge base that includes an extension to the original theory or method.

The design cycle is the central part of design science research and iterates between the core activities of artefact construction, evaluation and other research processes. The requirements from the relevance cycle are investigated by taking the foundations from the rigour cycle (design and evaluation theories). In this phase, a design artefact is developed and evaluated until a satisfactory design is achieved.

Our objective is to provide process models enriched with performance details for better analysis of business processes in the context of improvement. In this regard, we analyse the requirements of post-execution analysis of business processes [LKS10]. We also conducted interviews with experts to know their expectations from such models. We found that the community welcomes such business process models as they will help users to make decisions for process improvement.

We started our research by seeking more expressive business process models to analyse and improve the business process ( Chapter 3). We identify different methods and modelling languages used to represent the performance of elements in practice and research. However, they fulfil the requirements only at an abstraction level and do not identify deficiencies in processes. To the best of our knowledge, modelling languages are not devised for performance analysis of business processes. The research process compliments the problem relevance part and rigour cycle (design science as a search process).

Our objective is to provide a new representation of business processes for performance analysis and to help managers in making decisions. The result of design as a search process and relevance part initially helped in designing the artefact. In design science, a language specification includes constructs, models, methods, and an instantiation part. Therefore, we address these parts to specify our proposed artefact. In order to explain the artefact, we also provide patterns for the use of the modelling language. These patterns help users to gain actionable insights about their processes for business process improvements. The artefact introduced in this paper is an innovative artefact. Therefore, we used the descriptive and analytical evaluation method as suggested in [HMPR04]. For this purpose, we introduced an example and constructed scenarios using existing methods and our proposed artefact. We compare them with each other and show the benefits of our proposed artefact.

The following section gives an overview of our thesis and its structure.

### **1.5** Structure of the Thesis

We follow the design science research framework and its cycle (discussed in Section 1.4) to present the contents of the thesis. At the start, we go into the relevance cycle to provide the motivation and environment for this work. Afterwards, we go into the knowledge base and investigate the existing methods for the evaluation and representation of business processes. This also compliments the design as a search process. In order to solve the problem, we propose constructs and patterns in design cycle part. We also evaluate the proposed artefacts in this part. The detailed structure of the thesis is as follow.

In Chapter 2, we describe the basics of a business process. We discuss the overall business context and business challenges. We also provide different definitions of a business process and discuss its management techniques with different meta-models. We also elaborate on different characteristics of the business process and classify them by their participation role in its execution. In order to provide better background about the business process, we present different phases of a business process lifecycle in detail. We also present different organisational levels and stakeholders involved in a business process.

Chapter 3 provides an overview of research in the business process modelling domain. Active research areas of business process modelling are discussed from different perspectives. This state of the art helps us to identify current challenges in the business process modelling domain and provides directions for future research. We also discuss the usage of different business process modelling languages in the phases of a business process lifecycle and their focus. In this chapter, we also present a standard modelling language and its meta-model.

In Chapter 4, we describe business processes from post-execution analysis context. We discuss the evaluation of business processes from different perspectives. We present an analytical framework for business process improvement. This framework includes the components from data collection till its representation. We also differentiate between business intelligence and business process intelligence. By this differentiation, we discuss the limitation of modelling languages in post-execution analysis context.

In Chapter 5, we present the characteristics of an analytical business modelling language for analysis and improvement of the business process. In this chapter, we

also propose modelling constructs and patterns for a modelling language. We explain the proposed modelling constructs and patterns by extending an existing modelling language for post-execution analysis and improvement. The meta-model of modelling language is extended for performance analysis. We also discuss the related work in this domain.

Chapter 6 provides the evaluation part of our proposed artefact. In this chapter, we perform the empirical evaluation of the proposed modelling language with the help of a case study. We compare between proposed modelling language and traditional methods into two independent groups. The results of these groups are discussed in detail followed by the limitations of empirical study.

In Chapter 7, we also evaluate the proposed modelling language from the analytical perspective. For this purpose, we build on the work of existing analytical evaluations and compare the proposed languages. Different analytical queries and the benefits of our modelling languages are also discussed in this chapter followed by the related work.

In Chapter 8, we conclude the thesis by discussing the contribution of the thesis. We also discuss how the overall research question and its subsequent research questions are addressed in the thesis. We also provide an outlook for future research in this field.

## 1.6 Summary

In this chapter, we have provided the motivation for our research. We have briefly discussed the research fields and the challenges for business process improvement. We also described the main research question and its further detailed research questions. The contribution of the thesis is also described. We also present the research method followed by our research. Following the same research method, we present the contents of our thesis and provide the structure of this work.

In the following Chapter 2, we present the basics of a business process and its context.

# 2. Business Process

This chapter shares material with the IS-Conf'2018 "Streamlining Processes for digitalisation" [LKST18], IHCI'2011 "Business Process Improvement Framework and Representational Support" [LKS11c], FIN Tech. Rep.'2011 "Business Process modelling: Active Research Areas and Challenges" [LKS11d] and FIN Tech. Rep.'2010 "Post-Execution Analysis of Business Processes: Taxonomy and Challenges" [LKS10].

Customers' demands are fulfilled by enterprises that do business for several reasons, like monetary gain, satisfying stakeholders (executives, employees, and customers), or increase in reputation. To maintain the competitive position in the market, enterprises provide new products and services. This trend of competitiveness triggers other enterprises to provide better services in order to keep or strengthen their position in the market.

We discuss the business context and its management perspectives in Section 2.1 followed by the business process definitions in Section 2.2. Different techniques are used for management of a business process during its lifecycle. These techniques are briefly discussed in Section 2.3. Data generated during business process executions are discussed in Section 2.4. The characteristics of business processes and its lifecycle are discussed in detail in Section 2.5 and Section 2.6 respectively. In Section 2.7, we discuss different organisational levels and involved stakeholders with business processes. At the end of this chapter, we summarise this chapter in Section 2.8.

### 2.1 Business Context

Executives set enterprises' goals and objectives that support a company's vision. Vision is developed by its stakeholders, followed by the strategy to fulfil it, whereas business model plays a vital role in the implementation of the strategy. Business



Figure 2.1: Relationship between Management Perspectives of an Enterprise

processes (BP) are defined to carry out the operations of an enterprise. We referred to this as a business perspective which is represented in Figure 2.1 (on the left). Different aspects have to be investigated on the business level due to digitalisation, such as business models and their respective business patterns, business process management practices and their impact on supporting information technology (IT).

Organisational resources execute business processes. During the execution of business processes, data is generated and used for processing. The execution of processes is supported by different applications and managed by technological entities. This view is referred as an enterprise architecture perspective and is represented in the middle of Figure 2.1. Enterprise Architecture is a renowned field of research. Information and communication technology (ICT) is a critical enabler in digitalisation. Often a holistic view of relevant processes, data, applications, and technological infrastructure is missing in the organisations. This gap is due to the fact that sometimes processes are complex and long that includes automated and manual process steps.

On the right side of Figure 2.1, the industrial automation perspective is shown. It shows how different technological systems interact with each other during industrial operations [LKST18, Api22]. On an enterprise level, orders are received and planned for manufacturing. Manufacturing Execution System (MES) [ISA00, Kle10] monitors and controls the execution of orders supported by Supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) and programmable logic controller (PLC) components. On the lowest level, actuators perform actions on the raw material and turn it into the products. Different sensors are used to collect the data during this process like quality attributes, machines and environmental conditions.

Enterprise architecture is disciplined by business perspective. This business perspective is at the end realised by industrial automation which is operated with enterprise architecture on a wider scale. The relationship between these perspectives is shown in Figure 2.1. In order to achieve these goals and objectives, business operations are carried out in a specific way. This specific way is called business process and is discussed in the following Section 2.2 from different researchers' viewpoints.

### **2.2** Business Process Definitions

Business process is the central part of an organisation's operations, and different techniques are devised to manage processes like business process management [vdAtHW03, Wes07], business process re-engineering (BPR) [HC93], or business process improvement (BPI) [Har91]. There are several definitions of a business process in the literature where authors define a business process in the scope of their management techniques. These definitions are a starting point for understanding the business process and its context for further research in business process management. In [HC93], author defines business process as follow.

"A business process is a collection of activities that takes one or more kinds of input and creates an output that is of value to the customer."

Similarly, Davenport defines business process from process innovation [Dav93, p. 5] point of view as follows:

"...a structured, measured set of activities designed to produce a specific output for a particular customer or market. It implies a strong emphasis on how work is done within an organisation[...]. A process is thus a specific ordering of work activities across time and space, with a beginning and an end, and clearly defined inputs and outputs: a structure for action."

The above definitions focus on the analysis and design of business processes with inputs and involved objects. Hence outputs are generated for potential customers. Business process re-engineering and business process innovation are responses to a competitive and changing environment, where existing processes are no longer effective. Therefore, processes must be redesigned from scratch to address customers' demands.

From the perspective of business process improvement (BPI), in [Har91, p. 9] Harrington defines business processes:

"A business process consists of a group of logically related tasks that use the resources of the organisation to provide defined results in support of the organisation's objectives." In this definition, an organisation's resources and related tasks are focused on fulfilling the organisation's objectives. The effective utilisation of resources and the structure of tasks are important for the improvement in products and services. In BPI, specific goals are defined, which are supposed to be achieved by process improvements like cost reduction or quality improvement. These goals are propagated in concrete steps of the processes. Thus, attempts are made to improve existing processes in different aspects.

In [Wes07, p. 5], the author defines a business process from the management perspective with organisational resources as follows:

"A business process consists of a set of activities that are performed in coordination in an organisational and technical environment."

This definition of business processes is related to the management perspective where organisational and technical resources are used to execute business processes effectively. These resources include information systems, machines, and effective resource allocation. Several other definitions of business processes and their meta-models are discussed in [HB95, GK06]. Here, we describe a business process and its related context for discussion of business process lifecycle phases and research in business process modelling.

Enterprises provide new services or improve the existing ones in response to market forces (customer demands and the events happening in the market) for customer satisfaction. This is because old services are no longer efficient or do not fulfil new requirements. The changes in markets and customer demands must be reflected in enterprise objectives, processes, and the overall organisation.

Processes are governed by policies where inputs are transformed into outputs through actions performed by resources. Policies are defined by enterprises, markets (like standards), and government (e.g., environment-friendly). Based on this description, a new abstract meta-model of a business process and its context is represented in Figure 2.2. We further elaborate on the meta-model of Figure 2.2 to provide more details on the involved elements of business processes and relationships with management techniques.

### 2.3 Business Process Management Aspects

Customers demand products or services for consumption in their context. The major changes in customers' demands and the market must be reflected in the enterprise's objectives. Changes in markets are due to specific events, for example, legislations imposed by the government, new standards defined by organizations, or demands of certain items due to specific reasons like environmental and pandemic conditions and cost. The research addresses different aspects of such changes, and we discuss them in Chapter 3. In Figure 2.3, we show a meta-model with more details of involved



Figure 2.2: Business Process Meta-model

elements in business processes and their related techniques for managing business processes.

The objectives of an enterprise are realised through processes which itself composed of different activities. Resources perform operations in these activities according to a specific set of rules to transform inputs into outputs. The enterprise defines these specific sets of rules following its policies. Inputs, activities, processes, rules, outputs, policies, and resources provide the operational view of a business process. Resources of business processes are further divided into different types, such as humans, machines, and organisational structures. These various resources collaborate with each other to complete the execution of business processes. These management techniques are shown in Figure 2.3. Focusing on particular entities of Figure 2.3, different perspectives are provided in models such as control flow, cultural impact, employee's collaboration, and organisational perspective (resources usage, branches). Business processes are supported by workflow management systems that automate business processes [Wes07, p. 50].

An efficient process step or an overall performance improvement requires an evaluation of business processes after execution. Similarly, the feedback from customer and changes in the market are also analysed to devise a strategy for improvement or redesign of business processes. We further discuss these concepts in the following subsection.

### 2.4 Business Process Data

Computers are widely used in business as they range from hand-held devices to main servers to run businesses. Human interacts with business objects (physical materials), organisational resources (machines), and computer applications to carry out



Figure 2.3: Business Process Context and Management Techniques

enterprises' processes. Different Information Technology systems play an important role in business process execution like ERP (enterprise resource planing) systems and MES (manufacturing execution system). These systems record the interaction between humans, business objects (materials), organisational elements (machines) and also store other data (like process/product quality) during process execution. These interactions are stored in the form of databases tables, log files, and different messages. This data is helpful to improve overall business operations like business process structure, organisational resource structure, or human-computer interaction (HCI).

Consider a simple scenario where a customer orders a product for manufacturing. At the enterprise level, data about orders and customers are managed. Data about the organisational resources, suppliers and materials are also managed on this level. On the manufacturing level, data about manufacturing processes are maintained in an MES system. This data includes when the product is manufactured with which machine and quality characteristics. In this data, other details are also maintained like how much raw material was used, which organisational resources (building location, machine, persons) were involved, how much time it took (from the start of activity till the end), and about its quality characteristics. This data is vital for post-execution analysis from different perspectives.

### 2.5 Characteristics of Business Processes

A business process is characterised by involved business objects, their characteristics, and flow of activities. Different business objects are involved in a business process execution. The operations of a business process are carried out on these business objects according to a specific set of rules. The attributes of business objects are modified during business process execution. Analysing the processes with involved objects, their attributes, and rules are considered as breaking down the process into details that provide the opportunity to think creatively and to perform a better individual analysis. These details help business analysts to improve existing processes and services for customers.

The challenging question is to decide which objects and their attributes should be included in the analysis and correspondingly represented in analytical models. In order to address this challenge, we provide a classification of business objects, their attributes, and rules (flow of business processes). Objects are classified based on their participation in execution and the type of the object itself. We classify attributes of objects based on their contribution or role in analyses. In the following sections, we provide further details on this classification.

### 2.5.1 Classification of Objects

Business objects are classified based on their participation in operations. A classification of business objects helps analysts to understand which kind of objects are involved in the execution of processes. The concept of business objects is primarily used in the software development lifecycle like objects discovered in the analysis phase. Afterwards, these are converted into classes in software development's design and implementation phases. Therefore, these are discussed in the software development perspective in the literature [Sut97, ES98]. In [Nic02], Four kinds of business objects (people, places, things, and events) are described for business object modelling purposes. The author also presented the collaboration patterns for clear communication of business requirements about the product. In Figure 2.4, we classify business objects based on their participation in the executions. In the following, we discuss these types of objects briefly.

#### 2.5.1.1 Operational Objects

Operational objects are involved in the execution of tasks in business processes. Different operational objects interact with one another to complete the execution. These operational objects can be further classified. These object types are highlighted in the following:

**Resources** perform operations on **inputs** and transform them into **outputs** which can be further taken as input for other operations or as a final output of the process.

**Functional objects** are related to the operation of tasks; these objects help in transforming input into an output like operational guidelines, checklists, and an invoice of products.



Figure 2.4: Classification of Business Objects

**Derived objects** are informational objects derived from other objects and fulfil information needs of the processes, for example, quantity in stock, total quantity, invoice total, customer history profile, and available capacity. These depend on the execution of business processes that modify the objects from where these objects are derived.

Categories of operational objects are flexible because one object can belong to different categories depending on participation in a business process. Like outputs of one process are input for another process, e.g., the customer order is the output of an order receiving process and input for the production department.

#### 2.5.1.2 Organisational Objects

Organisational objects perform operations in business processes by making interactions with other objects. Resources discussed earlier in (operational objects) are also organisational objects and further classified into different types. Examples of organisational objects are humans (employees), machines (operating machines, vehicles), and organisational units (buildings, departments, and organisational roles).

#### 2.5.1.3 Environmental Objects

These objects are related to the environment of a business process where executions occur. These objects may reside outside the control of an enterprise. We classify the objects based on the perspective under which it occurs. Different objects affect the execution and operations of a business process. Some examples of such factors are business markets (changes in customers' demands, technologies, currency rates, shipping rates), governmental issues (taxes and legislation rules), and natural conditions (weather and disasters).

### 2.5.2 Classification of Rules

Enterprises define their policies according to which operations of the organisation are carried out. These policies are further specified in a set of business rules. Business

rules are also implemented as conditions. These conditions are evaluated and based on their result certain activities are executed in business processes. Conditions are of different types, like **pre-conditions** and **post-condition**.

Before performing any operation, an activity of a process checks whether the preconditions are fulfilled or not. Examples of pre-conditions are the completion of previous activity in sequence and the availability of resources. Once pre-conditions are fulfilled, then operations of activity are carried out. Conversely, post-conditions ensure that the system is stable and all related elements' attributes are updated. Pre-condition and post-condition concepts can be applied to any granularity level of detail, like at an abstract level or detailed level. Depending on the context, pre and post-conditions can be optional for activities.

Several other types of business rules and conditions also exist like logical, event or time-specific, and probabilistic. For example, if the weight of the product is greater than a certain value, then a particular shipping method is used. An example of an event-oriented rule is that when a customer payment is received then the product is dispatched to the customer. For time specific example, a salary is transferred at the end of a month or insurance deducted from an account at a specific time. Rules and conditions are applied and sometimes relaxed (waived-off) based on events and characteristics of instances. For example, handling of particular customer types (platinum, premium partners) in which certain conditions are relaxed for a certain time like confirmation of payment.

### 2.5.3 Business Process Flow

Business rules, events, and involved business objects affect the flow of business processes. The flow of business processes is investigated under various perspectives like control flow, organisation flow, and information (data) flow. Control flow focuses on the execution of activities and addresses what activities should be performed and in which order (for example, sequential, parallel, and iteration). Organisational flow investigates which organisational objects perform actions over activities and where these activities will be carried out. Information (data) flow focuses on which information (data) elements are consumed or produced in activities and what are their interrelationship.

# 2.6 Business Process Lifecycle

Different techniques are used in a business process lifecycle to effectively manage business processes. Business process management (BPM) is a cyclic methodology in which business processes are investigated from several perspectives during its phases. The business process lifecycle consists of several phases: plan, design, implement, execute, evaluate, analyse (post-execution) and recommend. This business process lifecycle is recursive, meaning each phase can have similar phases during its lifecycle. The business process lifecycle with entry points of different business process management (BPM) techniques is shown in Figure 2.5. Entry points of business process



Figure 2.5: Business Process Management Lifecycle

management techniques (such as BPR or BPI) into phases depend on the context and usage of those techniques in enterprises. Activities carried out in business process management phases with respect to its techniques are briefly discussed as follows.

In the planning phase, analysts define which business processes are required to perform in order to achieve the desired objectives, like providing products and services. In this phase, the objectives and goals of a business process are described in detail. Therefore, processes are conceptualised in this phase, and design characteristics are specified at an abstract level. The desired output of a business process is also defined in this phase.

From a process improvement and change management perspective, a detailed plan is prepared about the changes to be carried out in business processes. These changes are due to process improvement or accommodating the new requirements. The scope and kind of changes are defined as which operations, organisational elements, and procedures should be changed. The target (TO-BE) design characteristics are provided to the design phase. The planning phase is also a starting point for the business process re-engineering, where processes are conceptualised from scratch. However, experts' domain knowledge and knowledge about previous processes creep back in.

In the design phase, different aspects of processes are considered in detail. Business processes are analysed from different perspectives like functional (which activities), behavioural (conditions, parallel, and iterations), organisational (where and by whom), and informational (requirements to perform) [CKO92]. In this phase, different involved elements are specified explicitly like inputs, operations, conditions, the flow of the process, and resources. The target values of different objects are also specified for the evaluation phase. Therefore, a detailed design model is prepared for the implementation phase.

The target design characteristics are investigated in detail from the process improvement and change management viewpoint. The impact of changes on other objects is evaluated by analysing it from different perspectives. Afterwards, the required changes and modifications are specified in the design model.

Once business processes are designed, then these are implemented in an organisation. The transformation from design to implementation depends on the description of language and the granularity level of models. For efficiency, business processes are supported with information technology (IT). The implementation phase of business processes with IT can have similar phases of BP lifecycle because business needs and requirements have to be mapped into IT services to provide the IT support. Activities carried out for Business-IT alignment are further discussed in Section 3.2. Before execution, the enactment of processes is carried out. Enactment of processes means that resources are allocated to process operations, and thus an execution environment is created.

Business processes are executed in order to fulfil the requests of customers (internal and external). Different instances are executed through a business process based on a defined event. Resources carry-out operations on inputs and transform the input into outputs. In this way, business processes are executed in enterprises. The execution of business processes is recorded with the help of information systems. Information systems are used to evaluate, analyse, and control business processes. The controlling part allows business managers to manage business processes which include measurement, monitoring and analysis of the business process to make realtime changes. After execution, the processes are evaluated for performance analysis. Customer and market demands are compared to the generated output. Different quantitative and qualitative measurements are made in this phase, like statistics and process mining [vdARW<sup>+</sup>07]. The actual values of objects are compared with the target values, and the planned process behaviour is compared with the actual behaviour.

The post-execution analysis of business processes uses the results of the evaluation phase and analyse the performance of business processes in a broader context. The achievement of the enterprise's objectives is analysed from customer, process and organisational performance aspects. In this phase, the AS-IS process model is built from execution logs (data perspective) to understand the current execution of business processes. In case of discrepancies between plan and target values or behaviour, the deficiencies in business processes are investigated. Different analyses are carried out to find the root causes of problems identified in this phase. The post-execution analysis of business processes is a starting point for business process improvement techniques.

Phase	Activities	Input	Action	Output
Plan	Process identifica-	Enterprise business	Process identification,	Abstract BP de-
	tion	objectives, change	goal definition of BP,	scription, design
		or improvement	defining desired output,	characteristics, plan
		objective	defining scope and kind	for changes, To-Be
			of changes	design characteristics
Design	Detailed design of	Brief business pro-	Defining inputs, proce-	Detailed design model
	business process	cess description, ob-	dure, rules, resource al-	for implementation
		jectives, policies, org.	location, role mapping,	
		info, output of plan	and required changes	
		phase		
Implement	IT implementation,	Output of design	IT services, simulation,	Ready to execute en-
	simulation, and de-	phase (detailed de-	enactment and deploy-	vironment
	ployment	sign model)	ment of business process	
Execute	Execution	Defined event, in-	Execution of business	Output result, prod-
		stance execution re-	processes	uct or service
		quest		
Evaluate	Measure and moni-	Execution logs and	Taking Q&Q measure-	Statistics about per-
	tor	other details	ments, Comparison of	formance of business
			plan and actual values	objects
Analyse	AS-IS analysis, find-	Performance statis-	AS-IS analysis, com-	Deficiencies, areas for
	ing deficiencies	tics, execution	parisons, mining, root	improvement, new
		details	cause analysis	changes
Recommend	Defining change/	Deficiencies, areas	Defining the change or	TO-BE concept and
	improvement objec-	for improvement or	improvement objective	objective for changes
	tive	change		

Table 2.1:
Business
Process
Lifecycle


Figure 2.6: Business Process Meta-model in Different Layers

The identified deficiencies are tried to be avoided in further executions. The purpose of this phase is to define the objective for the planning phase in order to carry-out the changes for improvement in subsequent phases. Therefore, in recommend phase, the TO-BE concept is prepared. In this way, business processes are improved. For an overall view of the business process lifecycle, we summarise business process lifecycle phases in Table 2.1 with possible inputs, actions, and outputs.

# 2.7 Business Process Levels and Stakeholders

Different events occur (something "happens") in processes that usually have a cause (trigger like a request or demand from the customer) or an impact (the result of an activity) [OMG11]. In response to these events, organisational resources perform operations on inputs and transform them into defined outputs. In this way, the final output is generated in an enterprise. The achievement of an enterprise's goal is measured by metrics that evaluate the performance of a business process and its involved elements. This context of a business process is abstractly represented in Figure 2.6.

Different stakeholders are involved in business processes in an organisation. These stakeholders work on a business process at different levels. Therefore, they have

different requirements, tasks and interactions with business processes. In the following, we list some levels, stakeholders, and their interaction with business process elements.

- Levels: Strategic level, management level, operational level
- Stakeholders: Executive, manager, employee
- Process: Business process, process, activity, task

At a strategic level, executives define the goals and objectives of an enterprise. They view a business process as a black box and are concerned with overall output, profits, new acquisitions, and mergers. From a human-computer interaction (HCI) view-point, aggregated reports and statistics on hand-held devices would be sufficient in case of remoteness. Product managers, domain or process experts, and line managers are concerned with enterprise operations and business process management. Tabletops, smart boards and other extended displays would be helpful in analyses. Employees execute business process operations with a view of taking inputs, performing defined actions based on certain conditions using organisational resources, and then forwarding the result of those actions to other activities. We show some of the involved stakeholders at different levels in a business process (BP) context meta-model in Figure 2.6.

Elements defined at one level are propagated to the other levels as well. For example, the goal of an enterprise is propagated as a process goal at the management level and continued as an activity and task goal to the lower levels. Similarly, metrics are computed on operational and management levels as well. Therefore, these stakeholders, levels, and their expectations are important for business process modelling and evaluation.

# 2.8 Summary

In this chapter, we provided the context of business processes starting from the vision to its industrial automation. We also discussed business processes from researchers' perspectives and provided its meta-model along with different management techniques. We also elaborated on the difference between business data and business process data which is important for analysis. We presented different business process characteristics and classified them into various classes. This classification is important from the analysis and improvement aspects. We have also discussed the business process lifecycle and its phases in detail. We discuss the lifecycle phases with activities, describing input and output elements of activities. In the end, we discussed different stakeholders, their levels and their role in business processes.

This chapter provides the basics to the reader and sets the context for our next chapter, where we discuss the method for communication between stakeholders and its (method) usage in different phases of a business process lifecycle.

# **3. Business Process Modelling**

This chapter shares material with the journal paper "An Extension of BPMN Meta-model for Evaluation of Business Processes" [LKS11b], FIN Tech. Rep.'2011 "Business Process modelling: Active Research Areas and Challenges" [LKS11d], and ACM FIT 2010 "Building AS-IS Process Model from Task Descriptions" [LKKS10a].

The communication of concepts related to the business process is very important between stakeholders. Different techniques are used for this purpose, like textual descriptions and graphical representations. Graphical techniques are used to visualise the concepts for better communication and analysis. Being graphical, they provide an intuitive understanding of concepts. Different graphical models are built to manage a company's business operations. The field that addresses the issues related to management of business operations and graphical models is called business process modelling.

In Section 3.1, we discuss different approaches of business process models followed by Section 3.2 where different research contributions and modelling languages are discussed briefly concerning business process lifecycle. A standard in business process modelling domain is also discussed with its meta-model and examples in Section 3.3. We also position some of the modelling language based on its focus and usage in different phases in Section 3.4. At the end of the chapter in Section 3.5, we summarise this chapter.

# **3.1 Business Process Models**

Business process modelling is considered as the first and the most important step in BPM [vdAtHW03]. Business process modelling is used to visualise operations of a business process for better understanding and analysis. Being graphical nature of business process models, they are used as a medium of communication between stakeholders (e.g., executives, developers, and employees). Business process modelling has increased the ability to understand business processes and to make rational decisions for organising activities in a traceable and understandable way [Cum07].

Two approaches exist for modelling the business processes. One approach is a topdown approach, and the other is bottom-up. In a top-down approach, expert proposes the model that how business processes should be executed. It starts from an overall process by considering it as a "black box", and then this "black box" is broken down into more details (like activities and tasks) until all details are specified. In contrast to a top-down approach, the bottom-up approach starts documenting the details at a lower level, i.e., how the functions are executed at an operational level. After getting this information, functions are combined to make activities. Activities connecting other activities build processes. In this way, the whole business process model is built.We started from lower level details, so this approach gives a detailed insight into processes and their executions.

Mostly in business process improvement, the bottom-up approach is used as it helps to identify deficiencies in actual executions. The top-down approach is used for business process re-engineering [Cle94].

Various elements and different stakeholders are involved in business processes, as discussed in Section 2.7. They have distinct demands and expectations from business process models. For example, executives want a holistic view of their enterprise, and process owners require not only a holistic view but details of business processes. These details involve the structure of processes, operations carried out in these processes and characteristics/attributes of involved objects. Similarly, the operational managers want further details of business processes and performance related information.

Representing all details of involved elements in one model will make the model very complex for comprehension. Therefore, different models are proposed in the literature to fulfil stakeholders' requirements in a business process lifecycle. Depending on the modelling purpose, business processes are represented at different levels of granularity and from different perspectives. In a perspective, particular details of processes are considered like organisational culture, organisational structure, and functional perspective (operational details) as discussed in [CKO92, LK06]. These perspectives enables the stakeholders to focus on certain relationships and elements related to a business process. Some research work in the business process modelling domain is discussed in Section 3.2.

# **3.2** Research in Business Process Modelling

Continuous technological developments and ever-increasing customer demands for efficiency and improvements in services keep business process modelling an important research area. The fact is that business process models are used for easy communication, and they provide insights about their processes with other management methods.

Several modelling methods, techniques, and hundreds of tools exist for process modelling. In [GK95], the authors stopped at 72 methods and 144 tools for their comparative study. Similarly, one PhD student reportedly stops at a count of 3000 process modelling techniques [Rec06]. The selection of a particular modelling technique is crucial for the success of a modelling goal.

The research work in business process modelling can be discussed with respect to changes in the business domain and accommodating these changes in business processes during its lifecycle. Different modelling languages are devised to address the aspects of processes in different phases of the business process lifecycle. One of the most important is to support business processes with information technology. Therefore, most of the business process modelling domain work is for Business-IT alignment. The steps carried out in Business-IT alignment are similar to the BP lifecycle phases as discussed in Section 2.6.

Different models are used in Business-IT alignment which fulfils different objectives of phases like communication, mapping business requirements to IT services, simulation, automation (workflow), controlling, analysis, and improvement. In Table 3.1, we show the steps and corresponding models used for business-IT alignment. Models of one phase are transformed into other models to accommodate the needs of other phases. The issue of the transformation of models is further discussed in Section 3.2.5.

In the planning phase, managers and experts discuss the operations of the enterprise which can be partially or fully automated. Models with graphical notations are often used for understanding and communication like Event-driven Process Chains (EPC) [Sch98b], Flow charts [IBM69], Business Process Modelling Notation (BPMN) [OMG11], and Use case diagrams [BRJ05]. Several variants of modelling languages are proposed for business-IT alignment, like Unified Modelling Language (UML) diagrams [BRJ05] or Petri nets [Pet62].

Simulation of business processes is carried out to validate and verify the business process design. Validation and enactment of business processes are discussed in Section 3.2.5 and Section 3.2.6, respectively. There is a lack of business process model for the evaluation, analysis, and recommendation phase of the lifecycle which is discussed in Chapter 4. We further discuss the research work in the business process modelling domain with challenges and researchers' contributions to address those challenges in the following sections.

Phase	Activities	Stakeholders	Models
Plan	Requirement elici-	Managers, domain	Flow chart, EPC,
	tation	experts, IT man-	Use case, package
		ager	
Design	Mapping re-	Domain experts, IT	DFD, ER diagram,
	quirements into	team	UML Diagrams like
	technical services		class diagram
Implement	Coding, simulation,	IT team, managers	UML diagrams,
	enactment, and de-		BPMN, Petri nets
	ployment		
Execute	Execution, logging	IT team, employees	BPEL
Evaluate	Measurement and	Process owners and	Statistics
	Monitoring	Managers	
Analyse	Performance analy-	Managers and pro-	Charts, key perfor-
	sis, business analy-	cess owners	mance indicators
	sis		
Recommend	Defining improve-	Managers, process	BPMN, Flow chart
	ment objective	owners, executives	

Table 3.1: Business Process Models for Business-IT Alignment

# 3.2.1 Devising Modelling Languages

New ideas (products) and technological developments increase the demands of users toward business process models. These developments also expose the inabilities of modelling languages and thus enforce researchers to incorporate the new concepts in modelling languages to fulfil their demands. Different new modelling languages are proposed and extended to satisfy users' requirements.

Business process models are extended to represent the involved business elements with more details like legislation, risks, or involved roles. Similarly, successful modelling techniques of other domains are also applied in business process modelling like Petri nets [Pet62] were applied in workflow management [vdA96]. Several other extensions of Petri nets are also proposed to apply them more effectively in the business process domain like Workflow nets [vdA98], Object Oriented Petri nets [MK05], and Attributed Petri nets [Eic04].

BPMN [OMG11] are also devised to provide graphical notations for communication between business and technical users. The BPMN core set of elements focuses on the control perspective [ODvdA<sup>+</sup>09], while an extended set of elements attempts to address other perspectives like organisation (roles using swim lanes) [Rec10].

#### **3.2.2** Integration of Modelling Approaches

Most comparison papers on business process modelling techniques suggest that a single technique is insufficient and propagate the combination of modelling techniques [Dam07, CMH09]. The reasons behind such motivations are to use the strong characteristics of modelling languages in phases. In [Dam07], the author suggests combining the graphical (flow charts) and tabular techniques to increase the understanding and improve the communication between stakeholders in business process models. In [DRvdAS08], the authors map and merge different modelling constructs of one language to another language for integration of process models for system configurations. Similarly, in [Men99], author combines the object oriented and workflow modelling techniques for business process re-engineering.

However, integrating different models faces some problems like models at different levels of details (coarse and fine granularities) and perspectives are mixed [DRvdAS08]. Such integrations are the cause of misunderstanding and confusion in the minds of stakeholders. Despite these problems and challenges, integration of modelling approaches is still an interesting research topic and discussed with further detail in a few case studies like in [CMH09], where authors use flow charts( [IBM69]) and integrated definition modelling (IDEF0 [sta93]) language to model the business processes of a banking institution.

#### **3.2.3** Integrated Framework

Different views and models are built to fulfil the requirements of stakeholders. Mostly, these views or models are taken in fragmented parts and cannot collaborate or be efficiently used with one another [DDB05]. Like models that are developed for a particular phase would not be reused or easily converted for usage in another phase. Similarly, when views are created "as needed" basis in the absence of an integrated framework, then consistency challenges arise as certain assumptions, and dependencies are not explicit [Br009]. These issues support the misconception that process modelling is an overhead and less optimally used in enterprises [DRvdAS08].

The problems encountered in integrating modelling approaches can be addressed by introducing an integrated framework of modelling. Motivations for an integrated modelling framework are discussed in [DDB05, BFN06, Bro09]. In [DDB05], authors suggest the need for ERP-style integration of business process model to provide a consistent and coherent picture of enterprise operations from multiple perspectives. In comparison with fragmented parts of a model, the integrated framework ensures the sharing of consistent and common concepts through a central repository [Bro09]. The different views of models can be developed using a generic modelling language which is extendible by adding attributes related to a particular perspective. In [Bro09], the author provides an architectural framework to integrate and synchronise different views of a system. When there is a need to decide which attributes should be included in a particular view, a matrix/scoring system is also proposed in [Bro09], where weights are assigned to attributes for inclusion in a specific perspective or view.

Different enterprise modelling frameworks are proposed, like CIM-OSA (Computer Integrated Manufacturing Open System Architecture) [KZ99] and ARIS (Architecture of Integrated Information Systems) [Sch98a]. Research is carried out to effectively apply such frameworks in different scenarios of a business process lifecycle. Different modelling languages are also used in frameworks like in [WPC07], authors use Petri nets in CIM-OSA framework for postal company processes. In some other frameworks, like TOGAF method is the main focus rather than modelling language as they use OMG Standard modelling languages.

# 3.2.4 Generic Modelling Language

Different modelling methods are also compared in literature [LYP02, BFN06] and then their strong characteristics are considered to build a generic modelling language to provide maximum benefits [LYP02]. Generic modelling approaches can also be helpful to reuse the concepts introduced in one phase to other phases while maintaining the same notations and semantics for a common and standardized way between users. In [LYP02], authors compare modelling approaches under six perspectives and then propagate to use their strong characteristics for devising a generic modelling method. Different views and perspectives can be built while using the same language.

Usage of a generic modelling language for different purposes also poses some issues as it would not fulfil/satisfy all stakeholder demands at a time. Besides the attributes extension, modelling notations are also very critical in business process modelling. Different notational approaches are required for different modelling purposes and audiences [Pha98]. For example, users feel it convenient to use Gantt chart diagrams to manage the schedule rather than Petri nets or any other modelling notation. This issue can be resolved by generating models from a central repository using conventional modelling notations. Nevertheless, it requires a mapping function from one modelling concept to another.

# 3.2.5 Validation and Verification of Business Process Models

Business process models are investigated for validation and verification before execution. Validation of business processes refers to whether business processes behave as expected, whereas verification is concerned with checking the model is free of logical errors [vdA08]. Different modelling languages are evaluated in this aspect by various researchers. EPC business models are investigated to check their structural correctness in [vdA99, MVvD<sup>+</sup>08]. Petri nets are also used for validation and verification as they provide formal semantics and graphical notations for understanding business model. Different researchers contributed with the formalisms of Petri nets to check errors in the context of business domain [BS07, vdA03]. Different other formalism issues like OR formalism in business process models are discussed in [MvDvdA07]. Similarly, the notion of soundness is introduced in workflow nets [vdA98] to check the correctness of models in the business process domain. Other methods are proposed to transform one modelling language into other modelling languages for verification, like EPC diagrams to Petri nets [Kin06] or in [vDvdAV05, vHOS05]. Similarly, in [KSG05], EPC diagrams are also transformed into UML Activity diagrams.

Business processes are also simulated before execution for validation and to check bottlenecks. Simulation of a business process provides a walk-through to the process where an analyst can see the behaviour of a business process [Wes07] and identify potential problems. However, validation and verification techniques (like simulation) of business processes verify the syntactical and semantical correctness of a business process. They do not guarantee that their execution will also be correct in reality, as discussed in the literature [vdARW<sup>+</sup>07, vdA05]. Various studies in the field of process mining [vdARW<sup>+</sup>07, vdA05] show that the execution of business processes differs in reality, from the way how it is designed or planned. The trend also holds in organisational projects where the actual way of work is detached from the standard processes [BFN06]. Similarly, in [ENMZ06], the authors argue for including different aspects like time and resources in business process simulations.

#### **3.2.6** Enactment of Business Processes

Business process models are investigated for the enactment of resources and execution of a business process. Workflow management systems support the execution of business processes. For this phase of the business lifecycle, business process models are enhanced with technical information that facilitates the enactment of business processes [Wes07]. In different surveys of business process modelling [Alo16, IRRG09], model-driven process execution is rated as the number one challenge in the business process modelling domain. Different modelling languages are devised or extended for this purpose. Petri nets are also used for workflow management [vdA98], and different extensions of Petri nets exist like workflow nets [vdA98].

Modelling constructs of BPMN language are transformed into constructs for execution languages such as Business Process Execution Language (BPEL) [JE07]. In [MLZ05], the authors proposed a method to transform graph oriented models into execution languages (BPEL). Similarly, in [ODvdA<sup>+</sup>09], the authors claim to improve the transformation of BPMN notations into BPEL. In [KGK<sup>+</sup>11], 62 BPEL extensions were classified based on their conformity to standard and extension type (e.g., modelling tool, process engine).

#### 3.2.7 Comparative Surveys of Modelling Languages

Several surveys [Alo16, IRRG09, VTM08, SHK<sup>+</sup>07, LK06, RM07, AS04] and comparisons [RRIG09, Dam07, LS07] are made to evaluate business process models in different phases of a business process lifecycle. These surveys discuss the strengths and weaknesses of modelling languages empirically [IRRG09] and analytically [RRIG09]. In analytical surveys, the Bunge-Wand-Weber model (BWW model [WW90, WW93b,

Category	Strength	Challenges	References
New/Extend Models	Better modelling support Business-IT alignment	New domains and technologies Isolated views	Petri nets [vdA98, MK05, Eic04], BPMN [OMG11, Rec10]
Integration of models	Integrated views Strong characteristics usage	Combining different levels Consistency issues, updates	Integration attempts [Dam07, DRvdAS08, Men99], examples [CMH09]
Integrated Framework	coherent view of process Consistent models	Different modelling notation Costs	Integration framework literature [DDB05, BFN06, Bro09], examples [KZ99, Sch98a]
Generic modelling	Standard notation in enterprise Reuse of models	Lack of modelling construct abstract, general	Approaches [LYP02, BFN06, OMG11]
Validation & Verification	Syntactic & semantic correctness Business process simulation	Require formalism No guarantee for reality	Petri nets related [BS07, vdA03, vdA98, vDvdAV05], EPC based [vdA99, MVvD <sup>+</sup> 08, vHOS05]

Table 3.2: Research in Business Process Modelling

	able 3.3: Research in Business I	Process Modelling (Continued	from Table 3.2)
Category	${f Strength}$	Challenges	References
Enactment	Model driven process exe- cution Automatic allocation of resources	Dependent on modelling constructs Models into execution lan- guage	References [vdA98, JE07, MLZ05, ODvdA <sup>+</sup> 09]
Legislation $\&$ Environment	Conformance to standards Understanding the context of BPs	Changes in legislations Require enrich representa- tions	Legislations related [SGN07, SG10], context related [SN07, NE05]
SOA & Models	Business service orienta- tion	Rapid changes in technolo- gies	References [vdABvH <sup>+</sup> 07, Jae06, Bel08, FJ07], languages [BGRM08, RW08, Ste09]
Comparative Surveys	Strengths & weaknesses of models Guidelines for model selection	Defining evaluation criteria Selection of evaluation tech- nique	Comparisons [Dam07, RRIG09, LS07, Gia01, VTM08], surveys [AS04, VTM08, IRRG09, SHK <sup>+</sup> 07, LK06, RM07, Alo16]

6 Ē E É P WW95a]) is used for comparison, where constructs of modelling languages are evaluated for the representation of concepts. In empirical surveys like [IRRG09], feedback from different stakeholders of business process models is incorporated, and different issues and research challenges are identified. Such surveys are helpful for providing further directions to research in business process modelling, deciding which modelling language suits the best for certain phases (scenarios), and what are their strengths and weaknesses.

In [LS07], the authors provide a comparative survey of different graphical and rule based modelling approaches. They define the criteria for comparative analysis like expressibility, flexibility, adaptability, and complexity. Moreover, they evaluate different modelling approaches against workflow patterns [vdAtHKB03] because workflow patterns are used for functional comparison of processes. Their focus is on the design and execution time issues. A comparison of modelling languages where a differentiation despite the control flow perspective will be made is still required.

Diagrammatic notations like flow charts are compared with tabular techniques like activity tables in [Dam07]. The authors use the simplicity, flexibility, visibility, user involvement, and software support characteristics as criteria for the evaluation. A review of different process modelling techniques, their purpose and limitations are discussed in [AS04, Alo16]. Similarly, several process modelling frameworks are surveyed in [BFN06], where their purposes and key characteristics are mentioned.

In [Gia01], authors evaluate different modelling languages by comparing their support from different perspectives during the business process lifecycle. Such evaluation of modelling languages provides a guideline in which situation or phases a particular modelling technique is best applicable. Similarly, in [VTM08], authors evaluate business process modelling languages for analysis and optimisation of processes and provide state of the art from this perspective.

#### 3.2.8 Legislations & Environment

Enterprises have to follow the legislative rules and standards that are set in the market. Legislations like the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) attracted many researchers to accommodate the legislative aspects in business process models. Other researchers focus business process models on providing their support/benefits to conform with these legislations. Business process models are enriched with annotations for better communication between domain experts and legislative officers, for example, control tags were introduced in [SGN07]. Similarly, a framework for aligning business processes with compliance is presented in [SG10], where process models are also discussed for compliance conformance.

Business process context is also modelled in business process models [SN07]. The context of a business process includes customer demands, market changes, environmental conditions, and other involved elements of business processes. Such approaches are helpful in building flexible business process models [NE05]. Flexible process modelling languages are devised to accept continuous changes in the business domain



Figure 3.1: Main Categories of BPMN with Example Constructs

into systems. One aspect of such changes is to adopt them in information systems, which coined the term adaptive information systems.

#### **3.2.9** Service Oriented Architecture and Modelling

Service Oriented Architecture (also referred to SOA) is an architectural approach which advocates a set of practices, disciplines, designs, and guidelines to use technologies to support business processes [Ses07]. Business functionalities are implemented in the form of services and different services collaborate to fulfil customer demands. Business process models are also investigated for SOA, for example, in [CG08], the authors propose an approach for designing business processes in a service oriented way. A SOA-based architecture framework is explained in [vdABvH<sup>+</sup>07], where different variants of business process modelling languages are discussed. Similarly, the relation between workflow modelling and business processes for service composition is explained in [Jae06]. Different modelling concepts in the service-oriented lifecycle are discussed in [Bel08].

A new modelling language is introduced in [BGRM08], which addresses challenges posed by SOA's nature like dynamic nature and distributed aspects. In [RW08], the authors attempt to bridge the business & IT gap in SOA domain by proposing a method to transform business process diagrams (BPMN) into UML service diagrams. Different frameworks like the ARIS framework [Sch98a] with representations like event-process chains (EPCs) are also investigated in [Ste09] to devise a new modelling language for service oriented business process management. A business oriented perspective of service oriented architecture is discussed in [FJ07].

#### 3.2.10 Other Work in Business Process Modelling

Different other works exist to provide better modelling support in a business process lifecycle. Business process modelling is also investigated to generate context based models. In [CC07], authors build views of the business process model based on the context where it is used. They develop a domain specific aspect language for this purpose and discuss it in the context of software development.

Inclusion and elimination of certain features in business process models is also investigated. In [ENMZ06], the authors discuss a feature based modelling approach where characteristics like time and cost are included.

In [LKKS10a], a method is proposed to build the business process models from employees' task descriptions. A framework for selecting business process models in different phases is provided in [LT99], where different characteristics of modelling languages are discussed from different perspectives. We summarise the discussed research work in business process modelling in Table 3.2.

# 3.3 Business Process Model and Notation

Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) [OMG11] is a modelling language ISO standard (ISO/IEC 19510:2013 [ISO13]) defined by the Object Management Group (OMG). These graphical notations are used for communication between business and technical users. Modelling constructs of BPMN language are transformed into constructs for execution languages such as the Business Process Execution Language (BPEL) [JE07].

In BPMN specifications, BPMN graphical notations are divided into four basic categories [OMG11]. In Figure 3.1, we show these categories and examples of their constructs. These categories are discussed as follows.

**Flow objects** consist of activities, involved decision nodes for their order (sequential, parallel, iterations), and events of processes.

**Connecting objects**, as the name implies, are used to connect activities and other elements using different arrows representing messages and associations between them. This core set of elements defines the control flow perspective of processes.

Different modelling elements are grouped through **Swimlanes**, which use pools and lanes [OMG11]. A pool is used to represent process participants, while lanes are used to partition these participants and their activities from one to another. A process participant can either be an organisational entity within an organisation or different organisations for collaboration in a process. Mostly, organisational perspective is provided by using Swimlanes constructs.

In BPMN, additional information about the process such as involved data object and guidelines for operations is provided by **artefacts**. These elements consist of data objects, annotations and group constructs. Several other modelling constructs



Figure 3.2: A Meta-model of Business Process Modelling Notation

are used in these categories for further specification of a business process. Besides these modelling constructs, different extensions are also possible in BPMN to provide further insights into processes in a BPMN model. An abstract meta-model of BPMN is shown in Figure 3.2.

We kept this meta-model intentionally simple and abstract rather than describing different classes and notations in each category. Further details about different kinds of notations can be found in [OMG11].

# **3.4** Phases and Modelling Languages

Several gaps occur in a business process lifecycle due to the lack of communication, especially during the transition from one phase to another phase. Therefore, different models are proposed in the literature to fulfil stakeholders' requirements in a business process lifecycle. We divide the business process lifecycle (presented in Section 2.6) into two parts, as shown in Figure 3.3. The part on the right side is before execution, and the part on the left side is after execution. Most of the process modelling languages are devised only for the right side. For example, in the planning phase, Event-driven process chain (EPC) models [Sch98b], Flowcharts [IBM69], and other models are used for communication. Similarly, for implementation into IT services, different models are proposed, e.g., for software engineering, different types of UML diagrams [BRJ05] are used.

In Figure 3.4, we show some examples of modelling languages with respect to their focus (business or IT) and phases of the business process lifecycle. These are represented on the vertical and horizontal axis. In Figure 3.4, we do not give precedence based on capabilities to any model within a focus and its phase.

Figure 3.4 shows that statistical techniques are used for evaluation and there is a lack of models for evaluation and improvement phases. We found that graphical models for evaluation and improvement phases are still an open issue and must be addressed.



Figure 3.3: Business Process Lifecycle and Modelling Languages

This view is also strengthened by a study [Alo16], where authors review papers over 13 years. Author positions different process modelling tools and techniques only till the execution phase of the business process lifecycle. In our work, we also recommend that the anticipated analytical modelling language should focus more on a business domain than on information technology.

The gap will occur when existing models are used for evaluation and improvement as these models will not provide complete details. Therefore, there is a need to fulfil this gap and offer process models for overall business process improvement (evaluation and analysis). This representational gap in the post-execution context is further explained in Chapter 4.

# 3.5 Summary

In this chapter, we have discussed different modelling languages and research contributions. We have discussed how other modelling languages are used during the lifecycle of a business process. We also discussed BPMN in detail by modelling a scenario in BPMN and provided a meta-model of BPMN. This chapter answers the first two research questions presented in Section 1.2 (RQ 1.1: research in business process



Figure 3.4: Phases of BP Lifecycle and Modelling Languages

modelling and RQ 1.2: business process models in business process lifecycle). We also positioned some modelling languages according to the business process lifecycle and their focus (business and technological perspective). We found that the existing process modelling languages are insufficient for evaluation and analysis. This topic is further discussed in the following chapter.

# 4. Post Execution Analysis

This chapter shares material with the IEEE HICSS'2014 "Business Process Modelling Language for Performance Evaluation" [LKW<sup>+</sup>14], IHCI'2011 "Business Process Improvement Framework and Representational Support" [LKS11c], FIN Tech. Rep.'2011 "Business Process Modelling: Active Research Areas and Challenges" [LKS11d], IEEE SKIMA'2011 "Business Process Modelling for post-execution Analysis and Improvement" [LKS11a] and FIN Tech. Rep.'2010 "Post Execution Analysis of Business Processes: Taxonomy and Challenges" [LKS10].

Evaluation of business and its involved elements is essential to determine the fulfilment of enterprise goals. Performance results provide the basis to control and improve the processes. Different methods from diversified fields are used for this purpose, such as economics, statistics, and computer science. In computer science, the focus is to provide support in carrying out business operations (via information systems, automation), storage (recording the interaction, states of process and entities), computations (decision support systems, knowledge extraction), and reporting (like visualisation).

In this chapter, we focus on the evaluation of the business process, which involves computation and their corresponding representation for further analysis. We also differentiate between business intelligence and business process intelligence in Section 4.1. In Section 4.2, we explain the evaluation of business and its processes in different perspectives using dimensions. We also classify different attributes based on the analysis. Different organisational metrics and classes are discussed in Section 4.3. In Section 4.4, we provide an analytical framework for business process improvement, followed by Section 4.5, which emphasises the need for representational support for business process improvement. In Section 4.6, we discuss the challenges for business process modelling languages in the post-execution analysis context. The relation between performance evaluation, visualisation and business process models is discussed in Section 4.7, that provide the context for analytical modelling language. In Section 4.8, we discuss the related work in post-execution analysis context, followed by Section 4.9, which summarises this chapter at the end.

# 4.1 Evaluation of Business and Processes

Evaluation of businesses and their processes (referred as Controlling [FS16]) is a challenging research field like other management fields (e.g. planning, organising). Controlling is a continuous process where different metrics are made to evaluate the achievement of goals at different levels. Different methods and tools also exist to evaluate the performance after the execution, like balance scorecards [KN96] and key performance indicators [iso14b, Par15].

In order to evaluate the performance, data is required. Therefore, different concepts and techniques related to data collection, integration, reporting, and analysis of businesses are discussed in the area of Business Intelligence (BI) [VLM02, VLM02]. Different methods and tools cover these perspectives like data modelling, data warehouse [KSS12], and decision support system [TSD13]. Different data models in different domains are discussed in [SA09]. Data mining approaches are also devised to extract the knowledge from data. The application of the knowledge requires a deep understanding of processes.

These business intelligence approaches are further extended and applied on business process level, resulting in business process intelligence domain where process oriented warehouse and further systems were investigated [GCC<sup>+</sup>04, Mue04]. In [GCC<sup>+</sup>04], authors refer to business process intelligence as the application of business intelligence (BI) techniques to business processes. Business process intelligence spans over various fields like process mining (discovery, conformance), business process monitoring (activity monitoring), and process visualisation. We further discuss the evaluation of a business process in the following sections.

# 4.2 Evaluation based Classification

The processes are analysed in different perspectives and are evaluated with different dimensions depending on the requirements. Different quantitative and qualitative measurements are made in this phase. The performance is usually evaluated in the form of quantitative measurements, which help to indicate about quality. For example, First Pass Yield (FPY) is an interesting measure to give an indication about the quality of a process in production and is defined as a key performance indicator in ISO Standard 22400 [iso14b].

Perspective provides the means in which analysis has to be done. Like financial perspective provides direction to analyse the processes from sales and cost dimensions [KN96]. Besides the financial perspective, other perspectives like quality and time dimension are also important. The organisational perspective provides direction to analyse the performance from organisational dimensions, like departments,



Figure 4.1: Evaluation Meta-model with Base and Derived Measures

units or from roles like team/group leader, department manager, or director. It may also need to analyse from geographical perspectives, like branch, city, area/state, country, and continent. Different other perspectives depending on the requirements, can come into consideration, like environmental perspective and customer perspective. Similarly, process perspective analyses processes for improvement purposes which may involve time, cost and organisational dimensions for analysis (identify deficiencies, improving efficiency, reducing wastes, lean aspects). Different examples of dimensions are discussed in [Pen05, IGG03, VLS16].

In evaluation, companies need to have an end-to-end picture of processes, like from the abstract level to the lower level details. These details are essential to evaluate the overall impact of changes in processes. Different stakeholders are involved in enterprises at different levels, as discussed in Section 2.7. These stakeholders evaluate the performance of processes.

Different methods are used to fulfil the requirements of each stakeholder. Executives are interested in an abstract level evaluation, like overall profit and losses. These abstract evaluations are accompanied by textual descriptions and graphical charts (like reports and statistical charts) [dRORRC19, ZBA21]. Different trends and projections are also estimated for the future at this level. Managers evaluate processes at a lower level with more details about activities and involved resources. They are interested in identifying the deficiencies and increasing the performance of processes.

Evaluation of business processes and business objects are carried out in different dimensions using base and derived measures. Base measures are the primary measurements from which other measurements are derived. For example, in the time dimension, the base measures are processing time and idle time. From base measures, different other measures like total time, minimum, maximum, and average time are derived. Compound measures are the measurements which are computed from different other measures like a number of requests fulfilled in a particular time. Based on different measurements, qualitative indicators are estimated like efficiency and quality, as shown in Figure 4.1.

Depending on the granularity and stakeholder requirements, different dimensions and their characteristics become crucial for analysis like time, cost, and quality. In



Figure 4.2: Business Object Characteristics and Dimensions



Figure 4.3: Classification of Attributes

order to achieve the real benefits of evaluation of all important dimensions, their attributes should be part of the evaluation and their representation. The stakeholders' requirements make the inclusion and filtration of certain data/information from the evaluation (and their perspectives). Based on the perspective requirements, other dimensions can be included or divided into hierarchies (like time in seconds, minutes, and hours) or classes based on threshold values (like high cost and low cost). The relationship between business objects, characteristics, and dimensions is shown in Figure 4.2.

The classification of business objects is already discussed in Chapter 2. Here we discuss the classification of attributes based on their participation in different analysis.

#### 4.2.1 Classification of Attributes

Attributes of objects are classified on the basis of their participation in further analysis. Attributes of objects from one kind of analysis can be combined with other attributes and objects that provide the basis for new investigations or evaluations. In this way, a process of creative analysis evolves. Some analysis consider attributes of objects while others focus on the attributes of a process after an instance is executed. Some kinds of analysis are described below with examples of attributes analysed in analyses. In Figure 4.3, we show attributes' classification and the following sections discuss them in detail.

#### 4.2.2 Temporal Analysis

Business processes are analysed from time perspective to measure the efficiency and performance of involved objects. Examples of attributes involved in such analyses are cycle time, change-over, set-up time, total manufacturing time, operational time of tasks/activities (time in execution), waiting time, customer negotiation time, and other temporal metrics for performance evaluation.

#### 4.2.3 Financial Analysis

In this type of analysis, the monetary characteristics of objects are analysed and their participation in business processes. These are critical identifiers for business processes affecting overall cost and business. These attributes can be further classified based on their participation in business analysis like stock and flow. The stock refers to quantity (money and goods) of a company at a particular time while flow is the transactions of objects that occurred over time. Examples of attributes of business objects are money, quantities of products, purchase invoice, and receipts of payment (flow of money). Activity based costing is an example of such analysis.

#### 4.2.4 Organisational Analysis

Different characteristics of organisational objects are included in the analysis to measure the efficiency and effectiveness of organisational resources (employees/machines) like to determine the usage/performance of resources (machines) in business processes. Such analyses are also used to see the interaction between different organisational resources (employees) like social groups as described in [vdARS05]. Such an analysis answers questions like how resources collaborate to carry out the task or which employees are involved in task execution. Different other metrics are also made in this analysis like overall equipment efficiency (OEE), mean time between failures, downtime, and uptime. From an employee's performance perspective, different other attributes are measured like employee turnover, performance, successful projects and their timeliness.

#### 4.2.5 Role-based Analysis

Analysis based on a particular role to determine which business elements are of interest for a particular user. For example, for a customer, related business elements and attributes are invoice, ordered items, and order status. The other business elements like worker's performance, machine usage, and time of parts in a queue are not related to a customer; they are important for a production manager's role. The role-based classification will find all the involved objects related to a particular role like customer and system user.

#### 4.2.6 Information System Analysis

In this analysis, different objects and attributes related to IT systems are analysed, like the status of various components, their performances, and other details. In such analysis, users are concerned with the information system because other systems fall into the organisational resource category. Therefore, program views/screens, executed functions, and elements/information accessed during execution are considered in this analysis. Such analysis helps to answer the question of how well IT systems are aligned with business operations? In which areas can this alignment be further improved?

#### 4.3 Organisational Metrics and Classes

Data generated and captured during process execution (as discussed in Section 2.4) provide excellent means to ensure that strategic goals are being met consistently in an efficient and effective manner. For this purpose, goals are further defined as quantifiable measures and supported by different indicators. These indicators are used to evaluate the performance of business processes.

The analytical data can be used to identify which activities, organisational resources, and involved elements add more value to the enterprise [BP18, Kle10]. The classification of process elements based on performance depends on the metrics used in an enterprise. Enterprises can define their own metrics by defining target values, upper and lower threshold values (tolerances). For instance, if the result of a business object's performance is within the target value, then it can be classified as a green class, if its performance is close to threshold values, then classify it as yellow and if its performance is out of threshold values, then classify it as a red class. If target values and threshold values are not available, then overall average values can be used for this classification and threshold values can be defined based on statistics. These threshold values serve as criteria for different classes. Based on the classification, activities, organisation resources, and involved elements are correspondingly represented in process models and reports.

The performance evaluation is carried out in different dimensions like time, cost, and quality. Although, the relation between time, cost and quality is not as simple as discussed in [VKLR07, KL09], where increasing one factor has a direct effect on the other, like reducing the time to produce a product may increase the cost of the product. Similarly, decreasing time or reducing the costs may also affect the quality of a product. In the following, we discuss an analytical framework and discuss it in more detail.

# 4.4 Analytical Framework for Improvement

In enterprises, different silo systems exist which can be applications and their databases. In reality, the communication between silos is not seamless. Different other applications, interfaces and macros are used to fulfil this task. The situation is more challenging in bigger organisations at the manufacturing level, where process chains are lengthy and the majority of the processes are executed manually. These processes are supported by different customised applications on old systems. As a result, enterprises find it difficult to decide where to start and what changes should be implemented for improvement. Complexity in a business process is due to various factors like inter-dependencies between activities, stakeholders, involved elements, attributes, and applications. Research in business process improvement needs to address these complex issues and provide support to decide which action should be taken for business process improvement.

In order to provide the necessary support for business process improvement, a complete framework for analysis is required to be specified. This framework should address issues like data collection from silos, its integration, computation with business rules, and representation in business process models. We also need clear directions like defining steps for improvement and mechanisms to carry out the changes. An abstract picture of the overall framework is shown in Figure 4.4.

# 4.4.1 Data Collection and Integration

Computers are widely used in business as they range from hand-held devices to main servers to run businesses. Human interacts with business objects (physical materials), organisational resources, and computer applications to carry out enterprises' processes. Information systems play an essential role and record the interaction between humans, business objects, and applications during the execution of processes. These interactions are stored in databases, log files, and different messages. This data is helpful to improve overall businesses in case of either business process structure, organisational resource structure, or human-computer interaction (HCI).

Data about business process characteristics like involved business objects and their attributes can be collected from an information system's log files, database tables, company documents, and other resources.

Enterprise data warehouse systems extract the data from different legacy systems, applications and their corresponding databases. Afterwards, it is integrated with each other. Different data warehouse approaches are used for this purpose like a normalised data model approach [Inm92, Inm05], a non-normalise dimensional approach [KR13], and a hybrid approach [LO15]. The log files from different applications (e.g. MES) are also collected which registers different events (like business object "received", "processed", "successfully completed") in the system during the process execution. Data from log files of an information system or from a MES system messages are converted into a suitable format for analysis (this data is sometimes referred as *process trace data*).



Figure 4.4: Framework for Business Process Improvement and Analysis

#### 4.4.2 Computation and Knowledge Extraction

After data collection in an enterprise data warehouse, different computations are made for performance reasons. Different modelling techniques are used to gather customer requirements regarding analytics as well as their implementation in information systems. Dimensional modelling is one of the techniques where different dimensions and respective measures are modelled for communication and afterwards implementation in data warehouse. One popular notation for dimensional modelling is Adapt, as further discussed in [BF98]. Different dimensions and their related measures are computed in this stage.

Process trace data extracted from log files are also analysed. Several techniques (like process mining algorithms [RvdA06, vdA05, vdARS05] and business process intelligence [GCC<sup>+</sup>04]) are applied to process trace data to extract knowledge. Application usage mining [KR05] techniques analyse user's behaviour with applications and attempt to improve the interaction between applications, humans and their working. Similarly, other techniques can be applied to the data to evaluate the processes and extract knowledge like data mining, balanced scorecards and other process metrics.

A knowledge base is required for knowledge management. The main purpose is to store the knowledge from analysis techniques. There are several topics which needs to be further investigated like how will be the schema design, how would be the knowledge documented and represented, and the format for storage as well? At the end, it is also important to describe knowledge as a company's best practices or its usage in daily operations.

#### 4.4.3 Visualisation / Graphical Representation

The extracted knowledge and information are visualized graphically for intuitive understanding. For this purpose, graphical representations are used as an effective communication tool and help stakeholders to make decisions. Such representations help a stakeholder for better understanding and communication.

#### In [Maz09], visualisation is defined as

"a cognitive activity, facilitated by external visual representations from which people build an internal mental representation of the world."

In this definition, external visual representation can be charts or graphical models built with the help of information technology. The world in the definition, means data, information, and concepts. Some authors also include the cognitive process and the process of building graphical models in a visualisation definition [Maz09]. In [Chi00], the author differentiates between different visualisation types like data, scientific, and information.

Different visualisation techniques are also employed to evaluate business processes and their elements. These techniques depend on the user requirement, including evaluation goal, level of detail, and dimension under analysis. The goal of the evaluation means what we want to measure. Depending on the goal of the evaluation, the data is prepared for visualisation, and different views are built. This data can be operational/raw data as in the case of data visualisation or abstract as information visualisation. In Figure 4.5, we show an example of an analytical Dashboard (consisting of different views) prepared in a visualisation tool (in this case, Tableau). In this case, process representations are abstract and do not provide details about process structure [dRORRC19, ZBA21]. Similarly, Figure 4.5 shows a detailed view of a particular process step. Figure 4.5 is taken from the public dashboard of Tableau [Sun14].

Based on the stakeholders' requirements, certain information is filtered (selecting circles in Figure 4.5) or provided with more context details (such as KPI or line charts in Figure 4.5). Therefore, a decision support system is required to rank the knowledge for representation with the context for stakeholders. The ranking is also very important to reduce user's cognitive load in graphical business process models while representing performance details and other knowledge.

A business process may consist of many processes and activities ranging up to hundreds depending on the granularity of detail. For process improvement, process managers are interested in details of these activities with extended representations, which may further increase the complexity of a business process model. Besides the decision support system as discussed earlier, tabletops and smart boards will be very useful for providing a complete picture of a business process as they are quite big in size. These devices are better as compared with computer screens which are not that big. Management of complex business process models and their representation in tabletops need further investigation for optimal usage. Similarly, tangible interfaces and tabletops can also be further investigated to help and train new employees with extended representation.



Figure 4.5: Data and Process Visualisation in Tableau

# 4.5 Post Execution Analysis and Representational Support

Evaluation of business processes is vital for analysis and improvement of an organisation. The post-executional analysis of business processes uses the results of the evaluation phase and analyse the performance of business processes in a broader context. In this phase, focus shifts toward process aspects and their performance rather than data perspective as in the evaluation phase. Post-execution analysis of a business process uses these evaluation results to provide recommendations for the whole process. These recommendations can be used to improve quantitative (like operating time, overall cost) and qualitative (like first pass yield, satisfaction of customers and employees) aspects of the process.

In this phase, the current (AS-IS) business process model can be built from execution logs (data perspective) to understand the current execution of business processes. In case of discrepancies between actual and target values or behaviour, the deficiencies in business processes are further investigated. Different analyses are carried out to find the root cause of problems identified in this phase. The post-execution analysis of business processes is a starting point for business process improvement techniques.

Currently, the knowledge in the post-execution analysis is represented at an abstract level using statistical charts and other representations as discussed in Section 4.4. In order to provide better support for business process improvement, knowledge representation should be along with the process structure, including further details within the business process models [dRORRC19, MDFL<sup>+</sup>20]. In this way, models provide better insights into processes and enable analysts to improve the process itself.

Mostly performance attributes are represented with involved business objects of a process. Sometimes these attributes are applicable to the overall process rather than a specific instance or business object. In this case, they are represented by the process itself. Similarly, business rules and conditions are represented where they are applied to provide the rationale for decisions. For post-execution analysis, descriptive models are required and all details are needed to be represented in models for analysis.

Graphical representation of extracted knowledge and process trace data also allow applying different methods like graph mining [LKKS10b]. Similarly, extended business process models help analysts to understand processes and identify deficiencies in business processes. We discuss the extended representation challenges in postexecution analysis in the following section.

Mainly, business process modelling is investigated for phases before its execution like analysis, design and implementation. For plan and design phases, different perspectives and level of detail is important to model business processes. For example, abstraction is required for planning the activities and certain details are not considered during modelling (like implementation details and execution). In comparison, the post-execution analysis phase requires detailed representation to find the deficiencies for optimisation and improvement. For post-execution phases, we need models which have more focus on the business domain and at the same time also support details from the information technology domain. Limited research is carried out to provide graphical modelling support for post-execution analysis.

After execution, business process analysis attempts to answer several questions like what is actually happening in the system? Which type of business objects are involved in execution? How are different processes executed? Where are different deficiencies and problems exist? What are the reasons for the problems? Whether business rules are completely followed or not?

# 4.6 Modelling Challenges in Post Execution Analysis

In the literature, several surveys [MDFL<sup>+</sup>20, Alo16, IRRG09, VTM08, AS04] and comparisons [RRIG09, Dam07, LS07] discuss the limitations of modelling languages and current challenges in the business process modelling domain. Their findings show that users' demands are not satisfied and require further research in business process modelling [IRRG09]. When business processes are modelled for current status analysis and improvement, then their requirements are more than the simple representation of processes for understanding [MDFL<sup>+</sup>20, AS04, Dam07]. These requirements demand the enrichment of business process models with details and require new constructs to represent reality with performance data. We discuss the representational challenges for the evaluation and improvement phase after process execution in the following subsections.

#### 4.6.1 Environment of Business Processes

In a survey of modelling techniques [RRIG09], the authors found that only a few modelling techniques represent a business process environment using some constructs in their models. The absence of environmental factors from models makes analysis difficult for analysts to understand the execution of business processes and their performance. The performance can be affected due to external factors (e.g. time, weather, market's condition, and employee's skills, raw materials from suppliers) directly affecting business operations.

#### 4.6.2 Elements and Attributes

Mostly business process models do not represent the elements and attributes involved in business process executions. The involved elements and attributes are implicitly assumed as available before execution. Because of this, the dependencies are implicit and do not provide details in the analysis after execution. Different articles discuss the importance of explicit representation of attributes in business process models, for instance [EVTG20, AS04, DDB05, Mac93, BFN06]. For example, in Petri nets, the presence of all involved elements is abstractly represented by a token (dot).

Similarly, the rules and other assumptions are not explicitly represented in models. The representation of involved elements (business objects) is important for a business analyst who wants to analyse the participation role played by these elements in business process execution. In [IHG01], authors found that activities extended with attributes provide a better capability for process analysis.

Incomplete representation of elements in process models is discussed in [RRIG09], where authors found it as the main hindrance to the specification of rules. For example, the representation of objects like gold/silver customers is still missing in the process models. Based on the characteristics of cases, different process structures/-paths are followed.

#### 4.6.3 Representation of Successful and Failure Paths

Business process models do not fully represent the perspective of business processes and involved elements. For example, is not a trivial task to identify and represent weak structures in process models. The weak structure means that the path on which often process executions leads to failure or most of the time is consumed without significant contribution, e.g., repetitions. What are the alternative paths to avoid such structures for improvement and optimisation? The best practices for carrying out business operations must be represented in business process models.

#### 4.6.4 Structural Challenges of Business Process Models

Restrictions of most modelling languages are not compliant with business processes that occur in reality. For example, few modelling languages apply structural restrictions on process models like workflow nets [vdA98] where more than one input place is not allowed because of the complexity in its formalism, validation, and verification. Similarly, explicit representation of other involved elements is also often avoided. Due to this, business process models do not represent the details of reality. In a real business process, more than one starting place can occur, requiring all business elements to be represented explicitly. This question requires further investigation about the representation of reality in business process models without modelling restrictions.

#### 4.6.5 Simulation, Reality, and Representation

In the case of loops, specific paths are improbable to be executed in real life. Consider a process model where two activities (A and B) are executed in parallel. The result of the two activities is evaluated later. If quality is not fulfilled, then a loop path is created to repeat the activities to fulfil the quality standard. If only one activity causes the quality problem, then only that activity will be repeated. Since process models represent process at an abstract level, a process model suggests that both activities will be repeated in the case of repetition due to parallel control construct. Simulation logs of the model will also generate activity B as a repeated activity which is not repeated in reality. Apart from the problem of granularity level in process model, various conditions and objects are involved in business process execution due to which simulation of business process does not represent the reality. Representation of business processes in reality requires the extension of current modelling languages.

#### 4.6.6 History Construct

Business process models lack representation of the history of business process instances [RRIG09], like through which particular process structure the instance has been executed. Different annotations and lists are used to represent such information with models. For example, in a loan mortgage application, the profile of a client (his past behaviour with the company and transactions) is vital to take decisions. Currently, such information is not explicitly presented in models. In [RRIG09], authors found it as the main hindrance for the integration and specification of rules in business process models. The specification of history construct in a model will help stakeholders to better understand the dependencies between activities and rules. The representation can also help the stakeholders to understand which processes lead to success and how often it happened.

#### 4.6.7 **Priority of Activities**

In business processes, some activities are executed independently, i.e. in parallel. In most cases, users want to prioritise their executions for efficiency and use annotations for communication in models. Like longer activities should be started earlier (or later depending on the resource situation and importance). Therefore, other activities would not have to wait to complete the previous activity. The modelling languages do not provide any constructs. Due to this, separate lists or annotations are currently used for this purpose. The prioritised activities have to be represented in models for better understanding and planning for efficient utilisation of resources.

If the priority of activities is followed strictly in a process, then process discovery algorithms [vdAWM04] would consider such activities as sequential in structure. Therefore in the analysis, the independence of activities with one another would not be represented in models. Therefore, casual independence and priority of activities should also be represented in a business process model for ease of communication.

#### 4.6.8 Importance and Representation in Models

The importance of earlier discussed challenges and their existing representation are summarised in Table 4.1. Three ranking levels are defined with symbols like "+", "O", and "-" which represent high, medium, and low, respectively. Two significant phases of business process management are used for this evaluation; one is before execution, and the other is after execution. This ranking is carried out after studying several surveys and comparisons in business process modelling literature which we discussed earlier. The x/y notation is used, where x represents the importance of an attribute, and y represents the level of modelling support by existing modelling language i.e., importance/representation. Therefore, the notation +/- means that challenge is important in the phase, however, it is not represented using business process models. The notation O/O means that the challenge is at a medium level of importance and partially represented by models. It is important to mention that some modelling languages address the limitations which we mentioned earlier like extended notations of BPMN to represent the different messages and involved elements. However, other limitations are not addressed or if addressed, other models are used. This makes business process modelling an expensive task as models developed for one purpose are not reusable for another.

# 4.7 Context for Analytical Business Process Modelling Language (ABPML)

In Chapter 3, we have discussed business process modelling and its usage in different phases of a business process lifecycle. We also positioned the usage of different modelling languages during the phases of the business process lifecycle in Figure 3.4. In this Chapter 4, we discussed the performance evaluation of businesses and their visualisation for further analysis (business intelligence). We also discussed the process perspective for analysis, like business process intelligence. In the previous section, we discuss the challenges of modelling languages for post-execution analysis representation. Performance of processes and involved elements should be represented

Challenges	Importance & Representation	
	IT Sys. Dev.	Post Exec.
4.6.1 Environment of BPs	+/0	+/-
4.6.2 Attributes representation	O/O	+/-
4.6.3 Successful & Failure Paths	O/-	+/-
4.6.4 Structural Limitations	O/O	+/-
4.6.5 Simulation & Reality	+/0	+/0
4.6.6 History	+/0	+/-
4.6.7 Priority representation	O/-	O/-

Table 4.1: Challenges, their Importance, and Representation

with the process structure at a detailed level. By doing so, models provide further insights about processes and enable process managers to improve the processes.

In order to solve this problem, we propose an analytical business process modelling language in Chapter 5. This analytical modelling language takes the concepts from the business intelligence domain like evaluation (measure and metrics), and visualisation (cognitive aspects). In Figure 4.6, we position the proposed analytical business process modelling language (ABPML) with respect to earlier discussed domains.

# 4.8 Related Work

For the discussion of related work in this section, we distinguish between work referring to performance measurement (evaluation of businesses and their processes), framework (data collection, integration and reports), and process mining (process structure aspects). Due to numerous studies in these areas, this section provides a short overview.

A standard is defined by International Organization for Standardization (ISO) for measuring the performance in manufacturing operations management in [iso14a, iso14b]. In this standard, 34 KPIs are defined to evaluate the performance from different perspectives and dimensions. Similarly, different organisations have different KPIs for measuring performance in manufacturing. A survey of different metrics and practices for performance evaluation in the manufacturing domain is provided in [BP18]. Similarly, different MES systems also provide the KPIs in the manufacturing domain as standard reports, as discussed in [Kle10]. However, these KPIs provide only data perspective and do not provide details about process structure. In industry, individual dashboards [Mal05, Eck10] and reports are made to evaluate the performance of operations using different tools like Tableau, Power BI, and Splunk. Process structure and process model representation are missing in these representations.



Figure 4.6: Positioning of ABPML

Different analytical techniques provide information about business process executions. Data mining technique focuses on the data perspective and tries to find interesting patterns to analyse and improve the performance in different aspects like quality, costs, and time. Process mining is another analytical technique. Process mining focuses on the process structure rather than the data perspective [vdAvDG<sup>+</sup>09]. In process mining, logs of information systems are used for analysis. Process mining technique aims to identify the quality of the process model and the adequacy of the execution environment [Cha05]. Similarly, the time and resource perspective is investigated in effort mining [ZBA21]. However, traditional charts are used to represent time perspective which is not sufficient for representation. Different techniques related to process mining [vdAW04] attempt to solve the issues related to data collection [KLK<sup>+</sup>10, IG08] from source systems and its conversion [vDvdA05, GvdA06]. In [zM08], the author proposes a data format for recording business events. This BPAF (Business Process Analytics Format) helps in correlating and aggregating business events from different systems to one location. In [MDFL<sup>+</sup>20], the authors discuss the research recommendations for process mining in the healthcare sector and demand for process modelling to represent different perspectives.

In [SCDS02], the authors demonstrate a tool built on the top of HP Process Manager software. This tool provides monitoring and analysis of business processes. They provide the architecture of business process intelligence tool by combining data warehouse approaches and process data warehouse. They also discuss different evaluation perspectives and provide the perspective of process, resource, and services. The tool and HP Process Manager suite have been further extended with process mining architecture in [GCC<sup>+</sup>04]. Different business process management suites have extended their portfolio with business process intelligence functionality [CdMM<sup>+</sup>09]. Therefore, covering aspects from planning, design, simulation, and post execution statistics. In comparison to our work, we have provided different perspectives and classifications. Moreover, other solutions restrict themselves till some KPIs representation using the traditional method. In our framework, representation is the key part and it is further explained with respect to modelling challenges.

Our proposed work has been extended in different directions. In [TdRORC16], the authors used our proposed performance aspects of business processes and take it as a basis to identify variability in process performance for the identification of potential improvement areas.

# 4.9 Summary

This chapter focused on post-execution evaluation and analysis of business processes. We classified the business objects based on their participation in different analysis. We also provided examples of organisational metrics based on the performance of business objects. We also provided the analytical framework for the analysis and improvement of processes. This framework discusses the collection of data till its visualisation. This chapter answers the first two research questions of the second part related to the evaluation of business processes and components involved in evaluation (RQ 2.1 and RQ 2.2). We discussed the representational gap for post-executional aspects and provided the challenges for its representation. These requirements and challenges help us to define the characteristics of the analytical modelling language. With this part, we answer the remaining two research questions of part two (RQ 2.3 and RQ 2.4). We also discuss the context of analytical business process modelling language, which we will discuss in detail in the following chapter.
# 5. Analytical Business Process Modelling Language (ABPML)

This chapter shares material with the IS-Conf'2018 "Streamlining Processes for digitalisation" [LKST18], IEEE HICSS'2014 "Business Process modelling Language for Performance Evaluation" [LKW<sup>+</sup>14], Journal paper "An Extension of BPMN Meta-model for Evaluation of Business Processes" [LKS11b], and IHCI'2011 "Business Process Improvement Framework and Representational Support" [LKS11c].

After the execution of business processes, records of business objects and their analytical data provide means to analyse processes in more detail. We have already discussed the challenges of the modelling language to present the analytical data in process models in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4. In this Chapter, we discuss the analysis of business process with process models and analytical data in two parts.

In the first part, we explain the characteristics of an analytical business process modelling language (ABPML) in Section 5.1. Based on these characteristics, we propose a method to use process models with analytical data using constructs and patterns for analysing activities in different dimensions as discussed in Section 5.2. In the second part, in Section 5.3, we extend an existing modelling language as an example of ABPML to better understand process execution and their performance. This helps for a detailed understanding of business processes to determine the deficiencies and potential improvement areas. In Section 5.4, we also provide the related work of modelling languages extended for analytical purposes followed by Section 5.5 which summarises this chapter.

# 5.1 Characteristics for Analytical Business Process Modelling Language

The efficiency and performance of business processes are measured using key performance indicators (KPIs). Similarly, business process models are used when the structure followed by business processes executions has to be analysed. However, what is the case when both are required for analysis? Then, we need key performance indicators (KPIs) and models simultaneously. We have mentioned the limitations of modelling languages in the previous chapter. In the following, we discuss the characteristics of an analytical modelling language. These characteristics will help to overcome the limitations of a modelling language for analysis. We assume that the detailed data about business process executions and their involved elements are already available from information systems.

# 5.1.1 Granularity of Detail

Different stakeholders view business process models at different levels of granularity (abstract or in detail). Executives are interested in an overall picture of business processes, therefore, they require a suitable abstraction of business process models, whereas operational managers look for specific details of processes and the activities of their responsibility. The same situation holds for the analytical data perspective. Therefore, an analytical modelling language should provide constructs to represent processes and quantitative analysis at a different granularity of details. In the case of structural limitations as discussed earlier in Section 4.6.4, analytical modelling language may apply limitations at an abstract level. However, these restrictions must be relaxed at an operational level to provide further details through models.

# 5.1.2 Context Based Representation

Different stakeholders are involved in business processes, each wants to view the processes from his perspective like monitoring, control, and organisational analysis. Context adaptive views or models must be built based on user demands rather than models which are built in earlier phases. Such views or models can be further extended to provide better insights into processes.

Model adaptation based on its usage by stakeholders can also be considered to provide maximum flexibility to end users. For example, the profile of the end-user can be maintained which stores his personal preferences (likeness and expectations) and based on such configuration, models are represented (like providing specific details and extension of attributes). Such functions are standard in visualisation tools (like Tableau <sup>1</sup>), where information is filtered and presented in a specific order for end-users (using favourites).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.tableau.com/

Challenges	Env.	Att.	Path	Str.	Sim.	Hist.	Prio
Granularity	0	0	_	+	Ο	_	—
Context based rep.	+	+	Ο	_	—	_	+
Data integration	_	+	Ο	_	0	+	+
Formalism	0	0	_	+	+	Ο	_
Generic representation	Ο	0	_	+	+	Ο	0

Table 5.1: Characteristics of ABPML and Challenges (Section 4.6) Addressed

#### 5.1.3 Integration of Analytical Data and Objects with Model

Attributes and involved elements should be part of the models for analysis because of the reasons discussed in Section 4.6.2. Explicit representation of elements with attribute values will help to understand the structural deficiencies and reasons for failure. For example, in the case of a product manufacturing process, the iterative structure with attributes and values explains why a certain part of the process must be repeated and which activity should be carried out again. Such representation also shows why a particular resource is consumed more than regular consumption. Similarly, involved conditions and rules should also be explicitly specified in models. These explicit representations will provide the rationale for the decisions made in business process executions. Such extended models can also be used to provide training to new users. In this way, the new user can analyse past executions and understand the decisions made by experienced users. Extension of attributes in a model would help to understand such situations intuitively about the reasons of failure. Similarly, the extension of attributes will increase the intuitive understanding of business processes.

#### 5.1.4 Formalism of Analytical Modelling Language

An Analytical modelling language should define business processes precisely and provide the semantics to be followed. In the process models, important representational elements should be provided, even though the formalism becomes complex or hard to define. Because enriching the representation of models will make their formalism complex, as the representation of models and their formalism is further discussed in [RM07]. The formalism of a modelling language can automatically integrate the analytical data with the business process models.

#### 5.1.5 Generic Representation of Business Processes

Different models are used during business process lifecycle phases, which involve different constructs and details. These models have different focuses, like data and dimension models. During analysis, when different models consulted back and forth then ambiguities (confusion) may arise because models are at different levels of abstraction. Post-execution phase of business process analysis requires an integrated view of business processes and their elements. Therefore, the analytical modelling language should be integrated and generic in representation. In this way, organisational elements would have one consistent view of business processes. This also enables analysts to understand the dependencies among processes. The generic representation of business processes will enable to extend the models with different attributes in order to provide different views, like extending the model with time attributes will help in performance analysis.

#### 5.1.6 Characteristics and Challenges

The characteristics of an analytical modelling language mentioned earlier will help to address the challenges discussed in Section 4.6. The expected contribution of characteristics and challenges is summarised in Table 5.1. The contribution of characteristics towards the characteristics is defined in three levels where the symbol "+" means "supported", "O" means "partially supported", and "-" means "not supported".

# 5.2 Proposed Modelling Constructs and Patterns

In design science, a language specification includes constructs, models, methods, and instantiation components. Therefore, we address these components for the specification of our proposed analytical modelling language. Constructs provide the vocabulary and symbols which are used to represent a problem or a solution [HMPR04] or just representing a situation. Constructs are used to represent the tangible or intangible elements of a process. They are used to represent activities, process participants (resources, places), events (communication between elements), gateways (decisions), and other involved objects (materials, orders). Therefore, they are fundamental building blocks of a graphical model. Semantic defines the meaning of symbols and their relationship. These elements are discussed in the following sections.

Patterns are used to share knowledge and solve problems [KKKS11]. Therefore, in our context, we define patterns as a combination of constructs to analyse the process and its elements in a particular perspective for improvement. These constructs are the basis of our proposed analytical modelling language.

Each pattern intends to analyse performance with a particular focus involving specific dimensions and their attributes. Here, we provide four patterns for visualisation of business process performance (with respect to business process modelling language). These four patterns are the most important and frequent in business process analysis.

We considered the characteristics of Section 5.1 and provided a modelling language which that visualises process performance with its structure. To accommodate different requirements, we combine constructs to build models for analysis from different perspectives and call them as patterns. Different allowed combinations are explained

Patterns	Purpose	Constructs		
Time Dimension	analyse the performance of re-	Swimlanes, activi-		
	sources and activities with re-	ties		
	spect to time			
Cost Dimension	analyse the performance from the	Swimlanes, activi-		
	cost perspective like material and	ties, colours		
	resources			
Path Pattern	To understand the activities	Edges, activities,		
	which will be fruitful	colours		
Colours Pattern	To represent which activities are	Activities, swim-		
	distinct in a process	lanes, connecting		
		objects		
History Pattern	To understand which activities	Edges, thickness,		
	are frequently executed in process	activities		
Information Pattern	To provide further information	Gateway with		
	along business process models	rules, contents		

Table 5.2: Pattern and Characteristics

here which also define the method of constructing the models in the analytical process modelling language. Depending on the user's requirements, models are built at different levels of granularity to facilitate the understanding of processes.

Based on the metrics and classes defined by an enterprise as discussed in Section 4.3, activities, organisation resources, and involved elements can be represented using our proposed patterns. We recommend that only a few classes should be defined for the less cognitive load of process models on end-users. Different cognitive studies show that information is read or visualised in a particular order [LHBE10, Laj]. Therefore, the crucial dimensions and their metrics should be represented accordingly. We further explain these constructs and their semantics with the help of our proposed patterns.

## 5.2.1 Time Dimension Pattern

The time dimension is an essential factor in business process analysis. In this pattern, we focus on representation of process element's performance from time aspect. A few classes and characteristics in this dimension are classified in Section 4.1 like idle time and operating time. Gantt charts like representations are easier for understanding of stakeholders; however, other representations can also be used. It is interesting to know for process analysis which activities are time intensive or take much time in execution.

Process elements can be aligned and categorised based on their performance in the time dimension during process execution. Different classes (as discussed in Section 4.3) can be used for this alignment and categorization, like aligning activities

based on idle time or processing time. Such alignment can identify the deficiencies in predecessor activities to improve the efficiency of the successor activity. The other aspect of time dimension pattern can also be reflected in other patterns as in the case of path and history pattern which we will discuss in the following section.

# 5.2.2 Cost Dimension Pattern

Cost is also a vital factor in business process analysis. This pattern observes the performance of process elements from cost and other related aspects involving material and other resources. Different classes can be used to distinguish process elements like high cost, medium and low cost, as discussed in Section 4.3). Similarly, process elements can also be grouped or aligned based on the cost incurred by them. The cost-intensive activities are one of the starting points for investigation in process analysis.

Aligning or grouping cost intensive activities may help to identify the deficiencies in the process model and their executions quickly. Similarly, representing process elements with their cost can also improve a user's analytical capability of processes.

# 5.2.3 Path Pattern (Time-Cost Dimension)

The time-cost pattern is helpful in deciding which activities should be further investigated. The activities together create a path of process execution which may not be that efficient or beneficial for an organisation. In the case of different possible paths, a path can be defined as a best practice which contributes to the organisational goals with limited expenses (in terms of time and costs). This path can be distinguished from other paths using different techniques (like size and colour). Similarly, difficult paths (incurring costs and problems) can also be distinguished from the other paths. The time and cost dimensions in this pattern are just an example of some dimensions influencing the path pattern; it can also be different from other dimensions as well like the organisational dimension and quality dimension which define the success of business process executions.

# 5.2.4 Colours Pattern

Colours have a significant cognitive effect on perception and analysis. The red colour activities are noticed quickly by users. The classes defined in Section 4.3 can be used as a basis together with different colours to distinguish the performance of process elements in a process execution. Different colours indicate the effect of the business objects, like green for optimal cost, yellow for high cost, and red for a very high cost. Similarly, these classes can be represented in other dimensions as well as time and quality. Although the relation between time, cost and quality are not as simple as discussed in [VKLR07].

Different modelling elements can be coloured based on the subject they represent and their related performance. In the following section, we will discuss this pattern in different modelling elements where we extend a modelling language.

#### 5.2.5 History Pattern

History pattern represents which process elements are interesting from a statistical point of view in process execution. For example, elements are often executed and which path is taken in most of the process executions. This pattern can be represented in modelling languages using specific constructs (like shape and size) or represented as additional information. This additional information or text is further discussed in the following pattern.

## 5.2.6 Information Pattern

Information pattern provides different performance-related data as text on a process model. When we use this pattern, process states, conditions and rules about process control, and different statistical measures can be added to a process model.

The proposed patterns, their elements, and meanings are summarised in Table 5.2. In these patterns, different other attributes of the dimensions can be added and correspondingly represented using our proposed modelling language and its cognitive aspects (like colour, shape, and size). The above mentioned patterns are further explained with the help of a case study in Chapter 6.

Each pattern analyses processes in a particular perspective with a specific dimension(s). Our current pattern catalogue is not meant to be complete, as different patterns can be created based on the requirements of analysis and the creativity of a user. An enterprise can make a pattern catalogue for performance evaluation and analysis. However, here in this thesis, we have provided an overview of different problems, solutions and possible actions. Inclusion of all possible patterns is not intended in this work. In the following section, we further explain these proposed patterns by instantiating them in a modelling language.

# 5.3 Extension of BPMN as an ABPML

Extended notations are used to represent different aspects of a process via a modelling language. In this section, we use BPMN as an example modelling language to instantiate ABPML for analytical purposes. We also state the reasons why we have chosen BPMN over other modelling languages for our discussion and extension as an analytical modelling language. We propose the following extensions in BPMN for business process analysis and improvement. These are further explained with the help of a case study in Chapter 6.

We use the basic constructs of Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) as discussed in Section 3.3. We have selected BPMN as a modelling language for extension, because it is rigorously defined and has been widely accepted as a standard (defined by OMG) for modelling and communicating business processes. Another reason for selecting BPMN is that in the scope of its definition the support for XML is already considered [OMG11]. Some attempts are already made to transform



Figure 5.1: Extended Meta-model of BPMN for Performance Evaluation

BPEL into BPMN(cf. [ODvdA<sup>+</sup>09]). However, sometimes it becomes hard to model the extracted data as things would not be executed in the way that they can be modelled.

BPMN provides the guidelines to extend the language to represent domain specific concepts. In BPMN specification, extension by addition mechanism ensures the BPMN core elements validity. Moreover, BPMN is implemented in various modelling tools and is rich in representation. Similarly, different extensions are also proposed to suit different business needs. Therefore, the adoption of our proposed modelling language will not be a challenge in the industry. Additionally, BPMN is more expressive and serves well for communication purposes as compared with other modelling languages.

Different modelling constructs are required to represent involved business objects such as inputs, rules, and performance-related information. The existing BPMN notations and meta-model do not incorporate the performance details of business processes. BPMN has certain limitations; for example, when Swimlanes (Pools and lanes) are used to represent organisational entities, they just represent organisational roles. They do not provide any information about their performance, skills, workload, or working time. Similarly, data objects involved with activities are represented very abstractly as no information about their structure and their contents (values) is shown in a BPMN model. Some other limitations of BPMN model are also discussed in [Rec10]. Therefore, the BPMN meta-model can be extended to include the performance details of business processes and business objects.

We have discussed the meta-model of BPMN in Figure 3.2. We extend this metamodel for evaluation purposes of business processes. The extended meta-model is shown in Figure 5.1. The patterns and constructs introduced in previous Section 5.2 can use the elements of BPMN language for performance representation in a process



Figure 5.2: Process Model in the Time Dimension and its Attributes



Figure 5.3: Process Model in Cost Dimension and its Attributes

model. In the following sections, we discuss elements of the BPMN meta-model and the patterns in the context of BPMN modelling constructs in more detail.

#### 5.3.1 Swimlanes as Dimension and Attributes

Primarily in literature [OMG11], Swimlanes (pool and lane) are used to represent process participants (organisational elements) and their interaction during a business process. We propose to use Swimlanes not only to see participant interaction but also the performance of organisational resources and activities. Based on collected data, the first activities and involved elements are classified in a particular dimension as discussed in Section 4.3. These classes can act as swimlanes for representation in ABPML (representing activities or business objects in these swimlanes). This way, activities can also be aligned using Swimlanes based on their classification in a particular dimension and attributes. Aligning activities based on their classes also complements the cognitive patterns (like Z-pattern and F-pattern) where information is read in a particular order [LHBE10, Bra].

For example, consider Figure 5.2, where different attributes are shown from the time perspective. The left hand side of Figure 5.2 shows "operating time" as an attribute. Different activities are classified based on this attribute and then represented in the lanes. For the sake of simplicity, we have shown only one activity "A". This representation shows that "A" activity consumes the operating time, which falls in the low class. If we consider the other attribute from time perspective which is "idle



Figure 5.4: Swimlanes in Colour

time", then activity "A" may appear as classified in high idle time, as shown in the middle of Figure 5.2. Similarly, if observed from other attributes, it may show the activity in another class (as represented on the right side of Figure 5.2). For process improvement, the idle time of the activity can be reduced by allocating resources or better scheduling.

Similarly, in Figure 5.3, performance is represented from the cost perspective where activities are aligned in different classes based on different attributes like operating costs, delay costs, and fixed costs. Similarly, different activities can also be represented from other perspectives and dimensions for business process analysis.

When we represent performance details using Swimlanes in a BPMN model, we can determine which activities are consuming time and taking high costs. Afterwards, these activities can be further investigated to identify their deficiencies for improvement. In this way, the representation with performance elements helps to identify the deficiencies in the process and improve them.

# 5.3.2 Elements in Colours

Depending on the organisational metrics and classes as discussed in Section 4.3, colours can be assigned to elements of a process modelling language. The assignment of colours to different elements highlights the critical features for analysis. A few examples of different business process modelling elements in colours are discussed in the following.

Similar to the previous section, where activities are aligned in swimlanes based on the performance in a certain perspective, in this pattern, swimlanes can also be coloured as shown in Figure 5.4. Different activities can also be coloured based on their performance to highlight as represented in Figure 5.5.

During analysis, different colours can also represent the instance executional history, like which path the instance has taken and at which particular stage a specific decision is taken. Similarly, based on the history of a process model, connecting objects



Figure 5.5: Activities in Colour



Figure 5.6: Connecting Objects in Colour

or process paths can also be coloured to represent optimal execution or best practices. This colouration can also be used to show the bad or costly path as shown in Figure 5.6. This path colouration is important for the analysis in those processes where different path choices are possible for execution. Different colours can indicate the effect of business objects like green for the optimal cost, blue for the optimal time, and red for non-optimal paths. Although, the relation between cost and time is not as simple as further discussed in [VKLR07]. This example compliments the colour pattern of ABPML in the BPMN modelling language.

#### 5.3.3 Connecting Objects with Statistics

Data about the performance can also be represented on the connecting objects (connecting process elements). The connecting objects can be differentiated using the size and colours. A thick edge represents that most cases take this particular path during execution compared to a thin edge edge path which represents the opposite. Another way is to represent different statistics over these connecting objects, like how often a specific path is taken (in the past, complementing the history construct). Depending on the characteristics of business objects certain assumptions can be made and predications can also be represented over these connecting objects (representing the probabilities of a certain path in process execution). Similarly, successful paths



Figure 5.7: History Construct with Statistics



Figure 5.8: Gateways with Rules or Conditions

(or best practices) can be determined by evaluating the performance of processes and their involved elements. The successful paths can be represented by colouring the edges. The frequency of execution on a particular path can be represented by changing the thickness of edges (connecting objects). These representations correspond to the history pattern of the proposed modelling language.

## 5.3.4 Gateways with Rules

Different decisions are made in process executions. These decisions are implicitly represented in program logic or explicitly stated in the documentation. In process execution, the explicit representation will help users to understand the rationale behind these decisions. In BPMN, different control flow elements are used. BPMN artefacts or text boxes can describe the condition near the control elements. Similarly, certain exceptions and business rules can also be mentioned on those control flows, like executing a gold customer requires a rule to be treated differently.

## 5.3.5 Artefacts with Contents

In BPMN, certain artefacts (like annotations and data objects) are specified to provide additional information about the process. These artefacts can be used along



Figure 5.9: Objects in Process Model

with other elements of BPMN to provide performance details (metrics) as well as about the context of the process like material required and specific conditions (limitations).

# 5.4 Related Work

Our work is compared and contrasted with methods and modelling languages used for post-executional representation. However, most of the research in the business process modelling domain is related to the information system design and analysis, like its development [BRJ05, Alo16], workflow management [vdA98], simulation of business processes [KLO08], or alignment of IT services with business processes [vdA05], or further configuration of information systems [DRvdAS08].

Limited research focuses on the performance perspective of business processes using modelling language [ETDRORRC21, Alo16]. There are some approaches to analysing business processes after execution. However, in those approaches same models are used, which are conceptualised for information system development like some process mining [vdARW<sup>+</sup>07] tools use Petri nets [vdA98]. Therefore, the solution provided by those tools serves only on ad-hoc basis, which is not appropriate for analysis and improvement.

Several approaches (like [Men99, CMH09]) attempt to integrate different modelling approaches for the analysis phase of system development. However, the integration of modelling approaches poses new challenges as discussed in [DDB05]. In [DDB05, BFN06, Br009], the authors discuss the importance of an integrated framework for modelling and enrichment of models but only from the perspective of information system development phases or project management.

A survey on business process analysis for optimisation and improvement is provided in [VTM08]. In that survey, the authors categorise different approaches to notational, formal and semi-formal categorizing. Their survey indicates the lack of business process modelling languages for post-executional phases. However, they do not provide any extensions or examples of modelling languages which we have provided in this thesis. The concept of excluding activities at the abstract level and including them at the detailed level is also discussed in [DRvdAS08, BO08], whereas in [Br09], it is discussed at the attribute level. Different views of models are generated based on the environment of execution (roles) as discussed in [CC07]; however, it is discussed from the software process perspective, irrespective of business processes. This concept needs to be further investigated from business process aspects. In [VDP+20], the authors propose a modelling language to represent knowledge at different abstraction levels. However, their main focus on the creation of execution code rather than representing processes for understanding at different levels.

In [CST04], the authors proposed an approach for business process modelling based on the different roles involved in a business process. In their approach, the focus was on the UML extensions in order to describe the relationship between business objects in a specific context (in this case role) and their re-usage in the business domain. In [Nic02], the authors used four kinds of business objects (people, places, things and events) for business object modelling purposes. Furthermore, the authors also presented the collaboration patterns for clear communication of business requirements about the product. Object modelling for designing systems also represents the relation of interaction between different objects, as discussed in [DvdAtH05].

Many papers discuss the context and environment of business processes with respect to the adaptation of changes in information systems [SN07, NE05]. Such approaches should be further extended to build business process models for analysis. Environment and context elements should be explicitly represented in detailed process models. BPMN also provides the concept for activities (containing subactivities) [BO08]. However, they do not discuss the attributes to be attached to a model as explicitly. Similarly, in [EVTG20], manufacturing processes are represented in detail using BPMN language construct. The authors even introduced a new construct to represent business situation like fulfilment of a box. However, it is the only construct introduced in the paper. Their studies show the lack of constructs in BPMN to represent the environment and demand for further research and practical implementations.

Our first attempt to extend process models with more information was discussed in [LKR08]. In that approach, we extended the process model to represent the successful and unsuccessful path of the process with a smiley. Another approach to provide further details about a business object in process models was discussed in [LKR09]. In that paper, we discussed different Petri net types and discussed the possibility of extending them for the representation of business objects involved during business process execution. Another attempt was with the graph mining approach [LKKS10b], where graph-based representation was discussed to extract the knowledge and possibly aid analysis with process structure representation. However, these approaches are good at formalism aspect, however, not intuitive and business users friendly. BPMN is the de facto standard for modelling business processes. However, it provides only generic constructs for the representation of business processes [ZBGD19]. In the current BPMN 2.0 specification [OMG11, p. 22], data, information modelling, and business rules are out of scope. Therefore, BPMN is extended in various directions for domain-specific and different perspectives representation, such as corporate communications [PO19], ubiquitous environment [FSER17], industry 4.0 [AAGK19, RBdC21], events from smart sensors [LWC<sup>+</sup>21], and security threats [KCPM21]). In [BE14, ZBGD19], the authors provide a systematic literature review on the state of art of BPMN extensions. They classify BPMN extensions based on their objective, target domain and representation format.

In [Bus10, SBK10], the authors extend the BPMN process model with time by representing with different BPMN elements like in activities, connecting objects and in pools. However, the authors have focused on providing further information rather than performance analysis of business processes. In this work, we have provided different patterns to better understanding and represent a business process for performance evaluation. In [VHZ21], the authors represented the cost of manual and IT assisted systems in an industrial use case with the help of colours on the connecting objects (arrows). However, no other modelling constructs were provided in their work. Similarly, there are also some other attempts to extend BPMN models in different dimensions like knowledge in [SBK10, BHTG17] or for modelling process goals and their measures in [KL07].

Our proposed framework and representational support (BPMN extensions) have been used as a further extension to a framework [AN16]. The authors applied the framework and BPMN extension in a bank loan process. They found that the framework and business process model representation help to make correct and timely decisions for business process improvement. However, in [AN16], the authors do not present any framework or representational elements in comparison to our work [LKS11c].

In [BD11], the authors propose a meta-model level extension of BPMN for nonfunctional properties of business processes like performability. However, they do not provide any patterns, modelling constructs or any representations. They used the existing BPMN annotations or documents to represent performance-related information. That work [BD11] was further extended in the form of a framework [DPBG16] for simulation purposes to annotate input and output data. In [IDPD21], the authors extend their work with BPMN by providing the extension for requirement engineering. They used our proposed colour pattern to show different classes of events and activities.

Similar research to [BD11] was carried out in [TRJ14], where a quality evaluation framework was presented, and different quality aspects were defined at the metamodel level. However, the authors did not provide any constructs or representation with BPMN. Similarly, in [WG19], KPI based approach is presented for business process improvement by extending the meta-model of BPMN. In that study, the authors used Scrum agile development process as a case study and classified the key performance indicators on this basis. However, no process representation in BPMN and their KPIs were provided. In [HZD<sup>+</sup>19], the authors discuss the performance from time, cost, reliability, and quality aspects and show their values with annotations (a textual table with the activities). All these work discuss our work and extend the work in this domain; however, no other patterns and constructs were added. In [dRD<sup>+</sup>19], the authors introduced the graphical notation for process performance representation, where the authors add another layer to process models to represent the performance information. The authors used only one icon (short rulers - a measuring scale) and used it in a different context which has limitations regarding expressiveness in constrast to our proposed constructs which are more expressive.

In [vdA09], the author proposes business process maps inspired by geographical maps and navigation systems. The author discusses different features of navigation systems (like zooming, colour and layout) and bring them into the context of the process model with events logs (aggregation, abstraction, and further customizations). However, the author focuses on generating process models from event logs and then predicting the arrival time of some instances. Similarly, in [vdA16], the author provides the additional features of business process maps like map quality and guidance instructions. The author also mentions that different information can be represented on those maps like mash-ups. However, the performance aspects of a business process and involved representation were not discussed in detail as in the case of this thesis.

Different business process management suites also provide cockpits to represent performance metrics in graphical forms like histograms, radial graphs, and several other techniques. However, these representations are abstract representations without providing information about the structure. Similarly, process mining tools (like Celonis <sup>2</sup>, ProM [vdAvDG<sup>+</sup>09], EVS [IGHP05] also exhibit performance metrics through different graph based representations. In HPPM (HP Process Manager) [GCC<sup>+</sup>04], they provide performance representation via traditional visualisation methods and graph-based representations are used to represent the process model.

In ARIS PPM tool, frequent paths are represented by the weight of connecting arrows. However, performance metrics are represented using traditional statistical approaches. These approaches (KPI visualisation techniques) lack the support of business process modelling language to provide a process perspective for improvement. Moreover, these approaches provide the facilities in one perspective (like modelling), however, these tool lack from another perspective (performance evaluation), and vice versa. In our work, we demonstrate the performance of processes with business process modelling language.

In Signavio<sup>3</sup> BPMN Tool, it is possible to associate costs with activities and represent them as additional text [Kam21]. This approach is similar to our information objects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.celonis.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://www.signavio.com

pattern, however, other patterns are missing like aligning in swimlanes. Similarly, Signavio modelling tool does not represent or support other patterns.

# 5.5 Summary

In this chapter, we address the third part of our research questions (presented in Section 1.2). We present the characteristics of an analytical modelling language to address the challenges in the post-execution analysis context. We design analytical business process modelling language (ABPML) by performing a thorough analysis of existing modelling language (Chapter 3), business process performance analysis requirements (Chapter 4), and different analytical tools (like Tableau, Celonis, ProM [vdAvDG<sup>+</sup>09, IGHP05]). We provide constructs and patterns of an analytical modelling language to analyse business processes in a post-execution analysis context. These are generic enough to use as a basis to extend other modelling languages. We demonstrate the instantiation of an analytical modelling language by extending BPMN.

The detailed related work (including systematic literature reviews) demonstrates that this field is still active and new extensions are proposed and evaluated. In the following chapter, we evaluate the proposed analytical modelling language and its benefits with the help of a case study.

# 6. Empirical Evaluation of Modelling Language

This chapter shares material with the paper presented in KMIS 2022 "Empirical Evaluation of BPMN Extension Language" [LST22].

Evaluation is the essential part of a modelling language and its extension, as it provides the opportunity to understand how the proposed modelling language constructs solve the problem. The evaluation also helps to determine the required expectations of users and the model audience. It also serves to improve the constructs (modelling language or its extension). Design science research proposes the empirical or analytical evaluation of a new artefact/construct.

Different approaches can be used to evaluate a modelling language. This thesis evaluates the proposed extension of modelling language using two approaches.

The first approach is empirical in which we compare and evaluate proposed extensions of modelling language from different evaluation criteria with the help of a case study. Furthermore, in an empirical study, we also assess the understandability aspects of the proposed extension, i.e. how well it is perceived and understood by the users. In the empirical approach, semi-structured interviews can be conducted with users to get their opinion; however, we preferred the questionnaire-based method to get the audience's view at a larger scale. Semi-structured informal interviews were part of the work during concept making phase of the modelling language.

The second one is the analytical evaluation which addresses how well it fulfils the representational and interpretational needs of users from a technical perspective. In this approach, we will focus on ontological concepts.

From the empirical evaluation approach, we focus on user's analytical queries which can be answered using our modelling language, like how activities should be organized to improve the understanding and ability to make decisions. These two approaches can be analysed together to evaluate how the results of one approach complement to the other and vice versa. Such evaluations help to understand how users perceive it and to improve the proposed modelling language and its extension. We will discuss them as concluding of our thesis in the following chapters.

In the following Section 6.1, we discuss the empirical evaluation criteria and case study. The case study results are presented in two groups in Section 6.2. These results are discussed in detail in Section 6.3. Finally, the limitations of empirical evaluations are discussed in Section 6.4 followed by Section 6.5 which discusses the related work regarding the evaluation of proposed extension and modelling languages. In the end, we summarize this chapter in Section 6.6.

# 6.1 Case Study

Empirical methods are suitable for quantitative analysis as they get end-users' results according to specific criteria under consideration. Examples of such criteria are the usage of language in different problems, comprehension, understandability of models developed in the language, ability to learn the language, and follow the model to take actions based on the knowledge provided from the model [GW03, NK06]. Empirical methods provide early feedback from potential users with the help of surveys and case studies. The initial feedback helps to adapt and improve the modelling language. However, analytical evaluations can be conducted as soon as the language specification is available. For example, in the case of ABPML, we conducted informal surveys and interviews with business analysts and modellers, in which they responded positively.

An empirical study can also show the qualitative aspects of the language by conducting controlled experiments or surveys. In such evaluations, feedback from the participants is collected over the presented content. In this case study, we follow certain aspects of the Quality Framework as defined in ISO/IEC 25010:2011 [ISO11] (last reviewed and confirmed in 2017, based on older version ISO/IEC 9126 [ISO01]), such as functional suitability (functional appropriateness), usability (learnability) and maintainability (analyzability). We take them as evaluation criteria and ask participants for feedback from these perspectives. Although such empirical evaluations provide valuable insights, however, they are time-consuming.

# 6.1.1 Questionnaire Design

In our work, we designed a case study of a manufacturing company. In the manufacturing company, a real-world simple production process is considered and presented in the form of a questionnaire to the participants. We selected the manufacturing area for our example case study as many fields are related to physical product development like clothing, sports goods, pharmaceuticals, and the automotive industry. However, such processes and their evaluations can be made in services areas like business processes in the area of insurance (insurance claim processes), car rental companies, and even the public sector (government offices) as well. The questionnaire is presented to the users (business analysts, managers, and process experts) in the form of a web link. The questionnaire is presented in the Appendix Section of the thesis (Section A.1). The questionnaire design is divided into four parts. These parts are explained as follows.

In the first part of the questionnaire, general information of participants is collected like age, gender, education, organization, and position in an organization. The goal of this information collection is to get an overview of the participants for the survey.

The second part of the questionnaire focuses on the professional experience of the participants. We collect the details regarding their professional experience and years of experience. We further collect details regarding their experience like at which level they are involved, how often they do evaluations, the number of processes involved in their assessment and techniques used for performance evaluation.

The third part of our questionnaire is the central part introducing a simple organizational process. This part describes the production scenario of a soccer shirt in an organization using the BPMN business process model (as shown in Appendix Questionnaire General). The process we introduce here is very simple and contain only six activities and four different roles in the organization. Moreover, we kept the business process intentionally simple as we wanted to ask questions from participants without making it complex to understand.

Here, the focus is to compare two methods for analysis and improvement of a business process. The first method uses traditional graphical charts whereas the second method is a short demonstration of our proposed extensions ABPML (extended BPMN representation) as presented in Section 5.2 and Appendix Section A.1. In this Section, we ask five main questions each focusing on a particular pattern and its comparison to the traditional approach.

To get feedback from the participants, we applied a four-level Likert scale ranging from very dissatisfied to very satisfied [Lik32]. This means that if participants like a particular method or representation, they can give feedback about their satisfaction. To ensure some feedback from participants, we intentionally left the neutral perspective (from the 5-level Likert scale) as we wanted to get really their opinion. Although the 4-level Likert scale has some disadvantages [JKCP15], however, it fits the purpose in our empirical evaluation. The output of this part of the questionnaire is to get the user's feedback regarding the efficiency of proposed extensions compared to the traditional approach.

The fourth part of the questionnaire focuses on participant's feedback on proposed modelling patterns based on different criteria like understandability, support in decision-making, application in other areas and organizational hierarchy level. For this purpose, we ask again five questions as of our proposed patterns, further containing sub-questions from four mentioned criteria in order to evaluate them from these perspectives (evaluation criteria).

#### 6.1.2 Conduction of Case Study

In the empirical study, 38 participants from different organizations and domains have participated. We conducted the empirical study in two separate groups by presenting the same questionnaire. The first group is from one particular organization (manufacturing company, referred as Case Study 1). Although we asked more than 30 participants in the first group to fill out the questionnaire, only 14 participants provided their feedback. The same questionnaire was asked to the second group (referred as Case Study 2), which was very generic as it was intended for professionals from different companies, academic staff, and students. In this group, 24 participants have filled out the questionnaire. In this group, five students participated as well. In [HRW00, SAW08], authors have shown that students are proper substitute for professionals in empirical studies as they will be future professionals. We will present and discuss the results accordingly to the above mentioned groups.

In the next section, we will discuss the method which is used to analyse the collected feedback from the participants of mentioned case studies (groups).

#### 6.1.3 Analysis Method

Statistics are divided into descriptive and inferential statistics. In descriptive statistics, different statistical calculations like mean, median, mode, range, and standard deviations are used to analyse the data. In inferential statistics, various tests are used to test the hypothesis and support the conclusions about a population from which a sample is presumed to have been drawn. In this chapter, we use both techniques to analyse the responses (data) and discuss them in detail in following Section 6.2.

In the previous Section 6.1.1, we mention the use of the 4-Level Likert scale in order to receive feedback from the participant. This feedback is categorical data and needs to be converted into numerical data. The classification of categorical data is sometimes necessary for statistical techniques [AF96, p. 32]. Here, we convert the 4-level Likert scale from very dissatisfied to very satisfied as 1 to 4 magnitude values respectively. Similarly, the strongly disagree and strongly agree categorical scores are mapped into 1 to 4 numerical values respectively.

In this work, our hypothesis is whether enrich models are better for analysis and improvement or not. We want to evaluate the expressiveness of methods and to know whether our proposed extensions are better perceived by the experts as compared to traditional methods or not. Furthermore, we want to see how users like to analyse processes from time and cost perspective. We also want to evaluate whether rules or conditions are useful in processes or do they increase complexity for users. The goal of the evaluation is to identify the gap between analytical methods at the process level. If the gap exists, this means that users maybe unhappy or rate sufficient for both methods, and better representations are required.

For this purpose, we have constructed a hypothesis and their corresponding null hypothesis for five patterns (e.g. time, cost, time-cost-colour, rule and history perspective) that we have introduced in Chapter 5. The null hypothesis states the data is normally distributed and there is no significant difference between these two approaches. An alternate hypothesis is the opposite of the null hypothesis, it means there is a significant difference between these two approaches. These approaches are referred as traditional approach and proposed approach (ABPML).

#### 6.1.4 Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test

In order to analyse responses and test our hypothesis, we used Wilcoxon signed-rank test from inferential statistics. Wilcoxon rank-sum test and Wilcoxon signed-rank method were developed by Frank Wilcoxon in 1945, as discussed in [Wil45]. These non-parametric tests do not assume anything about the underlying distribution (expecting data is not normally distributed). Wilcoxon test is used if the number of participants in the experiment is low [Geh65, HWC13], as it is the case in our case study. Since we do not have a large set of responses, we use statistical inference to infer the characteristics of different analysts based on the responses we have received in this case study. There are various examples in research where it is used to compare two approaches [RGL07], medicines (pharmaceutical studies [KE19]), or even behavioural analysis like comparing the perception of two eyes in different experiments [RGL07].

We want to analyse the scores of participants in two methods. For this purpose, we will make null and alternative hypotheses related to our work. Then, based on the participant's feedback, we will test our hypothesis.

 $H_0^q:\mu\leq\delta$ 

with the alternative hypothesis

$$H_1^q: \mu > \delta ,$$

where  $\delta$  describes the *median* in a survey question q.

We will use the Wilcoxon signed-rank test as it is used to compare two sets of scores that came from the same participants. This method is more powerful than the sign test as it makes use of the magnitudes of the differences rather than just their signs.

The Formula of Wilcoxon signed-rank method is as follows

$$W = \sum_{i=1}^{N_r} [sgn[x_{2,i} - x_{1,i}) \cdot R_i]$$
(6.1)

In this method, first for each item in a sample of n items, we calculate the differences between them (like subtracting scores of one method from the other). If the difference in scores is zero, then we omit them. We count non-negative values and take it as n-



Figure 6.1: Case Study 1: Gender Distribution of Participants

as a new sample size. Then, we rank the differences according to their values only, that is, without considering their positive or negative signs. The smallest absolute difference score gets the rank of 1, and the largest gets the rank of n. Suppose, two or more difference scores are equal, then each is assigned with the average rank of the ranks they would have to be assigned individually had ties in the data not occurred. Next, we reassign the signs (positive and negative) to each of the n Ranks Rj, and then sum the ranks of the positive and negative differences. The Wilcoxon test statistic is W+ and W-. Finally, the test statistic is chosen, which is the minimum of the sums of positive and negative ranks.

After that, we compare the test statistic to a critical value (from the Wilcoxon signed-ranks Table <sup>1</sup> where the confidence interval is 95%, i.e. Alpha 0.05). If the test static (lowest in sum ranks) is less than or equal to the critical value, then we reject the null hypothesis. That also means there is a significant difference in the medians. Similarly, we can also reject the null hypothesis if the p-value is less than 0.05.

For the computation of Wilcoxon signed-rank, we used Microsoft Excel. We will discuss its score further in the following Section 6.2 with respect to its corresponding patterns and feedback from the participants. For the descriptive statistical part, we used Microsoft Excel to represent statistical charts.

# 6.2 Results

We carried out the case study in two different sets; the first one is expert centric, whereas the second one is more general, collecting feedback from experts and general users. Therefore, we present the results of two case studies separately to distinguish them from each other. First of all, we present general information about the participants like their demographical information. After this, we present the result of two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.real-statistics.com/statistics-tables/wilcoxon-signed-ranks-table/

Patterns	<b>W</b> +	<b>W</b> -	<b>W</b> (n)	р-	<b>H0</b>	<b>H</b> 1	Average	Average
& Val-				value			Rating	Rating
ues							Trad.	ABPML
Time	4.5	73.5	13(12)	0.0068	0	1	2.42	3.5
Cost	36	9	5(9)	0.11	1	0	3	2.5
Time-	3.5	74.5	13(12)	0.005	0	1	2.29	3.43
Cost								
(Colour)								
Rule	4	62	10 (11)	0.01	0	1	2.21	3.14
History	18	18	3(8)	1	1	0	2,71	2,71

Table 6.1: Case Study 1: Descriptive and Inferential Statistics of Two Methods

main parts of the questionnaire. The first one is the comparison conducted between the traditional approach and our proposed extension. The second part is the questionnaire results that evaluates the proposed extensions from different perspectives.

#### 6.2.1 Case Study in a Company

In the first case study, most of the participants who filled the questionnaire were male participants (79%), as shown in Figure 6.1. This can probably be explained by the fact that most of the employees working at different manufacturing organizations are male (e.g. women represented only 29.5% in the manufacturing sector in 2019 according to US Statistics Bureau [Cen19], 27% in 2015 [CP15]). These participants were involved at various levels like process experts, production planners, team leaders, and other managerial positions. The further results of this part and the second part of the questionnaire are discussed in Section A.2.1, where we present their professional experience regarding evaluation.

In the third part of the questionnaire, we want to compare the two methods (traditional method and ABMPL) and test our hypothesis as mentioned in Section 6.1.3.

#### 6.2.2 Time Perspective Comparison

From the time perspective, we wanted to test the following hypothesis.

H0: There is no significant difference between these two approaches (traditional and ABPML) from the time perspective.

H1: There is a significant difference between these two approaches from the time perspective.

As it can be seen from Table 6.1, we have a critical value of 13. Now, we compare our test statistic and critical values; since the test statistic 4.5 is less than the critical



Figure 6.2: Case Study 1: Time Perspective Comparison

value of 13, therefore we reject the null hypothesis. This is also supported by the p-value as it is less than 0.05. Based on the feedback from the participants, there is a significant difference between these two approaches, as concluded by Wilcoxon signed-rank test as mentioned in Table 6.1.

From the descriptive statistics perspective, an average rating of ABPML is 3.5, which is above than satisfied level. In contrast, the traditional method got an average score of 2.42. This is also confirmed by the feedback of participants, where more than 57% of participants said that they are very satisfied with the time pattern proposed in the ABPML method compared to the traditional approach, where no one responded with very satisfied feedback. In our study, more than 92% of participants are satisfied with the ABPML method as compared to the traditional method, which gives 50% of participant with satisfaction feedback. This preference for ABPML over the traditional approach can also be seen in the results shown in Figure 6.2.

#### 6.2.3 Cost Perspective Comparison

H0: There is no significant difference between these two approaches (traditional and ABPML) from the cost perspective.

H1: There is a significant difference between these two approaches from the cost perspective.

From the cost perspective, participants responded with mixed feedback on these methods. The feedback is also shown in Table 6.1. Based on Wilcoxon signed-rank method, there is no significant difference between these two approaches. However, based on the descriptive statistics, it can be seen that most of the participants showed satisfactory behaviour towards the traditional approach. The results show that the average score of the traditional method is more than the ABPML. The traditional method is favoured by more than 71% of participants compared to the ABPML



Figure 6.3: Case Study 1: Cost Perspective Comparison

method by only 57% of participants. The results are also shown in Figure 6.3. We will discuss these results further in Section 6.3 of this chapter.

## 6.2.4 Time-Cost Perspective Comparison

H0: There is no significant difference between these two approaches (traditional and ABPML) from the time and cost perspective.

H1: There is a significant difference between these two approaches from the time and cost perspective.

In this pattern, we combine different KPIs and represent them in colours. The feedback from the participants and their corresponding Wilcoxon signed-rank test is shown in Table 6.1. Since our test statistics is less than the critical value, therefore, we can reject the null hypothesis; that is, there is a significant difference between these two approaches. It is also supported by p value that is less than 0.05.

The hypothesis (H1) is also confirmed by the descriptive statistics as represented in Figure 6.4. More than 90% of users showed satisfaction with ABPML representation compared to the traditional representation of separating time and cost KPIs, which is only 42%. The dissatisfaction to the traditional approach is also more than 50% in comparison to the ABPML dissatisfaction which is merely 7%. The average rating of the ABPML is 3.43 in comparison with the traditional approach which got 2.29 average score by the participants.

## 6.2.5 Rule Perspective Comparison

H0: There is no significant difference between these two approaches (traditional and ABPML) from the rule representation perspective



Figure 6.4: Case Study 1: Time-Cost Perspective Comparison



Figure 6.5: Case Study 1: Rule Perspective Comparison



Figure 6.6: Case Study 1: History Perspective Comparison

H1: There is a significant difference between these two approaches from the rule representation perspective

From the rule perspective, the participants' feedback and their corresponding Wilcoxon signed-rank test is shown in Table 6.1. Since our test statistic is less than the critical value, therefore, we reject the null hypothesis. This is also supported by the p-value. Figure 6.5 shows the feedback from a quantitative viewpoint. From Figure 6.5, it is clear that more than 85% of participants showed satisfaction with the explicit representation of rules along models (as in ABPML). Only 28% of participants were satisfied with the traditional method (textual representation in text). However, most of the participants (64%) said that they were dissatisfied with the traditional methods and 14% of participants showed dissatisfaction with the proposed method of ABPML representation.

Based on this feedback, we can conclude that there is a significant difference between these two approaches.

## 6.2.6 History Perspective Comparison

H0: There is no significant difference between these two approaches (traditional and ABPML) from the representation of history perspective

H1: There is a significant difference between these two approaches from the representation of history perspective

Representing history in ABPML also got mixed responses like cost perspective, where participants showed almost the same feedback. The Wilcoxon signed-rank method and its result for history pattern is shown in Table 6.1.

The positive and negative signed-ranks got identical scores, and our test statistic is not less than the critical value; therefore, we accept the null hypothesis. From the descriptive statistic viewpoint, the average score of the two methods is also the



Figure 6.7: Case Study 1: Mean Scores of Two Methods w.r.t. Patterns

same. For the history representation, both the traditional and proposed approach got similar feedback, like the traditional approach had 71% with satisfaction, whereas ABPML had 64%. Similarly, the dissatisfaction rate was also quite close to one another as 28% for the traditional method and 21% for ABPML. These results are shown in Figure 6.6.

The overall summary of patterns with Wilcoxon scores and their hypothesis is already summarized in Table 6.1. The mean score of each pattern with respect to traditional and proposed approaches is shown in Figure 6.7. The coding of values with their categorical score was defined in Section 6.1.3, where we mentioned score four as very satisfied and one as very dissatisfied.

#### 6.2.7 Feedback over Patterns

The fourth part of the questionnaire is about evaluating patterns from the participants' viewpoint. We evaluate the patterns based on four criteria like understandability, support for decision-making(for correct and timely decisions), ability to apply in different domains or areas, and support at different managerial levels (like aggregating values on different levels).

The time pattern is rated very high in all mentioned criteria compared to all other patterns. All participants agreed that it is easy to understand. Similarly, more than 90% of participants agreed that its help in decision-making and flexibility to apply in different domains. On its usage at different levels, participants were divided as 65%



Figure 6.8: Case Study 1: Feedback over Time Pattern



Figure 6.9: Case Study 1: Feedback over Cost Pattern



Figure 6.10: Case Study 1: Feedback over Time-Cost Pattern

of participants agreed that it can be used at different managerial levels; however, at the same time, 35% disagreed with that perspective. These feedbacks are represented in the following Figure 6.8.

The cost pattern also got more than 90% of agreement on the understandability perspective, as shown in Figure 6.9. Regarding the decision-making support, 78% of participants were satisfied with that perspective. However, more than 50% of participants disagreed with its ability to apply in different areas and disagreed with its usage at different managerial levels (precisely 71% of participants). We will discuss their feedback and reasons later in Section 6.3 of this chapter.

The time-cost pattern with colour representation is also appreciated by the participants as all participants agreed on its understandability perspective (57% with strongly agreed feedback) as shown in Figure 6.10. More than 90% of participants agreed on its ability for decision-making (50% with strongly agreed feedback). In addition, 78% of participants agreed upon its ability to apply in different domains. However, 57% of participants disagreed on its ability to apply at different managerial levels.

Figure 6.11 shows that the rule perspective also received similar feedback as the time-cost pattern where all participants agreed the perspective of understandability. Similarly, more than 90% agreed on its ability for decision-making, however, only 42% strongly agreed. The feedback of 71% of participants favoured its applicability in different areas, whereas 28% of participants disagreed. More than 60% of participants disagreed with its applicability at different managerial levels as underlying rules and regulations will be complex in representation.

From the understandability point of view, all participants agreed on the history pattern as it is easy to understand. More than 78% of participants favoured its support in decision-making, whereas 21% disagreed in this perspective. We received



Figure 6.11: Case Study 1: Feedback over Rule Pattern

mixed responses in other criteria as well. 57% of participants agreed while the same percentage were disagreed on its applicability in different domains at managerial levels. Their distribution of responses is shown in Figure 6.12

#### 6.2.8 General Case Study

This group involved participants from different organizations and different domains. In this section, we refer to it as the second group (Case Study 2). In this group, we reach out to the participants through professional and social networks. The results regarding this group's demographical information are presented in Section A.2.2. We received mixed responses due to the nature of the group in our case study, which we will discuss in the following section.

We assessed our results based on two aspects. The first is to compare the traditional and extended BPMN (ABPML) approaches. The second is to evaluate proposed patterns on different criteria.

From the time perspective, the trend of satisfaction can be observed by the general group of participants in both approaches (i.e. proposed and traditional approach). We can easily differentiate the representational satisfaction (including satisfied and very satisfied ratings) by the participants in both approaches as 83.3% for ABPML and 58.33% for the traditional approach, as represented in Figure 6.13. From the inferential statistical perspective, we reject the null hypothesis and accept the alternative hypothesis for this pattern as there is a significant difference based on the Wilcoxon signed-rank method. The statistical scores are shown in the following Table 6.2.

For the proposed patterns in cost perspective, it is similar to the first group responses, where participants observed no significant difference in distribution. However, from



Figure 6.12: Case Study 1: Feedback over History Pattern



Figure 6.13: Case Study 2: Time Perspective Comparison

Patterns	<b>W</b> +	<b>W</b> -	W	p-value	H0	H1	Average	Average
& Values			(n)				Rating	Rating
							Trad.	ABPML
Time	61.5	214,5	73	0.02	0	1	2.62	3.25
			(23)					
Cost	88.5	64.5	35	0.57	1	0	2.83	2.71
			(17)					
Time-Cost	26	145	40	0.01	0	1	2.63	3.29
(Colour)			(18)					
Rule	34.5	136.5	40	0.03	0	1	2.54	3.04
			(18)					
History	67.5	52.5	25	0.67	1	0	3.04	2.96
			(15)					

Table 6.2: Case Study 2: Descriptive and Inferential Statistics of Two Methods

the scores, it can be seen in Figure 6.14 that they slightly prefer the traditional approach compared to our proposed methods. From the cost pattern, 79% of the participants found the traditional methods satisfactory whereas 62% of participants found our proposed extension are also satisfactory. From the Wilcoxon signed-rank method, the p-value is more than 0.05; therefore, we accept the null hypothesis and conclude that there is no significant difference between these two approaches, as suggested by the inferential statistics score presented in Table 6.2.

The colour pattern is the pattern that received the most positive response from the participants in the general group. This pattern received more than 87% satisfactory rating, as shown in Figure 6.15. From the inferential statistics perspective, the p-value is 0.01, which is less than 0.05; therefore, we reject the null hypothesis and conclude there is a significant difference between these two approaches. The average rating for our proposed colour pattern was 3.29 by the participants.

In the case of rule pattern, there is a significant difference between these two approaches, as observed by the participant's feedback. It is also represented by Wilcoxon signed-rank method in Table 6.2. The difference is also represented in the descriptive statistics as the mean score of ABPML is around 3.04 in comparison to 2.54. Roughly 80% of participants showed their satisfaction with the proposed rule pattern in contrast to 58% of participants with the traditional methods, as shown in Figure 6.16.

The history pattern got a mixed response from the participants as it can be seen in Figure 6.17. In the Wilcoxon signed-rank, there were nine responses where the difference between the feedback was zero making our population size of 15 where the difference between these two methods exists. In the case of the history pattern, our test statistics is less than the critical value; therefore, we accept the null hypothesis



Figure 6.14: Case Study 2: Cost Perspective Comparison



Figure 6.15: Case Study 2: Time-Cost Perspective Comparison


Figure 6.16: Case Study 2: Rule Perspective Comparison



Figure 6.17: Case Study 2: History Perspective Comparison

and conclude that there is no significant difference between these two approaches. This is also represented by their average scores as it is 3.04 for the traditional method and 2.96 average for the proposed history pattern of ABPML.

Figure 6.18 shows the mean score of all patterns and their traditional methods.

### 6.3 Discussion

The case study was carried out in two separate groups. In the first group, participants belonged to a particular company and had experience with different evaluation techniques and production environments. This can also be seen in the demographical results, where most of the participants (70%) with more than five years of experience. Whereas in the second study, the experience was more distributed among partici-



Figure 6.18: Case Study 2: Mean Scores of Two Methods w.r.t. Patterns

pants. The responses given by the first group are more evident in their agreement and disagreement as compared to the general group, as shown in their results.

We have received feedback from different participants not only about the method but also about the questionnaire. Some of the feedback was related to questions and the terms, such as their definitions and the method used.

In the second part, we asked about professional experience regarding evaluation at different levels. The evaluation criteria were not clear to some of the participants, both at the process and managerial levels. The employees at the managerial level have a different perspective regarding performance evaluation compared to process level evaluations. This aspect is not explicitly mentioned in our example.

The term manager is a broad term comprised of departmental manager (disciplinary or organizational), project manager, and plant manager. In our study, we focused on processes; therefore, our proposed method is more beneficial and understandable to the roles at a process level. Some examples will be helpful to understand the usage and benefits of patterns from other perspectives like managerial.

There was also a suggestion to ask specific questions at the end of the questionnaire, as it will already provide some understanding about evaluation after the example production scenario.

The time pattern received the most positive feedback compared to other patterns, as it can be seen from the Wilcoxon scores, mean value as well as the percentage of participants who showed their satisfaction. Aligning activities in time dimension based on their KPIs make the analysis easier, especially in understanding the relationship with other activities. Other methods like Pareto charts and Gantt charts can also be used for this purpose. However, these representations do not show the relation of activities with one another. This provides us with the first justification of the limitation of existing methods and representational benefits of our proposed extension for analysis and improvement of a business process.

Regarding cost pattern, no statistically significant difference could be observed by the feedback of participants, as shown in the results. The cost pattern receives the highest dissatisfaction scores of our proposed patterns. Since the response data "points towards" the positive influence of the traditional method, it means that participants are comparatively satisfied with traditional analysis methods from a cost perspective. This raises the question of whether there is no impact on the proposed pattern at all or if there can be another way to explain the missing impact. To this end, a detailed look at the scenario example and feedback from a few participants provide a plausible explanation: Cost is always related to some values with activities. In our questionnaire, it is related to some categories like low, high, and medium. It was not mentioned about the definition of categories and their thresholds. Whereas in a traditional method, it can be clearly quantified and one can analyse each activity accordingly.

Similarly, one feedback was that production process activities are too broad in their abstraction. These activities can be further specified and then their corresponding cost can be assigned. Once they are at the detail level with cost, then the proposed cost pattern can show a better advantage over the traditional method. Abstraction and specification of activities can also be related to the evaluation of patterns themselves, where it is least rated that the pattern can be applied on different managerial levels. Therefore, a further demonstration of cost and hierarchy levels is required.

After the time pattern, most positive feedback is received to the colour pattern. Colour is an important element in visualizations, as represented in different cock-pit or dashboard charts. Aligning activities in one perspective (roles, time) and representing colours for other dimensions (like cost) is positively rated. Activities can be highlighted with different colours to get attention based on their performance. This is also interesting from an analytical perspective as it is considered one of the limitations of BPMN. Technological development (from a hardware and software perspective) encourages using colours as a standard in business process models (rather than merely black-white representations).

In our case study process model, legends were missing because few participants explicitly mentioned this point in their feedback. However, legends can improve the readability and understanding of the process (and corresponding proposed patterns). In the case of colours, the legend is a must need and should be explicitly provided.

An interesting perspective that needs to be considered is the number of symbols, elements, colours and meanings. However, it should not create an extra cognitive load on a user as it will affect their perception and understanding. Using standard colours and their corresponding usage is a good way, as in the case of our proposed pattern. We used standard colours in our questionnaire like red, green, and yellow to represent our patterns and their categories. The result of Figure 6.4 and Figure 6.15

Patterns	Understandability	Decision	Scalability	Levels
		Support		
Time Pattern	3.64	3.5	3.21	2.64
Cost Pattern	3.5	2.86	2.5	2.14
Colour Pattern	3.57	3.43	2.86	2.5
Rules Pattern	3.57	3.36	2.79	2.36
History Pattern	3.64	2.93	2.64	2.36

Table 6.3:	Case Study	y 1:	Evaluation	of Patterns	under	Quality	Criteria
------------	------------	------	------------	-------------	-------	---------	----------

shows that most of the participants found the colour pattern very important as it is intuitive, as discussed in Section 5.2.

When we describe rules and conditions in a traditional way, most of the participants are not satisfied. On the other hand, the explicit description of rules in process models for analysis and improvement is appreciated by participants, as discussed in Section 6.2. We provide additional information on model edges, which is a better way to explain the reason why a particular path is taken. However, if models are at an abstract level, then the description of underlying rules and conditions could be challenging.

The history pattern received mixed feedback from the participants, and no significant difference was observed between these two methods. One possible reason for no significant difference is the same as of cost pattern; that is, the process model is too easy and small so that no benefits can be foreseen as communicated by the end-user in feedback. On the other hand, the increased number of activities and complexity can help to present the limitation of traditional methods or the benefits of new proposed patterns. Similarly, a legend can explain the relationship between the thickness of arrows that exists in the process.

In Table 6.3 and Table 6.4, we summarize the mean score of patterns evaluation from group 1 and group 2. These are correspondingly represented in Radar charts in Figure 6.19 and Figure 6.20.

It can be seen that all patterns are suitable for understanding the point of view. Time, colour, and rule patterns are also good for providing decision support. However, time and colour patterns are rated high in application in different areas. In contrast, all patterns have less mean score to be applied at different managerial levels. The reason is again the same as we discussed in the case of cost and history pattern; that process is too simple in the case study.

For some of the participants in group 2, the problem was not very clear, and they could not follow the questionnaire completely. A basic background in the field is required as the problem and method are not as intuitive as they can be perceived by

Patterns	Understandability	Decision	Scalability	Levels
		Support		
Time Pattern	3.25	3.04	3.17	2.67
Cost Pattern	3.0	2.67	2.75	2.58
Colour Pattern	3.54	3.46	3.42	3.04
Rules Pattern	3.17	3.12	3.08	2.86
History Pattern	3.17	2.92	2.88	2.83

Table 6.4: Case Study 2: Evaluation of Patterns under Quality Criteria



Figure 6.19: Case Study 1: Mean Scores of Patterns Evaluation



Figure 6.20: Case Study 2: Mean Scores of Patterns Evaluation

everyone. The participants could not be able to understand the benefits of extended models without context and background information.

Since most of the patterns are rated well (like time, colour pattern, rule), therefore, it will be adapted as a standard in modelling business process for analysis and improvement with a performance perspective at a certain point.

Before the empirical evaluation, we assumed that traditional methods are insufficient, especially from a time and cost perspective. However, empirical results did not statistically confirm the developed hypothesis. Instead, the results show that most of the participants favoured the traditional method in cost dimension analysis and history perspective. Similarly, we thought our proposed model extension is very helpful for analysis and improvement; however, the experts see the need of data preparation work and tool support as necessary step for its realization. From the second group, further education or training is also needed (need for change management phases).

# 6.4 Limitations of Empirical Evaluation

Our empirical evaluation and its case studies face certain limitations. The example process introduced in the case study was small and simple without involving many activities and different levels. Due to this, the benefits of the proposed modelling language were not apparent in cost and history patterns. A detailed process with more activities and aggregation levels can help to evaluate the proposed modelling language better. In [VDP<sup>+</sup>20], the authors proposed a new modelling language to address the challenges of multiple levels in production processes and their execution.

The case study was conducted only in one organization with a general production scenario. It should have been carried out with the company data and their production processes. Furthermore, such evaluation should be carried out in different organizations with their processes and performance data. Similarly, the general case study can be conducted on a broader scale like in academic institutes, students participating in business process modelling or operation research institutes.

Due to the length of the questionnaire, we have not introduced all possible patterns and their extensions for evaluation, such as the use of colours in the path (activities), information objects (materials) pattern and other patterns. However, these patterns and their combinations can be prepared and carried out for evaluation in other studies.

## 6.5 Related Work

The proposed modelling language was evaluated empirically in a Bank by the authors of [AN16]. In the study [AN16], users were asked to provide feedback over modelling notation to evaluate business processes and identify deficiencies. However, the authors used a very basic descriptive statistic method to discuss the results of their study. The results showed that the proposed extensions are suitable for performance analysis and identifying deficiencies. In that study, not all patterns were evaluated, and no new contribution was made other than evaluation in the banking scenario.

Different semi-structured interviews were carried out with BPMN users, and their results were reported in [GI<sup>+</sup>05, RIRG06]. In a follow-up study [Rec08], 590 BPMN users were asked, and their results indicated that users feel the lack of BPMN constructs for their usage. Similar findings were later confirmed and discussed in [IRRG09] where the author discusses the strengths and weaknesses of modelling languages from the empirical point of view. In order to address these BPMN limitations, even in BPMN 2.0, different BPMN extensions are made to represent different perspectives, as discussed in [AK15]. The later empirical evaluations also confirmed that these gaps still exist even in BPMN 2.0 standard specifications, as discussed in [AK15]. However, these empirical evaluations do not focus on evaluating the modelling constructs from the performance evaluation context we have provided in this work.

In some BPMN evaluations, a generic quality framework ([NK06]) is used for modelling language evaluation as it contains qualitative and quantitative methods. The framework is sufficiently generic and can be easily extended further. The framework identifies five characteristics of modelling languages which include domain appropriateness, participant language knowledge appropriateness, knowledge externalization appropriateness, comperhensibility appropriateness, and technical actor interpretation appropriateness. In this work, we have taken some aspects from the generic framework as part of an empirical evaluation. We also followed the quality aspects of ISO/IEC 25010:2011 [ISO11] for quality evaluation.



Figure 6.21: Case Study 2: Feedback over Time Pattern

In some BPMN extensions, our extended BPMN meta-model and proposed modelling extensions were used as a basis as discussed in Section 5.4. In [LZB18], the authors extended the BPMN meta model and proposed a modelling construct to discuss the outsourcing of business processes. They used our proposed patterns to represent the performance (like cost) and made a prototypical implementation of constructs in three tools just to represent different aspects. In [PVE<sup>+</sup>18], manufacturing processes are modelled using BPMN extension for human physical risks. The implementation was done in MS Visio template to show the BPMN extensions and evaluated in two companies. However, these extensions were evaluating human risks only at the activity level; therefore, they extended BPMN models only with activities.

## 6.6 Summary

In order to evaluate the practical suitability of the ABPML language, we conducted an empirical study. We used a manufacturing process for the empirical study and represented it from different perspectives. We discussed and analysed it from time, cost, and performance perspectives. We have gathered the opinion of experts from industry and academic fields, someone who is actually working on this business process evaluation level. We compared the traditional methods with the proposed extensions in two case studies (in a company and generic group). We have discussed the results from a descriptive and inferential statistics perspective. The results show that the proposed patterns are rated very well, like time, cost and rules patterns. However, cost and history patterns did not receive significant positive feedback. The results imply that it will be adapted as a standard for extracting knowledge/documenting as a performance evaluation for analysis and improvement at a certain point. A detailed case study can show the potential benefits of proposed patterns from a cost and history perspective.



Figure 6.22: Case Study 2: Feedback over Cost Pattern



Figure 6.23: Case Study 2: Feedback over Time-Cost Pattern



Figure 6.24: Case Study 2: Feedback over Rule Pattern



Figure 6.25: Case Study 2: Feedback over History Pattern

Empirical evaluation results can be further explored or analysed with analytical evaluation. For this purpose, in the following chapter, we evaluate the proposed extension from the analytical perspective.

# 7. Analytical Evaluation of Modelling Language

This chapter shares material with the paper presented in KMIS 2022 "Empirical Evaluation of BPMN Extension Language" [LST22], and FIN Tech. Rep.'2010 "Post-Execution Analysis of Business Processes: Taxonomy and Challenges" [LKS10].

Analytical evaluations focus on the conceptual basis of a modelling language, such as ontology. Ontologies are context-dependent projections (models) of reality. A representational model can also be evaluated by the ontological aspects. In [OHS02], the authors discuss that ontologically based evaluations are well suited for evaluating modelling constructs in representing concrete problem domains. Various modelling languages and their extensions have been evaluated on ontological basis [BBBR10].

In [WW93a], the authors propose a model called Bunge-Wand-Weber Model (BWW model) to evaluate the models based on their completeness and clarity.

In this chapter, we evaluate proposed modelling constructs of ABPML on an analytical basis. We do not want to evaluate the BPMN itself, as BPMN is already evaluated using the BWW model in [AK15, RIRG06, KJHP15, GI<sup>+</sup>05].

The importance of discussing BPMN limitations is to compare the results of earlier studies with the new proposed extensions. This will help us to determine how well the new proposed extensions cover the existing BPMN limitations. We also investigate which modelling limitations of BPMN can be solved using our proposed work. We also want to evaluate how our proposed constructs are evaluated in the BWW model context.

In Section 7.1, we introduce the basic concepts of the BWW model and explain the method. In Section 7.2, we discuss the limitations of BPMN and evaluate the rep-

resentation power of our proposed extension with the BWW model followed by Section 7.3, where we evaluate from an interpretation perspective. In Section 7.4, we mention the analytical queries which can be answered using our proposed modelling language. The benefits of our proposed modelling language are discussed in Section 7.5. The related work of analytical evaluation is discussed in Section 7.6, followed by Section 7.7, which summarizes this chapter.

# 7.1 Bunge-Wand-Weber Model

Mario Bunge was inspired by system theory and provided a comprehensive system ontology (things in the world) [Bun77, Bun79]. Whereas Weber refers to an ontology that deals with theories concerning the nature of things in general in contrast to theories of particular things [WL97]. The BWW-model itself [WW93a, WW95b, WZ96] is an adaptation of Bunge ontology and applied for modelling information systems [WW93a]. It also serves as a representational model to analyse and evaluate conceptual modelling languages.

BWW model mentions elements that are present in the real world. These real world should be represented in modelling languages to project the world in a model. This is the reason to choose the BWW model to evaluate the proposed modelling constructs and find its limitations/gaps.

### 7.1.1 BWW Model: Basic Concepts

In the following paragraphs, we define some of the essential concepts of the BWW model.

**Things**: Things are essential in the BWW model representing elements/entities of the real world. They possess different characteristics in different states. They also belong to different kinds or certain classes, depending on several common attributes (termed as properties). Examples of things are a resource, organizational unit, and processed object. The definition of coupled Things is if one thing acts on another and it affects the History of other things.

**State of Things**: Things can be in different states as defined by their properties. These properties get change due to different factors or events in the environment. Therefore, the state of things can be different like lawful state-space defines States that comply with state law. Similarly, conceivable state space is defined as a set of all States a Thing can presume in its lifecycle.

A stable state is defined as a state in which a Thing or a System will remain the same until and unless a force is applied by a thing. In contrast, the Unstable State is a State that will be changed into another State by the Transformation in the System. The transformation itself is a mapping from one State to another State.

**Event**: Event is defined as the change in the State of Thing, whereas conceivable event space is a set of all events that occur to a Thing. Events represent the behavioural aspect of business processes. Events can occur during different stages

of a business process, like at the beginning of a process, between the execution of activities, or at the end of a process.

**History**: History is defined as the sequence of states of things that takes place over time (in chronological order).

A system is a set of coupled Things, whereas a System Environment is a Thing outside the System interacting with the System.

System Structure is a set of couplings that exists among Things. A subsystem is a System whose composition and structure are a subset of the composition and structure of another System. Level Structure is an alignment of the subsystems.

BWW model demands an explicit representation of business objects, states of business objects, and state transition laws that allow monitoring of states' history. Therefore, in this research, we used the BWW model as an evaluation framework to evaluate the post-execution analysis part of business processes and their modelling capabilities in a structured way.

## 7.1.2 Bunge-Wand-Weber Model Method

In ontological evaluation using BWW-model, two mappings are carried out. The first one is representation mapping, whereas the second is interpretation mapping. In scientific literature, it is also referred to *Ontological Completeness* and *Ontological Clarity*, respectively (c.f. [WW93a]).

In the first mapping, the representation power of the modelling language is evaluated. For this purpose, mapping from the BWW-model (or real-world) is carried out on modelling language. This mapping helps to detect the redundant and missing constructs that do not represent the reality in a model (construct deficit). The representational mapping is shown in Figure 7.1.

The second mapping is the reverse of the first mapping, i.e. from modelling language to the real world (BWW-model). This mapping helps to identify the constructs that are in excess (do not contribute to representing the reality), and constructs that represent different kinds of concepts (construct overload). It also provides which constructs are precise in modelling. These ontological discrepancies affect the clarity and understanding of modelling languages.

The discrepancies are shown in [WW93a] and represented in Figure 7.1. We summarized them below.

**Construct Deficit** is the case when an ontological concept is not represented by any modelling construct. This is usually a problematic situation as the real world can not be projected into a model.

**Construct Redundancy** is the case when several (overlapping) modelling constructs represent the same ontological concept of the real world. This discrepancy is not necessarily problematic as long as the overlapping modelling constructs represent



Figure 7.1: Bunge-Wand-Weber: Evaluation Criteria of Modelling Languages

disjunctive subtypes of the ontological concept. In [WL97], the author shows the importance of subtypes and different modelling constructs in representing information systems. However, a construct deficit may occur if the subtypes do not together cover the ontological concept completely.

**Construct Overload** is the case when a modelling construct corresponds to several ontological concepts of the real-world. This is usually a problematic situation as it creates problems in understanding. It is not clear which real world concept is represented by the modelling construct.

**Construct Excess** is the case when a modelling construct does not represent any ontological concept of the real world. Such discrepancies occur during technical limitations or representation of the proposed software or information system.

We use these four discrepancies in our work to evaluate our proposed modelling language constructs.

# 7.2 Construct Deficit: Evaluation based on BWW-Model

We have discussed in Section 4.6 the limitations of modelling languages in the post execution analysis context. In this section, we aim to discuss the limitations of BPMN from an analytical perspective as reported by different researchers in the literature. Based on these limitations, we will evaluate our proposed extension of BPMN in the context of analytical evaluations.

Construct deficit is the case when modelling constructs are not available to represent the needs of a user in a modelling language. Business process performance metrics are not represented in the case of modelling languages in general and BPMN in particular. This deficiency of construct is depicted in Figure 7.2. Therefore, it is required to extend modelling languages with performance details for better analytical support.

For simplicity and understandability, we discuss the limitations of BPMN in literature and our proposed extensions (ABPML) in corresponding sections as defined



Figure 7.2: Construct Deficit: Performance Representation in Business Process Modelling Languages

in Section 5.2. The BPMN limitations help to compare and evaluate our proposed extension based on the BWW model.

- Dimensional Constructs (Time, Cost)
- Environment Context (Information)
- Rules Pattern
- Colours Pattern (Time, Cost, Path)
- History Pattern

#### 7.2.1 Dimensional Constructs

In different semiotic evaluations of BPMN by different researchers [NK06, WS05, RRK07], it is demonstrated that BPMN lacks domain-specific representation. For example, in [WS05], the authors show that the BPMN language does not accommodate business-specific expressions, although the primary purpose is to model business processes [AK15].

Time and cost are both essential aspects in business process execution and then later for analysis and improvement. BPMN has few limitations; for example, Swimlanes (Pools and lanes) represent organizational roles or entities. Different details regarding performance, skills, workload, working time, or cost perspectives are not provided or visualized.

In BPMN representation, only time-based events are represented, which means that certain activities are executed when a time-based event occurs. However, it does not represent how much time and cost are consumed during process execution. In BPMN, specific triggers or time-based events are represented. However, it does not provide information about their performance after execution, duration, and frequency. Therefore, the states of certain business objects have to be maintained and documented during their execution (missing context-related information).

In particular, the proposed patterns of ABPML and BPMN extensions, try to overcome these deficiencies by representing time and cost dimension using pools and swim lanes. In surveys [RIRG06,  $GI^+05$ ], the authors showed that the BPMN groups and other connectors are not properly used. This is due to the reason that they come as a construct of the model and not part of the process itself [AK15]. Our grouping constructs bring them meaning for understanding and a specific goal.

#### 7.2.2 Environment Context

The representation of context is significant as based on the state of certain things, different routes/paths (conditions get valid) are executed, and it has to be shown correspondingly. For example, in the case of parallelism or the same activities (where the same action is performed), depending on the resources available and queue, a different route can be taken where less load is experienced (load-balancing). Similarly, if the target values are not achieved in a process, then different actions are carried out depending on the conditions and available resources. Such execution depend on the context, like allocating more resources, fixing the deviations or repairing the machine to achieve the target values.

Another example is in the case of deviation management, based on the actual performance (or measurement values), specific interpretations and decisions can be made with respect to context, and certain parts are executed with or sometimes without the involvement of humans or particular resources.

Context is defined in [Dey00] as the relevant objects, information or services needed to fulfil a task at hand (activity, user's task, and decision). In [HS15, EVTG20], the authors recommend that business processes must consider non-static context events which affect the process. However, it was not discussed how to model it in BPMN.

These business objects related to context provide good information on how business processes are executed in an organization and what role business objects plays in the process. These kinds of representation can support and ease the work for understanding and analysis of business processes and their efficiencies.

In [RRF08, RRF11], authors claim that modelling languages have to be more flexible to model context. The flexibility of modelling languages should lead to a decreasing time-to-market for products, as discussed in [RRF11]. Similarly in [EVTG20, Pen17], the authors claim that different modelling constructs are required to represent involved business objects such as inputs, rules, and performance-related information. The existing BPMN notations and meta-model do not incorporate the performance details of business processes.

In [RRK07], the authors mentioned a lack of constructs to represent different attributes of business processes and it was also confirmed by other evaluations ([AK15]). In [AK15], the authors found that systems structured around things are not represented adequately. Due to this, it is not easy to get information about the dependencies of a modelled system. This information is necessary for a complete picture of a business process.

Different contextual information can be provided by adding conditions or extra constructs (elements) to represent the context. For example, the raw material can be presented in a process model as shown in Figure 5.9 (with a shopping cart) or further activities with specific symbols presented in [LKR08].

## 7.2.3 Business Rules

In [RIRG06], the authors mention that states of things can not be modelled using BPMN. Due to this, relevant business rules can not be captured or represented ( [AK15]. The limitation of BPMN was also confirmed in another study as discussed in [Rec08], where users find workarounds (textual descriptions as separate notes) or ad-hoc representation outside of the BPMN model. These limitations demonstrate the construct deficit in BPMN models. In BPMN 2.0, activity types try to address it on an elementary level. However, it is still difficult for users for their comprehension [AK15].

In our work, we explicitly represent the rules/conditions at decision points and their values on the connecting objects. The condition can be used to refine events and relations with activities like edges between them from different perspectives like time, cost, and rules. This helps to understand rules and their execution to improve the understanding of business processes.

# 7.2.4 Colours Pattern and Path Constructs

In [Moo09], the author proposed diagram notation principles which were later used to evaluate BPMN by [AK15]. Authors found that visual expressiveness is also very limited in BPMN like Colour, Size, and Shape. Colour is the most effective characteristic in the cognitive field and uses different contexts. In process modelling in general, only black and white colours are primarily used. One of the reasons is the historical development of modelling languages in the twentieth century. However, due to the development in coloured display devices and printers, it should not be restricted to one colour only. Our proposed colour representation can be used to represent a state of things from a time and cost perspective in order to overcome the analytical perspectives.

The colour and size of the connecting objects can be used to demonstrate different concepts of real world like successful, unsuccessful states, paths, and frequency.

Control flow and environment data are not represented in BPMN. This is due to the lack of support, for instance, specific details for a task or subprocess [AK15]. A multiple instance marker, colours or information pattern can overcome this challenge. Similarly, data objects involved with activities are represented very abstractly as no information about their structure and contents (values) is shown in a BPMN model.



Figure 7.3: Construct Overload: Constructs Representing different Concepts

#### 7.2.5 History

Modelling languages lacks the constructs to represent the State of a thing, which is also referred as History as discussed in [Pen17, RIRG06]. In [RRIG09], BPMN's lack of history construct is discussed further in detail. In our proposed extension, we try to address this problem and represent it by the paths which provide information on how often a particular task/activity is executed. Similarly, following this principle, the activities border can also be increased to show different concepts related to the activity history (e.g. time particular resources exist).

# 7.3 Construct Overload and Redundancy

Construct Overload occurs when the same modelling construct is used to represent different concepts of real-world (for different purposes and meanings). This is the most likely case in the BWW model evaluation of modelling languages. Since we try to fulfil construct deficit using some modelling constructs, therefore, our proposed modelling language faces this challenge.

In our proposed extension, construct overload occurs for pool and lanes modelling constructs as we use it to represent time, cost, and organization resource perspectives. The construct overload is depicted in Figure 7.3. In the case of lane and pool construct of BPMN, the construct overload challenge is also discussed in previous studies like [RIRG06]. In that study, the authors reported ambiguities in their usage in practice. They also found that these modelling constructs represent a different real-world entities which are completely different. Due to the construct overload in BPMN, it has a negative effect on comprehensibility, as concluded in earlier studies [WS05, RRK07]. The construct overload remains in BPMN 2.0 as well as later studies also confirmed it [AK15].

We have shown the modelling constructs which have construct overload in Figure 7.3. For the simplicity of the figure, we have shown only the mapping of lane construct to corresponding real-world concepts. Similarly, colours as a modelling construct of



Figure 7.4: Construct Redundancy: Concepts Represented by different Modelling Constructs

our proposed modelling language can be used to represent time and cost dimensions. The same is true with the size of elements, as size can represent different concepts.

In order to address the construct overload problem, different notations can be further added/attached while representing particular perspectives. For example, in the case of lanes or pools, we can use a clock or hour symbol for representing the time perspective, currency symbol to represent the cost perspective and an actor/human symbol for the organisational role perspective. Another way is to create a box highlighting the particular perspective (like time or cost perspectives).

When we combine colours and sizes with different artefacts such as events, activities, lanes and pools, then we create new constructs. These constructs can be used with a legend to tell the meanings as well. This can help to avoid misinterpretations by users. Another way to distinguish from normal usage is to use our proposed modelling language only in a particular phase like post execution analysis and improvement to bring the construct overload problem within a particular context.

Providing different means to represent the reality also creates the challenge of construct redundancy. The time, cost and other performance metrics can also be represented by the usage of colours, size, lanes, and other modelling constructs. This construct redundancy is represented in Figure 7.4. Depending on the problem in hand, specific constructs are used to improve the representation, like highlighting particular elements using colours, or aligning activities in particular dimensions using lanes, as well as making it more visible using size.

Figure 7.5 summarizes our proposed extension contribution toward the representational mapping and challenges regarding the interpretation.

# 7.4 Analytical Queries

Different analytical queries can be answered using extended business process models. Although other techniques can answer analytical queries, however, these techniques



Figure 7.5: Representational Gap in Modelling Languages

do not explicitly represent elements in process models, and thus do not provide an intuitive understanding. In the following, we discuss these queries in the postexecution context. We have a different focus than the phases before execution. We emphasize that with the help of extended process models, we can improve business processes more effectively.

- What are the dependencies between processes and elements?
- Which decisions exist in business processes? What is the justification or reasoning for these decisions? What are the properties of business objects that influence the decisions?
- Which business cases (paths) lead to successful execution from a business view-point?
- Which parts influence the efficiency of a process?
- Which resources are allocated to the business processes yet are seldom executed?
- What are the explanations behind their seldom utilization and for which cases (and types)?
- Which business objects are engaged in task execution?
- What are the data requirements (attributes) for executions?

Few of the questions mentioned above do not demand a query language. These questions can be responded with a simple analysis of the extended business process models, including the resources involved. However, different techniques like query language are required to answer of some other questions. In [LKKS10b], we investigated the graph mining based techniques to answer the questions related to business processes.

# 7.5 Benefits

A vital question arises when a new modelling approach or technique is proposed: which benefits can be accomplished with the new method? Analytical modelling language focuses on business domain and process structure instead of technological or other aspects. Therefore, limitations related to the business domain are addressed here. The following section describes the potential benefits of the analytical modelling language.

Various cognitive studies show that users read and perceive information in a particular order. Therefore, the order in which information is presented is an important factor. Aligning activities in a particular order as presented in our proposed pattern and extended modelling language help the users to quickly identify the deficiencies in a process. Therefore, the elements essential in a dimension are presented in a prominent position.

Currently, most modelling languages provide functionalities in one direction, however, they do not support other functionalities. For example, few modelling languages allow us to represent the involved resources (elements), but they do not provide any formalism specification for simulation purposes or other features for analysis. In our proposed analytical modelling language, we attempt to provide both functionalities.

# 7.5.1 Intuitive Understanding

In the case of iterations, it is not always obvious from the business process model why an instance has to be repeated many times. Extension of attributes in a model would help to understand such scenarios intuitively about the reasons of failure. Similarly, the extension of attributes will increase the intuitive understanding of business processes.

Colours is important factor to enhance the intuitiveness of models. Therefore, it is commonly used in visualizations. In our proposed patterns and its case study, colour has received the highest positive feedback in business process models.

# 7.5.2 Rationale for Decisions

Implicit assumptions involved in a business process must be represented explicitly for better analysis and improvement. In the case of Petri nets, required conditions and elements are represented very abstractly, like the presence of tokens at places. Explicit representations of involved rules, elements, and attributes will improve the understanding of business process executions. Extended business process models will assist in understanding the dependencies between elements of business processes, like which elements or details are necessary for the execution of business processes. The analytical business process modelling will present the rationale for the decisions made in business process executions.

#### 7.5.3 Training of Employees

Extended business process models can also be used for knowledge management. For example, new employees can be trained using business process models. They can walk through different business process scenarios and see how experienced employees address different situations. For this purpose, detailed representations or descriptions will help to model the reality, including the involved attributes and their corresponding values.

#### 7.5.4 Models/Directions for Improvement

The detailed description of business processes in models can help to discover the deficiencies in execution. The particular areas can be further investigated for improvement or re-engineering purposes. With a better understanding of problems, we can also give directions to rectify the causes of problems and improve them. The steps for improve is the prescriptive analysis, as discussed earlier.

#### 7.5.5 Just-in-Time Analysis

A history construct in business process models offers the capability to state the elements of business processes at a particular stage of operation. This feature is vital at later stages because the efficiency of elements can be affected by other elements or processes. For example, in comparing two instances, at a particular stage, the cost of one instance is very low because of efficient processing and the path it took during execution. However, at later stages, other elements/processes may affect the efficiency of the instance, and the overall cost of the two instances remains the same. In this case, the reasons for efficient execution will not be noticed. The other parts of the process overcome the improvement in one part of the phase. The representation of such scenarios is essential for business process improvement.

#### 7.5.6 Understanding the Context

Representation of involved business objects and its settings (like market including associated laws) of a business process will allow to analyse the environment in which business processes are executed and thus improve the understanding of business processes.

Besides the environment of a business process, representation of other factors is also important for analysis and understanding of business processes. Explicit representation of elements with attributes will help to understand the structural deficiencies. For example, in the case of delivery of goods, the loop structure with attributes explains the reasons for failure in delivery and why it has to be repeated again.

#### 7.5.7 Context-based representation

Once we are able to represent the executions of business processes (and their environment) completely in a business process model, then we can use extended models to understand the structural deficiencies of business processes. This is due to the reason that in abstract representation, the structural defects are not clearly represented; therefore, they can not be easily identified. Although, some of the benefits can be answered by other querying methods, here in analytical modelling language, the focus is the intuitive understanding of business processes through models.

# 7.6 Related Work

In order to evaluate different quality aspects of models, a semiotic quality framework is used in [AK15], which is based on semiotic concepts as discussed in [RRK07]. In [RRK07], the authors propose a generic framework that combines different frameworks like ontological, semiotic, and workflow patterns for modelling language evaluation as well as BPMN. Their framework was later used for various other evaluations of BPMN and explored the limitations of BPMN as discussed in later studies like in [AK15].

Some BPMN evaluations are pattern-based (like workflow patterns [vdAtHKB03, WvdAD<sup>+</sup>05, RTHVDAM06, OAWtH15]) where control flow perspective and data flow perspective are used as a reference to evaluate the capabilities of the modelling language and find its limitations ([RRK07]). Although some of the studies discussed in this chapter were published in the past (like 0from BPMN 1.0), however, they are still valid; as indicated in Chapter 3, the core notation and representation of business processes for analysis are relatively unchanged in both versions (BPMN 1.0 and BPMN 2.0) over the years. In [GHA10] and [AK15], the authors evaluated BPMN 2.0 based on graphical notations (as discussed in [Moo09]) and from the cognitive aspect. Their studies also confirm the lack of constructs to represent the different aspects. In [ZL21], the authors conducted a systematic literature analysis and found limited tool support for the visual expressiveness of notations. In [RIRG06], the authors found a high degree of ontological completeness in BPMN; however, states of things can not be modelled with BPMN.

In [OHS02], the authors evaluate UML modelling language based on BWW-model. They present the result of systematic and iterative comparisons between 47 ontological concepts in the BWW-model and 216 modelling constructs in the UML, that is, concrete meta-classes in the UML-meta model, of which 67 were found to be significantly relevant for representing concrete problem domains.

Various BWW model-based evaluations are presented in the literature like [GI<sup>+</sup>05, RIRG06] and [RRIG09]. In [AK15], the authors introduce and evaluate the BPMN 2.0. they also discuss the current work in its evaluation.

In [AK15], authors inter-link two (BPMN-ArchiMate) models to fulfil the construct deficit (provide compliance related information in process models) to represent conceivable, lawful state and event spaces of the BWW model. In this work, we extend

BPMN with different notations for the performance evaluation to fulfil the construct deficits (concepts of real-system not represented) of a modelling language.

In [Pen16, Pen17], the authors found many limitations of BPMN especially in the context of process compliance with policies. Their studies also discuss the lack of BPMN representation for state law, history and events. In this work, we address such challenges and provide model completeness for process performance analysis by introducing new constructs.

# 7.7 Summary

The BWW model is used to analyse the meaning of modelling constructs for information system development and to evaluate how well these constructs provide value for development. Using the BWW model to evaluate modelling constructs from a performance perspective is the first effort in the literature. We want to represent the representation gap of BPMN. We want to show how this representational gap is overcome by our proposed patterns (extension example of BPMN using ABPML). Different BWW-based evaluations are discussed to present the limitations of BPMN.

An exciting area of research is performance representation. How can we use Bunge Wand Weber Method to evaluate the modelling language which serves the purpose to represent the performance? Future work is to discuss and assess Bunge Wand Weber method itself for performance evaluation.

Further work is needed to validate and refine the proposals modelling language, both analytically (using other ontologies and mathematical formalisms), and empirically.

# 8. Conclusion and Future Research

This chapter concludes our thesis and provides an outlook for future research in this domain. First, we summarize our thesis in Section 8.1, followed by Section 8.2, which provides the outlook for future research in this domain.

# 8.1 Conclusion

This thesis motivates for intuitive analytical modelling language in post-execution analysis of business processes. In this thesis, we provided the context of business processes, starting from vision to industrial automation. Characteristics of business processes are also discussed to understand the context for business process analysis and improvement. First, we discussed the research work in the area of business process modelling domain. Later, we focused on the evaluation of business processes in a post execution context. We provided a classification of elements for evaluation purposes and an analytical framework to improve the business process. We further focused on a representational part of the analytical framework.

We identified the challenges and open issues in modelling business processes, especially in the post-execution phase. We manifested that the modelling languages devised for information system design are insufficient for post-execution analysis phases and their representation. Several limitations of modelling languages are identified and discussed in detail with examples.

As part of our research, we aimed to minimize the gap between modelling language and post-execution analysis in order to improve business processes. For that purpose, we developed a design science artefact (extension of the modelling language) to solve the problem of performance analysis of a business process. This was achieved by presenting characteristics of the analytical modelling language and modelling patterns in the post execution analysis context. The proposed patterns were elaborated further by extending the modelling constructs of an existing modelling language (in this case, BPMN).

We used two evaluation methods (empirical and analytical) to evaluate the instantiated extension of BPMN. The empirical evaluation was carried out in an organization with the help of a case study. The case study results demonstrate that certain patterns significantly outperformed traditional methods. From the analytical perspective, we evaluated the proposed modelling extension using the BWW (Bunge-Wand-Weber) model, which also shows the advantages of the proposed modelling language.

# 8.2 Future Research

The work presented in this thesis serves as a foundation for future research on post execution analysis using business process models to improve business processes. We will briefly discuss some potential research areas below.

**Analytical Framework for Improvement:** We presented an analytical framework to evaluate business processes for improvement. In this thesis, we focused our research on the representational part of the framework; however, future research can be done with the help of a case study on different components of the framework.

**Modelling Challenges and Characteristics:** In this thesis, we presented different challenges of modelling languages with an emphasis on post execution analysis of business processes. As a consequence, we also defined different characteristics of analytical modelling languages. Future research should explore the limitations of modelling languages in post executional analysis context, as well as extend the characteristics of analytical modelling languages proposed in this work.

**Patterns and Modelling Languages for Performance Analysis:** In this research, we proposed six generic patterns for the evaluation of business processes. We used time and cost as the main aspects for this purpose and extended their combination as the colour pattern. However, the colour pattern can be problematic for colourblinded users. Future research work should add additional patterns to our pattern catalogue for analysis and improvement purposes. It should also consider other aspects, such as location, involved business objects, and quality. We used these generic patterns to extend BPMN as an example in this research; similarly, different other business process modelling languages can also be extended in a similar manner. These extended modelling languages must be evaluated in practice as well.

**Modelling Tool and Evaluation:** We conducted an empirical evaluation in the form of a survey by comparing the traditional methods with our proposed extensions. A detailed evaluation supported by a modelling tool would be more suitable. For this purpose, our proposed extended meta model of BPMN can be used in Eclipse Modeling Framework, AdoXX, or in MetaEdit+ to create modelling language tool or existing modelling language tools can be extended with our proposed patterns by using BPMN-js<sup>1</sup>. The modelling tool can also help to analyse the historical data by presenting the data to the user for identification of deficiencies. In this work, we conducted our empirical study in one company and a general audience, such case studies can be conducted in different organizations. This will help to collect further requirements, which will extend the understanding in this domain.

<sup>1</sup>https://bpmn.io

# A. Appendix

# A.1 Questionnaire

In the following, we attach the questionnaire which was presented to the participants of two case studies.

# Questionnaire

Dear Participant,

Thank you very much for participating in this survey.

The goal of this survey is to compare traditional business process evaluation method (e.g. bar chart, line chart) with a new method for business process improvement. We want to evaluate our proposed method and want to know which elements are appreciated by experts. We also want to take your feedback and want to extend the proposed method for better analysis and improvement.

We keep the anonymity of the participants and information collected will be handled in confidential way. The information is used only for research purpose and used in such a way that participant can not be identified.

The questionnaire will take 20-30 minutes to complete. Thank you in advance.

Azeem Lodhi

\* Required

#### Information

In this section, we want to collect general information and your experience

1. Age?

Mark only one oval.

20 to 30 years

🔵 31 to 50 years

over 50 years

- I do not want to provide
- 2. Gender?

Mark only one oval.

🕖 Female

🔵 Male

Prefer not to say

#### 3. Education?

Mark only one oval.

Vocational training
Under-graduate (Bachelor's)
Graduate
Ph.D.
Other:

#### 4. Organization affiliation type?

Mark only one oval.

Company

Freelancer

Student

Other:

#### 5. Current position in the organization? \*

Mark only one oval.



Performance Evaluation Experience In this survey, we use the term performance evaluation in order to measure how good the objects are performing in the area under consideration (for example, sales or profit of a company, employee's performance, a particular process performance). Different KPIs (Key Performance Indicators) are used in different fields of business for this purpose.

6. How you rate your general expertise in performance evaluation?

Mark only one oval.

$\bigcirc$	Basic
$\bigcirc$	Moderate
$\bigcirc$	Expert

7. For how many years, you are evaluating performance?

Mark only one oval.

Less than a year

- \_\_\_\_ 5-10 years
- More than 10 years
- 8. At which evaluation level you are involved in organization? \*

Mark only one oval.



- Department level
- O Process level

	Other:				
--	--------	--	--	--	--

 How often you carry-out performance evaluation in a year? Example, No. of projects or frequency of evaluations in a year? \*

Mark only one oval.

$\bigcirc$	less than 5
$\bigcirc$	5 to 10
$\bigcirc$	10 to 15
$\bigcirc$	above 15

Other:

10. How many processes do these projects/business usually have?

Mark only one oval.

- No process level evaluation
- less than 10
- \_\_\_\_\_ 10 -- 49
- above than 50
- 11. Which evaluation methods you normally use?

#### Check all that apply.

- Tabular charts (Tables, reports)
- Performance graphical charts (bar, line charts)
- Dashboards (textual + grahical mix)

Other:

12. Which representations or visualization currently you use for business process analysis and improvement?

Evaluation and Improvement	In this section, we present a case study that compares two methods by representing performance for process analysis and improvement. The first method is a traditional method (using bar charts, textual tables). In the second method, performance is represented with process models using extended Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN). We want to get your feedback
Methods	Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN). We want to get your feedback about these two methods.
Comparison	

#### Scenario: Case Study - Product Manufacturing Example

Assume a company that manufactures soccer shirts according to customer's requirements using the following process. In the first step, raw materials (like fabric) is collected and then provided to workers. After receiving the raw material, it is cut into different shapes for further manufacturing steps. Each of these fragmented pieces correspond to different parts of a shirt e.g. sleeves, neck, back, front. After "cutting", certain pieces segregated from the fragmented bulk go for "printing" while the rest of the pieces go for "stitching" according to the design. In the third step, the printed parts are joined with the stitched parts via the step "join-stitching" to form a complete shirt. Now, the newly made shirt goes through "check quality" step carried out by a quality inspector. If the quality of the shirt meets the specification, then the shirt is packed. Otherwise, the quality control is repeated. This production process is represented using BPMN (Business Process Model and Notation) Standard.

#### Manufacturing Process in BPMN



# Task: Identify less efficient and less effective activities (from time and cost perspective) for business process improvement

In this evaluation, we will compare traditional bar chart representation and extended BPMN representation from time and cost perspective. First, we will compare from time and cost perspective individually, and then we will analyze them together.



1b) Extended BPMN Representation (Time Pattern): Arranging activities based on time consumed as compared to target time



13. From the perspective of business process analysis and improvement, which form of representation is better in your opinion from time perspective? Kindly rate it by using the scale given below.

Mark only one oval per row.

	Very Dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very Satisfied
Bar chart representation	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
Ext. BPMN representation	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$


2b) Extended BPMN Representation (Cost Pattern): Arranging activities based on cost incurred as compared to target cost



14. From the perspective of business process analysis and improvement, which form of representation is better in your opinion from cost perspective? Kindly rate it by using the scale given below.

Mark only one oval per row.

	Very Dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very Satisfied
Bar chart representation	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Ext. BPMN representation	$\bigcirc$			

3a) Bar Chart Representation: Evaluation of Activities (Time & Cost combined)



3b) Extended BPMN Representation: Evaluation of activities in Time & Cost perspective (colours representing performance of activities in process)



15. From the perspective of business process analysis and improvement, which form of representation is better in your opinion from time & cost perspective? Kindly rate it by using the scale given below.

Mark only one oval per row.



#### Task: Decision Points & Rules Description

Decision points are stages in a process where certain conditions/rules are evaluated. Based on the results, certain path is selected and activities are carried out.

#### 4a) Rules & Conditions in Documentation

Normally, rules and conditions are written in textual form in process documentation or user manuals. These are written as follow

Quality Check: Attribute  $1 \le x$  and Attribute  $2 \le y$  then "satisfied" else "unsatisfied". where Attribute 1 and Attribute 2 are quality characteristics like stitching quality, cleanliness of shirt etc. and x & y are threshold values of attributes respectively.

### 4b) Extended BPMN representation on decision points (Rules Pattern)



16. From the perspective of business process analysis and improvement, which form of representation is better in your opinion from rules & condition perspective? Kindly rate it by using the scale given below.

Mark only one oval per row.

	Very Dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very Satisfied
Text representation in documentation	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Ext. BPMN representation in model	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

#### History of process & activities executions

History of a process can also be used for analysis & improvement purposes, e.g., how many times a particular activity or process is executed and it's result. The frequency or history of activities can be represented in the following ways.



### 5b) Extended BPMN representation (History perspective): Arrows thickness



17. From the perspective of business process analysis and improvement, which form of representation is better in your opinion from history & path perspective? Kindly rate it by using the scale given below.

Mark only one oval per row.

			Very Dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very Satisfied	
	Bar chart representat	ion	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
	Ext. BPMN representat	ion			$\bigcirc$		
Busi Proc Eval Patt	representation Business to Process pa Evaluation de Patterns		revious section, now about your lysis. The above of Analytical Bi cribed in this pa blikationen/ps/a	we asked you at experience/opin e mentioned exte usiness Process per HICSS 2014 auto/LodhiKWST	oout two meth ion regarding ded BPMN rd Modeling Lan ( <u>http://wwwit</u> 1 <u>4.pdf</u> )	nods comparis the patterns fr epresentations iguage (ABPM <u>i.cs.uni-magde</u>	ons. Now, we want or evaluation and (or patterns) are L) and further : <u>burg.de/iti_db</u>

### 1. Time Pattern

Arranging activities in BPMN elements (e.g. Swimlanes) based on their performance in time perspective.



# 18. How do you rate time pattern and its application for business process improvement?

Mark only one oval per row.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Ability to understand (Understandability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Support for the correct and timely decisions (Decision Support)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Ability to be used in different areas (Scalability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Functionality for all managerial levels	$\bigcirc$			

## 2. ABPML: Cost Pattern

Arranging activities in BPMN elements (e.g. Swimlanes) based on their performance in cost perspective.



# 19. How do you rate cost pattern and its application for business process improvement?

Mark only one oval per row.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Ability to understand (Understandability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Support for the correct and timely decisions (Decision Support)		$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Ability to be used in different areas (Scalability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Functionality for all managerial levels	$\bigcirc$			$\bigcirc$

### 3. ABPML: Colour Pattern

Colouring BPMN elements (e.g. activities, connecting objects) based on their performance in time and cost perspective (productivity).



20. How do you rate colour pattern and its application for business process improvement?

Mark only one oval per row.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Ability to understand (Understandability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Support for the correct and timely decisions (Decision Support)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Ability to be used in different areas (Scalability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
Functionality for all managerial levels	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

## 4. ABPML: Rules Pattern

Explicitly stating the information on BPMN elements (e.g. connecting objects, activities) for analysis.

## Extended BPMN representation Decision Points (Rules pattern)



# 21. How do you rate rule pattern and its application for business process improvement?

Mark only one oval per row.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
Ability to understand (Understandability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Support for the correct and timely decisions (Decision Support)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Ability to be used in different areas (Scalability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
Functionality for all managerial levels	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

### 5. ABPML: History Pattern

Changing the size and width of BPMN elements (e.g. connecting objects, activities) based on their participation in process.

# Extended BPMN representation (History/Path perspective)



# 22. How do you rate history/path pattern and its application for business process improvement?

Mark only one oval per row.

			Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree	
	Ability to understand (Understanda	ability)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
	Support for t correct and t decisions (Decision Su	he imely pport)		$\bigcirc$		$\bigcirc$	_
	Ability to be u in different a (Scalability)	used reas	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	_
	Functionality all manageria levels	for al	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
Con	npleted!	Thanl If you You c Best I Azeer	< you for you are intereste an also prov Regards, n Lodhi	r participatior ed in results o ide your feedt	n. f this ques back and co	tionnaire, you omments abou	- can provide your email ut this questionnaire.

24. Your Email?

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Google Forms



Participants & their ages

Figure A.1: Case Study 1: Ages of Participants

# A.2 Results of Empirical Evaluation

This section shares the detailed results of our empirical evaluation carried out in two case studies (presented in Chapter 6).

# A.2.1 Results of the Case Study 1

In the following, we present some further results of Case Study 1 as discussed in Section 6.2.1.

An interesting fact was about the age of the participants in the case study conducted in a organization. Most of the participants were between 31 to 50 years old like 72% whereas 21% were above than 50 years as shown in Figure A.1. Only 7% of participants were less than 30 years which was only one person in absolute numbers. The relation between age and their expertise was also confirmed as 79% participants have more than 5 years of experience.

In the survey, 64% of participants rated their expertise as an Expert-level whereas only 29% participants rated their expertise as moderate level. Only 7% rated their expertise as basic which correspond to the age demography very well. These demographic representations are shown in Figure A.2. Figure A.3 shows the combined representation of experience and their expertise as rated by the participants.

As the case study was carried out in a production company, therefore, most of the participants were involved at process level. Some of the participants were involved at project or organizational level both. However, these experts are mainly related to different projects in company (like maintenance, development, and implementation) and evaluate the performance respectively.

# A.2.2 Results of the Case Study 2

In the following, we present some further results of Case Study 2.



Figure A.2: Case Study 1: Experience of Participants



Figure A.3: Case Study 1: Experience and Expertise of Participants



Figure A.4: Case Study 2: Gender Distribution of Participants

Figure A.4 shows that most of the participants (58%) were 31 to 50 years old. The two-age groups of 20 to 30 and over 50 years were represented 25% and 17% respectively. In this survey most of the participants were relevant and their working age including their experiences was above than 50 years. In this survey, 21% participants were student as well.

As discussed earlier in previous Section 6.1.1, the second part is related with experience relation with performance evaluation. Figure A.5 shows that most of the participant rate their expertise at moderate level (58%) and 25% at expert level. Only 17% of participant rate their expertise as basic. In general group, most of the participants are project manager and manager. They use to do evaluation, however, neither at process level nor using business process modelling techniques. This is the reason behind their feedback as moderate-level experience even after years of experience in their fields.

We received responses from participants performing different roles in companies like 29% process and business expert role, 21% projects manager, 21% student, 17% at managerial positions, and academic staff (12%) respectively as shown in Figure A.6.



Figure A.5: Case Study 2: Experience and Expertise of Participants



Figure A.6: Case Study 2: Roles of Participants in Organizations

# Bibliography

- [AAGK19] Amina Annane, Nathalie Aussenac-Gilles, and Mouna Kamel. BBO: BPMN 2.0 Based Ontology for Business Process Representation. In 20th European Conference on Knowledge Management (ECKM 2019), volume 1, pages 49–59, Lisbonne, PT, 2019. Academic Conferences and Publishing International Limited.
  - [AF96] T. W. Anderson and Jeremy Finn. The New Statistical Analysis of Data. Springer, 1996.
  - [AK15] Gustav Aagesen and John Krogstie. BPMN 2.0 for Modeling Business Processes. In Jan vom Brocke and Michael Rosemann, editors, Handbook on Business Process Management 1, Introduction, Methods, and Information Systems, pages 219–250. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2 edition, 2015.
  - [Alo16] Youseef Alotaibi. Business Process Modelling Challenges and Solutions: A Literature Review. Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing, 27(4):701–723, 2016.
  - [AN16] Mojtaba Ahmadi and Alireza Nikravanshalmani. Providing a Framework to Improve the Performance of Business Process Management Projects based on BPMN. Advances in Computer Science : an International Journal, 5(1):10–17, 2016.
  - [Api22] Ltfi Apiliogullari. Digital Transformation in Project-based Manufacturing: Developing the ISA-95 Model for Vertical Integration. International Journal of Production Economics, 245:108413, 2022.
  - [AS04] R. S. Ruth Sara Aguilar-Savén. Business Process Modelling: Review and Framework. International Journal of Production Economics, 90(2):129–149, July 2004.
- [BBBR10] Jorg Becker, Philipp Bergener, Dominic Breuker, and Michael Rackers. Evaluating the Expressiveness of Domain Specific Modeling Languages Using the Bunge-Wand-Weber Ontology. In 2010

43rd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, pages 1–10. IEEE, 2010.

- [BD11] Paolo Bocciarelli and Andrea D'Ambrogio. A BPMN Extension for Modeling Non Functional Properties of Business Processes. In Proceedings of the 2011 Symposium on Theory of Modeling & Simulation: DEVS Integrative M & S Symposium, TMS-DEVS '11, page 160168, San Diego, CA, USA, 2011. Society for Computer Simulation International.
- [BE14] Richard Braun and Werner Esswein. Classification of domainspecific bpmn extensions. In Ulrich Frank, Pericles Loucopoulos, Óscar Pastor, and Ilias Petrounias, editors, *The Practice of Enterprise Modeling*, pages 42–57, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [Bel08] Michael Bell. Service-Oriented Modeling (SOA): Service Analysis, Design, and Architecture. Wiley & Sons, February 2008.
- [BF98] Dan Bulos and Sarah Forsman. Getting Started with ADAPT. White Paper, Symmetry, 1998.
- [BFN06] Tyson R. Browning, Ernst Fricke, and Herbert Negele. Key Concepts in Modeling Product Development Processes. Systems Engineering, 9(2):104–128, 5 2006.
- [BGRM08] Laura Bocchi, Stephen Gorton, and Stephan Reiff-Marganiec. Engineering Service Oriented Applications: From StPowla Processes to SRML Models. In José Luiz Fiadeiro and Paola Inverardi, editors, FASE, volume 4961 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 163–178. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008.
- [BHTG17] Mariam Ben Hassen, Mohamed Turki, and Faïez Gargouri. A BPMN Extension for Integrating Knowledge Dimension in Sensitive Business Process Models. In Marinos Themistocleous and Vincenzo Morabito, editors, *Information Systems*, pages 559–578, Cham, 2017. Springer International Publishing.
  - [BL20] Ilia Bider and Azeem Lodhi. Moving from Manufacturing to Software Business: A Business Model Transformation Pattern. In Joaquim Filipe, Michał Śmiałek, Alexander Brodsky, and Slimane Hammoudi, editors, *Enterprise Information Systems*, pages 514– 530, Cham, 2020. Springer International Publishing.
  - [BO08] BPMI.org and OMG. Business Process Modeling Notation Specification, Final Adopted Specification. http://www.omg.org/spec/ BPMN/1.1/PDF Last accessed on 08.03.2022, February 2008.

- [BP18] Andrea Bellisario and Andrey Pavlov. Performance Management Practices in Lean Manufacturing Organizations: A Systematic Review of Research Evidence. Production Planning & Control, 29(5):367–385, 2018.
  - [Bra] Steven Bradley. 3 Design Layouts: Gutenberg Diagram, Z-Pattern, And F-Pattern. https://bit.ly/2J3ZFZc Last accessed on 16.03.2022.
- [BRJ05] Grady Booch, James Rumbaugh, and Ivar Jacobson. Unified Modeling Language User Guide. Addison-Wesley, 2 edition, May 2005.
- [Bro09] Tyson R. Browning. The Many Views of a Process: Toward a Process Architecture Framework for Product Development Processes. System Engineering, 12(1):69–90, 2009.
- [BS07] Manu De Backer and Monique Snoeck. Business Process Verification: A Petri Net Approach. Technical Report KBI-0705, Catholic University of Leuven, Belgium, 2007.
- [Bun77] M Bunge. Treatise on Basic Philosophy: Volume 3: Ontology I: The Furniture of the World. Reidel, Boston, MA, 1977.
- [Bun79] M. Bunge. Treatise on Basic Philosophy, Volume 4, Ontology II: A World of Systems. D. Reidel Publishing Company, 1979.
- [Bus10] Ligita Businska. Multidimensional Business Process Modeling Approach. In Janis Grundspenkis, Marite Kirikova, Yannis Manolopoulos, and Leonids Novickis, editors, Advances in Databases and Information Systems, volume 5968 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 247–256. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [CC07] Dario Correal and Rubby Casallas. Using Domain Specific Languages for Software Process Modeling. In ACM OOPSLA, Workshop on Domain-Specific Modeling, 2007.
- [CdMM<sup>+</sup>09] Malu Castellanos, Ana Karla Alves de Medeiros, Jan Mendling, Barbara Weber, and A.J.M.M. Weijters. Handbook of Research on Business Process Modeling, chapter Business Process Intelligence, pages 456–480. Information Science Reference, 2009.
  - [Cen19] US Census. United States Census Bureau. https://data.census. gov/cedsci/table?q=United%20States&t=Age%20and%20Sex% 3AIndustry&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S2403&hidePreview=false Last accessed on 09.03.2022, 2019.

- [CG08] Corine Cauvet and Gwladys Guzelian. Business Process Modeling: A Service-Oriented Approach. In *Hawaii International Conference* on System Sciences, page 98, 2008.
- [Cha05] James F. Chang. Business Process Management Systems: Strategy and Implementation. Auerbach Publications, September 2005.
- [Chi00] Ed H. Chi. A Taxonomy of Visualization Techniques Using the Data State Reference Model. In INFOVIS '00: Proceedings of the IEEE Symposium on Information Vizualization 2000, pages 69+, Washington, DC, USA, 2000. IEEE Computer Society.
- [CKO92] Bill Curtis, Marc I. Kellner, and Jim Over. Process Modeling. Communications of the ACM, 35(9):75–90, 1992.
  - [Cle94] Jim Clemmer. Process Reengineering and Process Improvement: Not an either /or Choice. *CMA Magazine*, 68:36–39, 1994.
- [CMH09] Cristina Climent, Josefa Mula, and Jorge E. Hernandez. Improving the Business Processes of a Bank. Business Process Management Journal, 15(2):201–224, 2009.
  - [CP15] Cardner Carrick and Jennifer Proctor. Women in Manufacturing Study. Technical report, Deloitte Development LLP, June 2015. https://www2.deloitte.com/ content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/manufacturing/ us-mfg-women-in-manufacturing-2015-study.pdf.
- [CST04] Artur Caetano, António Rito Silva, and José M. Tribolet. Business Process Modeling with Objects and Roles. In *ICEIS (3)*, pages 109–114, 2004.
- [Cum07] Matt Cumberlidge. Business Process Management with JBoss jBPM: A Practical Guide for Business Analysts. Packt Publishing, 2007.
- [Dam07] Nadja Damij. Business Process Modelling using Diagrammatic and Tabular Techniques. Business Process Management Journal, 13(1):70–90, 2007.
- [Dav93] Thomas H. Davenport. Process Innovation: Reengineering Work Through Information Technology. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, 1993.
- [DDB05] Dursun Delen, Nikunj P. Dalal, and Perakath C. Benjamin. Integrated Modeling: The Key to Holistic Understanding of the Enterprise. *Commun. ACM*, 48(4):107–112, 2005.

- [Dey00] Anind Kumar Dey. Providing Architectural Support for Building Context-Aware Applications. PhD. Thesis. Georgia Institute of Technology, School of Information & Computer ScienceAtlanta, GA, United States., 2000.
- [DH07] Thomas H. Davenport and Jeanne G. Harris. Competing on Analytics: The New Science of Winning. General Management. Harvard Business School Press, 2007.
- [DPBG16] Andrea D'Ambrogio, Emiliano Paglia, Paolo Bocciarelli, and Andrea Giglio. Towards Performance-Oriented Perfective Evolution of BPMN Models. In Proceedings of the Symposium on Theory of Modeling & Simulation, TMS-DEVS '16, San Diego, CA, USA, 2016. Society for Computer Simulation International.
- [dRD<sup>+</sup>19] Adela del-Río-Ortega, Manuel Resinas, Amador Durán, Beatriz Bernárdez, Antonio Ruiz-Cortés, and Miguel Toro. Visual ppinot: A Graphical Notation for Process Performance Indicators. Bus. Inf. Syst. Eng., 61(2):137–161, 2019.
- [dRORRC19] Adela del Río-Ortega, Manuel Resinas, and Antonio Ruiz-Cortés. Business Process Performance Measurement, pages 416– 422. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2019.
- [DRvdAS08] Alexander Dreiling, Michael Rosemann, Wil M.P. van der Aalst, and Wasim Sadiq. From Conceptual Process Models to Running Systems: A Holistic Approach for the Configuration of Enterprise System Processes. *Decision Support Systems*, 45(2):189–207, 2008.
- [DvdAtH05] Marlon Dumas, Wil M.P. van der Aalst, and Arthur H.M. ter Hofstede. Process Aware Information Systems: Bridging People and Software Through Process Technology. Wiley & Sons, 2005.
  - [Eck07] Wayne Eckerson. Predictive Analytics. Extending the Value of Your Data Warehousing Investment. Technical Report Q1, TDWI Best Practices, 2007.
  - [Eck10] W.W. Eckerson. Performance Dashboards: Measuring, Monitoring, and Managing Your Business. Wiley, 2010.
  - [Eic04] Bernd Eichenauer. Optimizing Business Processes using Attributed Petri Nets. In Jörg Biethahn, editor, Proceedings of the 9th Symposium about Simulation as Commercial Decision Help, volume 1, pages 323–338, Braunlage, Germany, March 2004. Georg-August-Universität Göttingen Institute für Wirtschaftsinformatik.

- [ENMZ06] Roger Atsa Etoundi, Marcel Fouda Ndjodo, Marthe Aurellie Monessa, and Erick Patrick Zobo. Feature Oriented Workflow Modelling Based on Enterprise Human Resource Planning. Business Process Management Journal, 12(5):608–621, 2006.
  - [ES98] Peter Eeles and Oliver Sims. *Building Business Objects*. Wiley & Sons, New York, NY, USA, 1998.
- [ETDRORRC21] Bedilia Estrada-Torres, Adela Del-ROrtega, Manuel Resinas, and Antonio Ruiz-Cort Modeling Variability in the Performance Perspective of Business Processes. *IEEE Access*, 9:111683–111703, 2021.
  - [EVTG20] Jonnro Erasmus, Irene T. P. Vanderfeesten, Konstantinos Traganos, and Paul Grefen. Using Business Process Models for the Specification of Manufacturing Operations. *Computers in Industry*, 123:103297, 2020.
    - [FJ07] Matthias Flügge and Michael C. Jaeger. Adding Value to E-Services: a Business-Oriented Model. In Jie Lu, Guangquan Zhang, and Da Ruan, editors, *E-Service Intelligence*, volume 37 of *Studies in Computational Intelligence*, pages 517–534. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
    - [FS16] Henri Fayol and Constance Storrs. *General and Industrial Management*. Ravenio Books, 2016.
  - [FSER17] Soufiane Faieq, Rajaa Saidi, Hamid Elghazi, and Moulay Driss Rahmani. C2IoT: A Framework for Cloud-Based Context-Aware Internet of Things Services for Smart Cities. In 14th International Conference on Mobile Systems and Pervasive Computing (MobiSPC 2017) / 12th International Conference on Future Networks and Communications (FNC 2017) / Affiliated Workshops, July 24-26, 2017, Leuven, Belgium, pages 151–158, 2017.
  - [GCC<sup>+</sup>04] Daniela Grigori, Fabio Casati, Malu Castellanos, Umeshwar Dayal, Mehmet Sayal, and Ming-Chien Shan. Business Process Intelligence. Computers in Industry, 53(3):321–343, April 2004.
    - [Geh65] Edmund A. Gehan. A Generalized Wilcoxon Test for Comparing Arbitrarily Singly-Censored Samples. *Biometrika*, 52(1-2):203– 224, 06 1965.
    - [GHA10] Nicolas Genon, Patrick Heymans, and Daniel Amyot. Analysing the Cognitive Effectiveness of the BPMN 2.0 Visual Notation. In Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Software Language Engineering, SLE'10, pages 377–396, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010. Springer-Verlag.

- [GI<sup>+</sup>05] Peter F. Green, Marta Indulska, Jan Recker, and Michael Rosemann. Do Process Modelling Techniques Get Better? A Comparative Ontological Analysis of BPMN. In B Campbell, J. Underwood, and D. Bunker, editors, Proceedings of the 16th Australasian Conference on Information Systems (ACIS 2005): Socialising IT: Thinking About the People, Sydney, 2005, pages 2–11, 2005.
- [Gia01] George M. Giaglis. A Taxonomy of Business Process Modeling and Information Systems Modeling Techniques. International Journal of Flexible Manufacturing Systems, 13(2):209–228, April 2001.
- [GK95] Varun Grover and William J. Kettinger. Business Process Change : Reengineering Concepts, Methods and Technologies. Idea Group Publishing, April 1995.
- [GK06] Christiane Gernert and Veit Köppen. Handbuch-IT in der Verwaltung, chapter Geschäftsprozesse Optimal Gestalten, pages 195– 224. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006.
- [GvdA06] Christian W. Günther and Wil M.P. van der Aalst. A Generic Import Framework for Process Event Logs. In J. Eder and S. Dustdar, editors, Business Process Management Workshops, Workshop on Business Process Intelligence, volume 4103, pages 81–92. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006.
  - [GW03] Andrew Gemino and Yair Wand. Evaluating Modeling Techniques Based on Models of Learning. Communications of the ACM, 46(10):79–84, 10 2003.
  - [Har91] James H. Harrington. Business Process Improvement: The Breakthrough Strategy for Total Quality, Productivity, and Competitiveness. McGraw-Hill, April 1991.
  - [HB95] Thomas Hess and Leo Brecht. State of the art des Business Process Redesign: Darstellung und Vergleich Bestehender Methoden. Gabler-Verlag, Wiesbaden, 2 edition, 1995.
  - [HC93] Michael Hammer and James Champy. Reengineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution. Harper Collins, London, 1993.
  - [Hev07] Alan R. Hevner. The Three Cycle View of Design Science Research. Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems, 19(2):87– 92, 2007.
- [HMPR04] Alan R. Hevner, Salvatore T. March, Jinsoo Park, and Sudha Ram. Design Science in Information Systems Research. MIS Quarterly, 28(1):75–105, March 2004.

- [HRW00] Martin Höst, Björn Regnell, and Claes Wohlin. Using Students as Subjects - A Comparative Students and Professionals in Lead-Time Impact Assessment. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 5(3):201–214, nov 2000.
  - [HS15] Bernd Heinrich and Dominik Schön. Automated Planning of context-aware Process Models. In European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS), 5 2015.
- [HWC13] M. Hollander, D.A. Wolfe, and E. Chicken. Nonparametric Statistical Methods. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics. Wiley, 2013.
- [HZD<sup>+</sup>19] Xabier Heguy, Gregory Zacharewicz, Yves Ducq, Said Tazi, and Bruno Vallespir. A Performance Measurement Extension for BPMN: One Step Further Quantifying Interoperability in Process Model, pages 333–345. Springer, 01 2019.
  - [IBM69] IBM. Flowcharting Techniques. Technical report, IBM Data Processing Techniques, Yorktown Heights, NY, 1969.
- [IDPD21] Benedetto Intrigila, Giuseppe Della Penna, and Andrea DAmbrogio. A Lightweight BPMN Extension for Business Process-Oriented Requirements Engineering. Computers, 10(12), 2021.
  - [IG08] Jon Ingvaldsen and Jon Gulla. Preprocessing Support for Large Scale Process Mining of SAP Transactions. Business Process Management Workshops, 4928:30–41, 2008.
  - [IGG03] Claudia Imhoff, Nicholas Galemmo, and Jonathan G. Geiger. Mastering Data Warehouse Design: Relational and Dimensional Techniques. Timely, Practical, Reliable. Wiley, 2003.
- [IGHP05] Jon Espen Ingvaldsen, Jon Atle Gulla, Ole Andreas Hegle, and Atle Prange. Empirical Business Models. In CAiSE Short Paper Proceedings, volume 161 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings. CEUR-WS, 2005.
  - [IHG01] Zahir Irani, Vlatka Hlupic, and George Giaglis. Editorial: Business Process Reengineering: A Modeling Perspective. International Journal of Flexible Manufacturing Systems, 13(2):99–104, April 2001.
  - [Inm92] William H. Inmon. Building the Data Warehouse. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, NY, USA, 1992.
  - [Inm05] William H. Inmon. Building the Data Warehouse (4th Ed.). Wiley India Pvt. Limited, 2005.

- [IRRG09] Marta Indulska, Jan Recker, Michael Rosemann, and Peter Green. Business Process Modeling: Current Issues and Future Challenges. In Pascal van Eck, Jaap Gordijn, and Roel Wieringa, editors, Advanced Information Systems Engineering, 21st International Conference, Proceedings, volume 5565 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 501–514. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009.
  - [ISA00] ISA. Enterprise Control System Integration. Part 1: Models and Terminology, 2000.
  - [ISO01] ISO/IEC 9126-1:2001 Software Engineering Product Quality -Part 1: Quality Model. Standard, http://www.iso.org/iso/ catalogue\_detail?csnumber=54534 Last accessed on 17.03.2022, 2001. The International Organization for Standardization.
  - [ISO11] ISO/IEC25010: 2011 Systems and Software Engineering–Systems and Software Quality Requirements and Evaluation (SQuaRE)– System and Software Quality Models. Standard, https://www.iso. org/standard/35733.html Last accessed on 17.03.2022, 2011. The International Organization for Standardization.
  - [ISO13] ISO/IEC 19510:2013 Information technology Object Management Group Business Process Model and Notation reviewed 2022. Standard, https://www.iso.org/standard/62652.html Last accessed on 17.03.2022, 2013. The International Organization for Standardization.
  - [iso14a] ISO 22400-1:2014 Automation Systems and Integration, Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for Manufacturing Operations Management, Part 1: Overview, Concepts and Terminology. Standard, https://www.iso.org/standard/56847.html Last accessed on 17.03.2022, 2014. The International Organization for Standardization.
  - [iso14b] ISO 22400-2:2014 Automation Systems and Integration, Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for Manufacturing Operations Management, Part 2: Definitions and Descriptions. Standard, https: //www.iso.org/standard/54497.html Last accessed on 17.03.2022, 2014. The International Organization for Standardization.
  - [Jae06] Michael C. Jaeger. Modelling of Service Compositions: Relations to Business Process and Workflow Modelling. In Dimitrios Georgakopoulos, Norbert Ritter, Boualem Benatallah, Christian Zirpins, George Feuerlicht, Marten Schönherr, and Hamid R. Motahari Nezhad, editors, ICSOC Workshops, Service-Oriented Computing, ICSOC 2006, 4th International Conference, volume 4652

of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 141–153, Chicago, IL, USA, December 2006. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

- [JE07] Diane Jordan and John Evdemon. Web Services Business Process Execution Language Version 2.0. OASIS Standard, April 2007.
- [JKCP15] Ankur Joshi, Saket Kale, Satish Chandel, and Dinesh Kumar Pal. Likert scale: Explored and explained. *British Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 7:396–403, 2015.
  - [Kam21] Timotheus Kampik. Visualizing Business Process KPIs, 2021. Signavio GmbH, https://www.signavio.com/post/ process-kpis-visualization/ Last accessed on 09.12.2021.
- [KCPM21] Tomasz Krym, Lukasz Chomatek, and Aneta Poniszewska-Maranda. Process Business Modeling of Emerging Security Threats with BPMN Extension. In 2021 Workshop on Information Security and Privacy, 2021.
  - [KE19] Andrew P. King and Robert J. Eckersley. Chapter 6 Inferential Statistics III: Nonparametric Hypothesis Testing. In Andrew P. King and Robert J. Eckersley, editors, *Statistics for Biomedical Engineers and Scientists*, pages 119–145. Academic Press, 2019.
- [KGK<sup>+</sup>11] Oliver Kopp, Katharina Görlach, Dimka Karastoyanova, Frank Leymann, Michael Reiter, David Schumm, Mirko Sonntag, Steve Strauch, Tobias Unger, Matthias Wieland, and Rania Khalaf. A Classification of BPEL Extensions. Journal of Systems Integration, 4(2):3–28, 2011.
  - [Kin06] Ekkart Kindler. On the Semantics of EPCs: Resolving the Vicious Circle. *Data & Knowledge Engineering*, 56(1):23–40, January 2006.
- [KJHP15] Mateja Kocbek, Gregor Jost, Marjan Hericko, and Gregor Polancic. Business Process Model and Notation: The Current State of Affairs. Computer Science and Information System, 12:509–539, 2015.
- [KKKS11] Ateeq Khan, Christian Kästner, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. Service Variability Patterns. In Proceedings of the 30th International Conference on Advances in Conceptual Modeling: Recent Developments and New Directions, ER'11, pages 130–140. Springer-Verlag, 2011.
  - [KL07] Birgit Korherr and Beate List. Extending the EPC and the BPMN with Business Process Goals and Performance Measures. In Jorge

Cardoso, José Cordeiro, and Joaquim Filipe, editors, *Proceedings* of the 9th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems (ICEIS)(3), pages 287–294, 2007.

- [KL09] Ateeq Khan and Azeem Lodhi. Analysis of Business Processes in Heterogeneous Environment: SAP as a Use Case. Master thesis, School of Computer Science, University of Magdeburg, Germany, February 2009.
- [Kle10] Jürgen Kletti. *Manufacturing Execution System MES*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [KLK<sup>+</sup>10] Ateeq Khan, Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, Gamal Kassem, and Gunter Saake. Applying Process Mining in SOA Environments. In Asit Dan, Frédéric Gittler, and Farouk Toumani, editors, Service-Oriented Computing ICSOC Service Wave 2009 Workshops, volume 6275 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 293–302. Springer, 2010.
  - [KLO08] Stefan Klink, Yu Li, and Andreas Oberweis. INCOME2010 -A Toolset for Developing Process-Oriented Information Systems Based on Petri Nets. In Simutools '08: Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Simulation Tools and Techniques for Communications, Networks and Systems & Workshops, pages 1–8, Belgium, 2008. ICST.
    - [KN96] Robert S. Kaplan and David P. Norton. The Balanced Scorecard: Translating Strategy into Action. Harvard Business Review Press, 1996.
    - [KR05] Gamal Kassem and Claus Rautenstrauch. Application Usage Mining to Improve Enterprise Workflows: ERP Systems SAP R/3 as Example. In Mehdi Khosrow-Pour, editor, Managing Modern Organizations Through Information Technology, chapter 86, pages 358–362. Information Resources Management Association, 2005.
    - [KR13] Ralph Kimball and Margy Ross. The Data Warehouse Toolkit: The Definitive Guide to Dimensional Modeling. Wiley, 2013.
  - [KSG05] Veit Köppen, Thorsten Schwarz, and Christiane Gernert. Ein Transformationsansatz in der Geschäftsprozessmodellierung. In Roland Petrasch, Reinhard Höhn, Stephan Höppner, Herbert Wetzel, and Manuela Wiemers, editors, Entscheidungsfall Vorgehensmodelle - 12. Workshop der GI-Fachgruppe WI-VM, pages 71–80, Berlin, 2005. Shaker Verlag Aachen.

- [KSS12] Veit Köppen, Gunter Saake, and Kai-Uwe Sattler. Data Warehouse Technologien. MITP-Verlag, 2012.
- [KT21] Dorota Klimecka-Tatar. Analysis and Improvement of Business Processes Management Based on Value Stream Mapping (VSM) in Manufacturing Companies. Polish Journal of Management Studies, 23(2):213–231, 2021.
- [KZ99] Kurt Kosanke and Martin Zelm. CIMOSA Modelling Processes. Computers in Industry, 40(2-3):141–153, 1999.
  - [Laj] Peep Laja. 10 Useful Findings About How People View Websites. https://bit.ly/2MLcUyv Last accessed on 09.03.2022.
- [LDJD10] Irv Lustig, Brenda Dietrich, Christer Johnson, and Christopher Dziekan. The Analytics Journey: An IBM View of the Structured Data Analysis Landscape: Descriptive, Predictive and Prescriptive Analytics. *INFORMS Analytics Magazine*, pages 11–18, 2010.
- [LHBE10] William Lidwell, Kritina Holden, Jill Butler, and Kimberly Elam. Universal Principles of Design, Revised and Updated: 125 Ways to Enhance Usability, Influence Perception, Increase Appeal, Make Better Design Decisions, and Teach Through Design. Rockport Publishers, 2010.
  - [Lik32] R. Likert. A Technique for the Measurement of Attitudes. Number 136-165 in A Technique for the Measurement of Attitudes. Archives of Psychology, 1932.
  - [LK06] Beate List and Birgit Korherr. An Evaluation of Conceptual Business Process Modelling Languages. In Proceedings of the 2006 ACM symposium on Applied computing, pages 1532–1539, Dijon, France, 2006.
- [LKKS10a] Azeem Lodhi, Gamal Kassem, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. Building AS-IS Process Model from Task Descriptions. In Proceedings of The International Conference On Frontiers of Information Technology (FIT 2010). ACM, December 2010.
- [LKKS10b] Azeem Lodhi, Gamal Kassem, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. Investigation of Graph Mining for Business Processes. In Proceedings of The International Conference on Intelligence and Information Technology ICHT, volume 2, pages 293–297, Lahore, Pakistan, October 2010. IEEE Computer Society.
  - [LKR08] Azeem Lodhi, Gamal Kassem, and Claus Rautenstrauch. Application of Process Mining in Knowledge Management. In *Proceedings*

of The 3rd International Conference on Interactive Mobile and Computer Aided Learning (IMCL 2008), Amman, Jordan, April 2008. CD-ROM, ISBN 978-3-89958-351-9.

- [LKR09] Azeem Lodhi, Gamal Kassem, and Claus Rautenstrauch. Modeling and Analysis of Business Processes using Business Objects. In Proceedings of The 2nd IEEE International Conference on Computer, Control and Communication (IEEE-IC4), pages 1–6, Karachi, Pakistan, February 2009.
- [LKS10] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. Post Execution Analysis of Business Processes: Taxonomy and Challenges. Technical Report 9, University of Magdeburg, 2010.
- [LKS11a] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. An Extension of BPMN for Post Execution Analysis. In The 5th IEEE International Conference on Software, Knowledge Information, Industrial Management, and Applications (SKIMA), Benevento, Italy, September 2011. IEEE Computer Society.
- [LKS11b] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. An Extension of BPMN Meta-model for Evaluation of Business Processes. Journal of Riga Technical University, 43:27–34, 2011.
- [LKS11c] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. Business Process Improvement Framework and Representational Support. In Proceedings of The Third International Conference on Intelligent Human Computer Interaction (IHCI), Advances in Intelligent and Soft Computing, pages 155–167, Prague, Czech Republic, 8 2011. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [LKS11d] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, and Gunter Saake. Business Process Modeling: Active Research Areas and Challenges. Technical Report 1, University of Magdeburg, 2011.
- [LKST18] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, Gunter Saake, and Klaus Turowski. Streamlining Processes for Digitalization. In 11th IADIS International Conference Information Systems 2018, IADIS Series, pages 95–104, Lisabon, Portugal, April 2018. International Association for Development of the Information Society IADIS.
- [LKW<sup>+</sup>14] Azeem Lodhi, Veit Köppen, Stefan Wind, Gunter Saake, and Klaus Turowski. Business Process Modeling Language for Performance Evaluation. In 2014 47th Hawaii International Conference on System SciencesHICSS, volume 00, pages 3768–3777, January 2014.

- [LO15] Dan Linstedt and Michael Olschimke. Building a Scalable Data Warehouse with Data Vault 2.0. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA, 1st edition, 2015.
- [LS07] Ruopeng Lu and Shazia Sadiq. A Survey of Comparative Business Process Modeling Approaches. In Witold Abramowicz, editor, Business Information Systems, 10th International Conference, BIS 2007, Poznan, Poland, April 25-27, 2007, Proceedings, volume 4439 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 82–94. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
- [LST22] Azeem Lodhi, Gunter Saake, and Klaus Turowski. Empirical evaluation of BPMN extension language. In Jorge Bernardino, Elio Masciari, Colette Rolland, and Joaquim Filipe, editors, Proceedings of the 14th International Joint Conference on Knowledge Discovery, Knowledge Engineering and Knowledge Management, IC3K 2022, Volume 3: KMIS, Valletta, Malta, October 24-26, 2022, pages 239–247. SCITEPRESS, 2022.
  - [LT99] Wenhong Luo and Y. Alex Tung. A Framework for Selecting Business Process Modeling Methods. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 99(7):312–319, 1999.
- [LWC<sup>+</sup>21] Qianwen Li, Jing Wang, Gaojian Chen, Yunjing Yuan, and Sheng Ye. Business-Oriented IoT-Aware Process Modeling and Execution. In Web Information Systems and Applications: 18th International Conference, WISA 2021, Kaifeng, China, September 2426, 2021, Proceedings, page 747755, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2021. Springer-Verlag.
  - [LYP02] Fu-Ren Lin, Meng-Chyn Yang, and Yu-Hua Pai. A Generic Structure for Business Process Modeling. Business Process Management Journal, 8(1):19–41, 2002.
  - [LZB18] Fadila Louar, Karim Zarour, and Djamel Benmerzoug. Modelling Business Processes for Outsourcing into the Fog and Cloud Computing. In Paolo Ceravolo, María Teresa Gómez López, and Maurice van Keulen, editors, Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium on Data-driven Process Discovery and Analysis (SIM-PDA 2018), Seville, Spain, December 13-14, 2018, volume 2270 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 18–31. CEUR-WS.org, 2018.
  - [Mac93] A.L. Macintosh. The Need for Enriched Knowledge Representation for Enterprise Modelling. In Artificial Intelligence (AI) in Enterprise Modelling, IEEE Colloquium (Digest No. 078), pages 3/1 - 3/3, London, April 1993. IEEE Computer Society.

- [Mal05] Shadan Malik. Enterprise Dashboards: Design and Best Practices for IT. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, NY, USA, 2005.
- [Maz09] Riccardo Mazza. Introduction to Information Visualization. Springer, London, 1 edition, 2009.
- [MDFL<sup>+</sup>20] Niels Martin, Jochen De Weerdt, Carlos Fernez-Llatas, Avigdor Gal, Roberto Gatta, Gema Ibz, Owen Johnson, Felix Mannhardt, Luis Marco-Ruiz, Steven Mertens, Jorge Munoz-Gama, Fernando Seoane, Jan Vanthienen, Moe Thandar Wynn, David Baltar Boil, Jochen Bergs, Mieke Joosten-Melis, Stijn Schretlen, and Bart Van Acker. Recommendations for Enhancing the Usability and Understandability of Process Mining in Healthcare. Artificial Intelligence in Medicine, 109:101962, 2020.
  - [Men99] Gregory N Mentzas. Coupling Object-Oriented and Workflow Modelling in Business and Information Process Reengineering. Information Knowledge Systems Management, 1(1):63–87, 1999.
  - [MK05] Toshiyuki Miyamoto and Sadatoshi Kumagai. A Survey of Object-Oriented Petri nets and Analysis Methods. IEICE Transactions on Fundamentals of Electronics, Communications and Computer Sciences, E88-A(11):2964–2971, 2005.
  - [MLZ05] Jan Mendling, Kristian Bisgaard Lassen, and Uwe Zdun. Transformation Strategies between Block-Oriented and Graph-Oriented Process Modelling Languages. In *Multikonferenz Wirtschaftsinformatik 2006. Band 2*, pages 297–312. GITO-Verlag, 2005.
  - [Moo09] Daniel Moody. The Physics of Notations: Toward a Scientific Basis for Constructing Visual Notations in Software Engineering. *IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering*, 35(6):756–779, 2009.
  - [MS95] Salvatore T. March and Gerald F. Smith. Design and Natural Science Research on Information Technology. Decision Support System, 15(4):251–266, December 1995.
  - [Mue04] Michael Zur Muehlen. Workflow-based Process Controlling. Foundation, Design, and Implementation of Workflow-driven Process Information Systems., volume 6 of Advances in Information Systems and Management Science. Logos, Berlin, 2004.
- [MvDvdA07] Jan Mendling, Boudewijn F. van Dongen, and Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Getting Rid of the OR-Join in Business Process Models. In EDOC '07: Proceedings of the 11th IEEE International Enterprise Distributed Object Computing Conference, page 3, Washington, DC, USA, 2007. IEEE Computer Society.

- [MVvD<sup>+</sup>08] Jan Mendling, H.M.W. Verbeek, Boudewijn F. van Dongen, Wil M.P. van der Aalst, and G. Neumann. Detection and Prediction of Errors in EPCs of the SAP Reference Model. Data & Knowledge Engineering, 64(1):312–329, 2008.
  - [NE05] Selmin Nurcan and Marc-Henri Edme. Intention-Driven Modeling for Flexible Workflow Applications. Software Process: Improvement and Practice, 10(4):363–377, 2005.
  - [Nic02] Jill Nicola. Business Object Modeling with Collaboration Patterns. White Paper, Streamlined Modeling, 2002.
  - [NK06] Anna Gunhild Nysetvold and John Krogstie. Assessing Business Process Modeling Languages using a Generic Quality Framework. In Advanced Topics in Database Research, Volume 5, pages 79–93. IGI Global, 2006.
- [OAWtH15] Chun Ouyang, Michael Adams, Moe Thandar Wynn, and Arthur H. M. ter Hofstede. *Workflow Management*, pages 475–506. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2015.
- [ODvdA<sup>+</sup>09] Chun Ouyang, Marlon Dumas, Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Arthur H.M. ter Hofstede, and Jan Mendling. From Business Process Models to Process-oriented Software Systems. ACM Transactions on Software Engineering and Methodology, 19(1):1–37, 2009.
  - [OHS02] Andreas Opdahl and Brian Henderson-Sellers. Ontological Evaluation of the UML Using the Bunge-Wand-Weber Model. *Software* and Systems Modeling, 1:43–67, 09 2002.
  - [OMG11] OMG. Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN), Version 2.0. http://www.omg.org/spec/BPMN/2.0 Last accessed on 17.03.2022, 1 2011.
    - [Par15] David Parmenter. Key Performance Indicators: Developing, Implementing, and Using Winning KPIs. Wiley, 2015.
    - [Pen05] James S. Pennypacker. Measures of Project Management Performance and Value: A Benchmark of Current Business Practices. White Paper, Center for Business Practices: PM Solutions, 2005.
    - [Pen16] Ludmila Penicina. Controlling Business Object States in Business Process Models to Support Compliance. In Kurt Sandkuhl and Eva Söderström, editors, Proceedings of the Doctoral Consortium at the 9th IFIP WG 8.1 Working Conference on The Practice of Enterprise Modeling (PoEM-DC 2016) co-located with the 9th IFIP

WG 8.1 Working Conference on The Practice of Enterprise Modeling (PoEM 2016), Skövde, Sweden, November 8th, 2016, volume 1765 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 6–13. CEUR-WS.org, 2016.

- [Pen17] Ludmila Penicina. Towards Supporting Business Process Compliance with Policies. In Björn Johansson, Charles Møller, Atanu Chaudhuri, and Frantisek Sudzina, editors, Perspectives in Business Informatics Research - 16th International Conference, BIR 2017, Copenhagen, Denmark, August 28-30, 2017, Proceedings, volume 295 of Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, pages 93–107. Springer, 2017.
- [Per17] Mark J. Perry. Fortune 500 Firms 1955 v. 2017: Only 60 Remain, Thanks to the Creative Destruction that Fuels Economic Prosperity. http://goo.gl/BgRxZj Last accessed on 16.03.2022, 10 2017.
- [Pet62] Carl Adam Petri. Kommunikation mit Automaten. PhD thesis, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany, 1962.
- [Pha98] Keith Thomas Phalp. The CAP Framework for Business Process Modelling. Information and Software Technology, 40(13):731–744, November 1998.
- [PO19] Gregor Polančič and Boštjan Orban. A BPMN-Based Language for Modeling Corporate Communications. Comput. Stand. Interfaces, 65(C):4560, jul 2019.
- [PS00] Keith Phalp and Martin Shepperd. Quantitative Analysis of Static Models of Processes. Journal of Systems and Software, 52(2-3):105–112, June 2000.
- [PTRC07] Ken Peffers, Tuure Tuunanen, Marcus Rothenberger, and Samir Chatterjee. A Design Science Research Methodology for Information Systems Research. Journal of Management Information Systems, 24(3):45–77, December 2007.
- [PVE<sup>+</sup>18] Melanie Polderdijk, Irene Vanderfeesten, Jonnro Erasmus, Kostas Traganos, Tim Bosch, Gu van Rhijn, and Dirk Fahland. A Visualization of Human Physical Risks in Manufacturing Processes Using BPMN. In Ernest Teniente and Matthias Weidlich, editors, Business Process Management Workshops, pages 732–743, Cham, 2018. Springer International Publishing.
- [RBdC21] Vítor Hugo Ribeiro, João Barata, and Paulo Rupino da Cunha. A BPMN Extension to Model Inter-Organizational Processes in Industry 4.0. In Emilio Insfrán, Silvia Abrahão, Marta Fernández,

Chris Barry, Michael Lang, Henry Linger, and Christoph Schneider, editors, Information Systems Development: Crossing Boundaries between Development and Operations (DevOps) in Information Systems (ISD2021 Proceedings), Valencia, Spain, September 8-10, 2021. Universitat Politècnica de València / Association for Information Systems, 2021.

- [Rec06] Jan Recker. Process Modeling in the 21st Century. *BPTrends*, 3:1–8, May 2006.
- [Rec08] Jan Recker. BPMN Modeling Who, Where, How and Why. BP Trends, Science & Engineering Faculty, 5, 3 2008.
- [Rec10] Jan Recker. Opportunities and Constraints: The Current Struggle with BPMN. Business Process Management Journal, 16(1):181– 201, 2010.
- [Rei21] Hajo A. Reijers. Business Process Management: The Evolution of a Discipline. Computers in Industry, 126(C), 4 2021.
- [RGL07] Bernard Rosner, Robert J. Glynn, and Mei-Ling T. Lee. Extension of the Rank Sum Test for Clustered Data: Two-Group Comparisons with Group Membership Defined at the Subunit Level. *Biometrics*, 62(4):1251–1259, 01 2007.
- [RIRG06] Jan Recker, Marta Indulska, Michael Rosemann, and Peter F. Green. How Good is BPMN Really? Insights from Theory and Practice. In Jan Ljungberg and Magnus Andersson, editors, Proceedings of the Fourteenth European Conference on Information Systems, ECIS 2006, Göteborg, Sweden, 2006, pages 1582–1593, 2006.
  - [RM07] Jan Recker and Jan Mendling. Adequacy in Process Modeling: A Review of Measures and a Proposed Research Agenda. In Barbara Pernici and Jon Atle Gull, editors, CAiSE 2007 Workshop Proceedings, volume 1 of Eighth Workshop on Business Process Modeling, Development, and Support (BPMDS 2007), pages 235– 244., Trondheim, Norway, June 2007.
- [RRF08] Michael Rosemann, Jan Recker, and Christian Flender. Contextualisation of Business Processes. International Journal of Business Process Integration and Management, 3(1):47–60, 2008.
- [RRF11] Michael Rosemann, Jan Recker, and Christian Flender. Designing Context-Aware Business Processes. In K. Siau, R. Chiang, and Hardgrave, editors, Systems Analysis and Design. People, Processes and Projects, pages 51–73. M.E. Sharpe, 2011.

- [RRIG09] Jan Recker, Michael Rosemann, Marta Indulska, and Peter Green. Business Process Modeling: A Comparative Analysis. Journal of the Association for Information Systems, 10(4):333–363, 2009.
- [RRK07] Jan Recker, Michael Rosemann, and John Krogstie. Ontology-Versus Pattern-Based Evaluation of Process Modeling Languages: A Comparison. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 20:48, 01 2007.
- [RTHVDAM06] Nick Russell, Arthur HM Ter Hofstede, Wil MP Van Der Aalst, and Nataliya Mulyar. Workflow Control-flow Patterns: A Revised View. BPM Center Report BPM-06-22, BPMcenter. org, 2006, 2006.
  - [RvdA06] Anne Rozinat and Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Decision Mining in ProM. In International Conference on Business Process Management (BPM 2006), volume 4102, pages 420–425, Berlin, Germany, 2006. Springer-Verlag.
    - [RW08] Marek Rychly and Petr Weiss. Modeling of Service-Oriented Architecture: From Business Process to Service Realisation. In ENASE 2008 Third International Conference on Evaluation of Novel Approaches to Software Engineering Proceedings, pages 140– 146, 2008.
    - [SA09] Len Silverston and Paul Agnew. *The Data Model Resource Book:* Universal Patterns for Data Modeling. Wiley Publishing, volume 3 edition, 2009.
  - [SAW08] Mikael Svahnberg, Aybüke Aurum, and Claes Wohlin. Using Students as Subjects - an Empirical Evaluation. In Proceedings of the Second ACM-IEEE International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement, ESEM '08, pages 288–290, New York, NY, USA, 2008. Association for Computing Machinery.
  - [SBK10] Inese Supulniece, Ligita Businska, and Marite Kirikova. Towards Extending BPMN with the Knowledge Dimension. In Wil M.P. van der Aalst et al., editor, *Enterprise, Business-Process and In*formation Systems Modeling, volume 50 of Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing, pages 69–81. Springer, 2010.
  - [SCDS02] Mehmet Sayal, Fabio Casati, Umesh Dayal, and Ming-Chien Shan. Business Process Cockpit. In In Proceedings Of 28th International Conference On Very Large Data Bases (VLDB'02), pages 880–883. Morgan Kaufmann, 2002.

- [Sch98a] August-Wilhelm Scheer. ARIS-Business Process Frameworks. Springer-Verlag, New York, Inc. Secaucus, NJ, USA, 2 edition, 1998.
- [Sch98b] August-Wilhelm Scheer. ARIS-Business Process Modeling. Springer-Verlag, New York, Inc. Secaucus, NJ, USA, 2 edition, 1998.
  - [Ses07] Gokul Seshadri. Enterprise Architecture and Integration : Methods, Implementation, and Technologies, chapter XV: Case Study Implementing SOA: Methodology and Best Practices Methodology and best practices, pages 255–272. IGI Global, 2007.
  - [SG10] Shazia Sadiq and Guido Governatori. Managing Regulatory Compliance in Business Processes. In Jan vom Brocke and Michael Rosemann, editors, Handbook on Business Process Management 2 : Strategic Alignment, Governance, People and Culture, International Handbooks on Information Systems, pages 159–175. Springer, Berlin, 2010.
- [SGN07] Shazia Sadiq, Guido Governatori, and Kioumars Namiri. Modeling Control Objectives for Business Process Compliance. In BPM'07: Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Business Process Management, pages 149–164. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
- [SHK<sup>+</sup>07] Duncan R. Shaw, Christopher P. Holland, Peter Kawalek, Bob Snowdon, and Brian Warboys. Elements of a Business Process Management System: Theory and Practice. Business Process Management Journal, 13(1):91–107, 2007.
  - [SN07] Oumaima Saidani and Selmin Nurcan. Towards Context Aware Business Process Modelling. In Proceedings of Workshop on Business Process Modelling, Development, and Support (BPMDS'07), Trondheim, Norway, 2007.
  - [sta93] IDEF-0 Integrated-Computer-Aided Manufacturing Definition, Activity Model, Integration Definition for Function Modeling. www.idef.com/pdf/idef0.pdf Last accessed on 16.03.2022, 12 1993.
  - [Ste09] Sebastian Stein. Modelling Method Extension for Service-Oriented Business Process Management. PhD thesis, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Kiel, Germany, December 2009.
  - [Sun14] Dennis Sunny. Manufacturing Process Guided Analysis Dashboard. https://tabsoft.co/2pTGfh3 Last accessed on 16.03.2022. Tableau Public Dashboards, July 2014.

- [Sut97] Jeff Sutherland. The Object Technology Architecture: Business Objects for Corporate Information Systems. In O. Etzion en P. Scheuermann, editor, Business Object Design and Implementation. Springer, 1997.
- [TdRORC16] Bedilia Estrada Torres, Adela del Rio Ortega, Manuel Resinas, and Antonio Ruiz Cortes. Identifying Variability in Process Performance Indicators. In Marcello La Rosa, Peter Loos, and Oscar Pastor, editors, Business Process Management Forum, pages 91– 107, Cham, November 2016. Springer.
  - [TRJ14] Nidhi Tiwari, Gelli Ravikumar, and Rushikesh K. Joshi. Towards End-to-End Multi-Dimensional Quality Evaluation of Business Processes. In Proceedings of the 7th India Software Engineering Conference, ISEC '14, New York, NY, USA, 2014. Association for Computing Machinery.
  - [TSD13] Efraim Turban, Ramesh Sharda, and Dursun Delen. Decision Support and Business Intelligence Systems. Pearson Custom Library. Pearson Education UK, 2013.
  - [TW20] Hana Tomaskova and Gerhard-Wilhelm Weber. Approaches Combining Methods of Operational Research with Business Process Model and Notation: A Systematic Review. *PeerJ Computer Science*, 6:e301, November 2020.
  - [vdA96] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Three Good Reasons for Using a Petri net based Workflow Management System. In S. Navathe and T. Wakayama, editors, Proceedings of the International Working Conference on Information and Process Integration in Enterprises IPIC'96, pages 179–201, Camebridge, Massachusetts, 1996.
  - [vdA98] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. The Application of Petri Nets to Workflow Management. The Journal of Circuits, Systems and Computers, 8:21–66, 1998.
  - [vdA99] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Formalization and Verification of Event-Driven Process Chains. Information and Software Technology, 41(10):639–650, July 1999.
  - [vdA03] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Challenges in Business Process Management: Verification of Business Processes using Petri Nets. Bulletin of the European Association for Theoretical Computer Science, 80:174–198, 2003.
  - [vdA05] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Business Alignment: Using Process Mining as a Tool for Delta Analysis and Conformance Testing. *Re*quirement Engineering, 10(3):198–211, 2005.

- [vdA08] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Process-Aware Information Systems: Design, Enactment, and Analysis. In Benjamin W. Wah, editor, Wiley Encyclopedia of Computer Science and Engineering. Wiley & Sons, 2008.
- [vdA09] Wil M. P. van der Aalst. Using Process Mining to Generate Accurate and Interactive Business Process Maps. In Witold Abramowicz and Dominik Flejter, editors, *Business Information Systems Workshops*, pages 1–14. Springer, 2009.
- [vdA16] Wil M.P. van der Aalst. Process Mining: Data Science in Action. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2016.
- [vdABvH<sup>+</sup>07] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Michael Beisiegel, Kees van Hee, Dieter König, and Christian Stahl. An SOA-Based Architecture Framework. International Journal of Business Process Integration and Management (IJBPIM), 2(2):91–101, 2007.
  - [vdARS05] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Hajo A. Reijers, and Minseok Song. Discovering Social Networks from Event Logs. Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 14(6):549–593, 2005.
- [vdARW<sup>+</sup>07] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Hajo A. Reijers, A.J.M.M. Weijters, Boudewijn F. van Dongen, Ana Karla Alves de Medeiros, Minseok Song, and H.M.W. Verbeek. Business Process Mining: An Industrial Application. *Information Systems*, 32(5):713–732, 2007.
- [vdAtHKB03] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Arthur H.M. ter Hofstede, Bartek Kiepuszewski, and Alistair P. Barros. Workflow Patterns. Distrib. Parallel Databases, 14(1):5–51, 2003.
- [vdAtHW03] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Arthur H.M. ter Hofstede, and Mathias Weske. Business Process Management: A Survey. In Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Arthur H.M. ter Hofstede, and Mathias Weske, editors, Business Process Management, volume 2678 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 1–12. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2003.
- [vdAvDG<sup>+</sup>09] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, Boudewijn F. van Dongen, Christian Günther, Anne Rozinat, H.M.W. Verbeek, and A.J.M.M. Weijters. ProM: The Process Mining Toolkit. In Ana Karla Alves de Medeiros and Barbara Weber, editors, *Proceedings of the BPM* 2009 Demonstration Track, volume 489 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 1–4. CEUR-WS.org, September 2009.
  - [vdAvH02] Wil M.P. van der Aalst and Kees van Hee. Workflow Management: Models, Methods, and Systems. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusets, UK, 2002.
- [vdAW04] Wil M.P. van der Aalst and A.J.M.M. Weijters. Process Mining: A Research Agenda. Computers in Industry, 53:231–244, 2004.
- [vdAWM04] Wil M.P. van der Aalst, A.J.M.M. Weijters, and Laura Maruster. Workflow Mining: Discovering Process Models from Event Logs. *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 16(9):1128–1142, 2004.
  - [VDP<sup>+</sup>20] Marko Vjestica, Vladimir Dimitrieski, Milan Pisaric, Slavica Kordic, Sonja Ristic, and Ivan Lukovic. The Syntax of a Multi-Level Production Process Modeling Language. In Maria Ganzha, Leszek A. Maciaszek, and Marcin Paprzycki, editors, Proceedings of the 2020 Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, FedCSIS 2020, Sofia, Bulgaria, September 6-9, 2020, volume 21 of Annals of Computer Science and Information Systems, pages 751–760, 2020.
- [vDvdA05] Boudewijn F. van Dongen and Wil M.P. van der Aalst. A Meta Model for Process Mining Data. In Michele Missikoff and Antonio De Nicola, editors, Proceedings of the Open Interop Workshop on Enterprise Modelling and Ontologies for Interoperability, Colocated with CAiSE, volume 160 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Porto, Portugal, 2005. CEUR-WS.org.
- [vDvdAV05] Boudewijn F. van Dongen, Wil M.P. van der Aalst, and H.M.W. Verbeek. Verification of EPCs: Using Reduction Rules and Petri Nets. In Advanced Information Systems Engineering, pages 372– 386. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2005.
  - [vHOS05] Kees van Hee, Olivia Oanea, and Natalia Sidorova. Colored Petri Nets to Verify Extended Event-Driven Process Chains. In On the Move to Meaningful Internet Systems 2005: CoopIS, DOA, and ODBASE, volume 3760, pages 183–201. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2005.
  - [VHZ21] Birgit Vogel-Heuser, Tim Konstantin Herrmann, and Minjie Zou. Cost Analysis of Collaboration Interfaces in an Interdisciplinary Engineering Workflow: A Model Based Approach Using BPMN<sup>+i</sup>. In IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management, IEEM 2021, Singapore, December 13-16, 2021, pages 1571–1575. IEEE, 2021.
  - [VKLR07] Monique H. Jansen Vullers, P.A.M. Kleingeld, Maurice Loosschilder, and Hajo A. Reijers. Performance Measures to Evaluate the Impact of Best Practices. In Proceedings of Workshops and Doctoral Consortium of the 19th International Conference on

Advanced Information Systems Engineering (BPMDS), pages 359–368. Tapir Academic Press Trondheim, 2007.

- [VLM02] Elizabeth Vitt, Michael Luckevich, and Stacia Misner. Business Intelligence: Making Better Decisions Faster. CPG Series. Microsoft Press, 2002.
- [VLS16] Amy Van Looy and Aygun Shafagatova. Business Process Performance Measurement: A Structured Literature Review of Indicators, Measures and Metrics. SpringerPlus, 5(1):1797, October 2016.
- [VTM08] Kostas Vergidis, Ashutosh Tiwari, and Basim Majeed. Business Process Analysis and Optimization: Beyond Reengineering. Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C: Applications and Reviews, IEEE Transactions on, 38(1):69–82, 2008.
- [Wan14] Ray Wang. Constellation's 2014 Outlook on Dominating Digital Business Disruption. Technical Report 01/2014, Constellation Research Inc, 2014.
- [Wes07] Mathias Weske. Business Process Management: Concepts, Languages, Architectures. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, November 2007.
- [WG19] Aicha Wannes and Sonia Ayachi Ghannouchi. KPI-Based Approach for Business Process Improvement. Proceedia Computer Science, 164:265–270, 2019.
- [Wil45] Frank Wilcoxon. Individual Comparisons by Ranking Methods. Biometrics Bulletin, 1(6):80–83, 1945.
- [WL97] R. Weber and Coopers & Lybrand. Ontological Foundations of Information Systems. Coopers & Lybrand accounting research methodology monograph. Coopers & Lybrand and the Accounting Association of Australia and New Zealand, 1997.
- [WPC07] Kin Fung Simon Wong, Robert M. Parkin, and Johannes A. Coy. Integration of the Cimosa and High-Level Coloured Petri Net Modelling Techniques with Application in the Postal Process using Hierarchical Dispatching Rules. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers. Part B. Journal of engineering manufacture, 221(5):775–786, 2007.
  - [WS05] Terje Wahl and Guttorm Sindre. An Analytical Evaluation of BPMN Using a Semiotic Quality Framework. In Proceedings of EMMSAD2005, Porto, Portugal, pages 533–544, 2005.

- [WvdAD<sup>+</sup>05] P. Wohed, Wil M. P. van der Aalst, M. Dumas, A. H. M. ter Hofstede, and N. Russell. Pattern-based Analysis of BPMN - An extensive evaluation of the Control-flow, the Data and the Resource Perspectives. BPM Center Report BPM-05-26, 2005.
  - [WW90] Yair Wand and Ron Weber. An Ontological Model of an Information System. *IEEE Transactions of Software Engineering*, 16(11):1282–1292, 1990.
  - [WW93a] Y. Wand and R. Weber. On the ontological expressiveness of information systems analysis and design grammars. *Information Sys*tems Journal, 3(4):217–237, 1993.
  - [WW93b] Yair Wand and Ron Weber. On the Ontological Expressiveness of Information Systems Analysis and Design Grammars. Information Systems, 3(4):217–237, 1993.
  - [WW95a] Yair Wand and Ron Weber. On the Deep Structure of Information Systems. *Information Systems*, 5(3):203–223, 1995.
  - [WW95b] Yair Wand and Ron Weber. On the deep structure of information systems. *Information Systems Journal*, 5(3):203–223, 1995.
    - [WZ96] Ron Weber and Yanchun Zhang. An Analytical Evaluation of NIAM'S Grammar for Conceptual Schema Diagrams. Information Systems Journal, 6(2):147–170, 1996.
  - [ZBA21] Wolf-Dietrich Zabka, Peter Blank, and Rafael Accorsi. Has the Pandemic Impacted my Workforce's Productivity? Applying Effort Mining to Identify Productivity Shifts during COVID-19 Lockdown. In Massimiliano de Leoni, Minseok Song, and Maximilian Röglinger, editors, Proceedings of the Industry Forum at BPM 2021 co-located with 19th International Conference on Business Process Management (BPM 2021), Rome, Italy, September 6-10, 2021, volume 3112 of CEUR Workshop Proceedings, pages 3–13. CEUR-WS.org, 2021.
  - [ZBGD19] Karim Zarour, Djamel Benmerzoug, Nawal Guermouche, and Khalil Drira. A Systematic Literature Review on BPMN Extensions. Business Process Management Journal, 26(6):1473–1503, November 2019.
    - [ZL21] Janek Ziehmann and Birger Lantow. Moody's Physics of Notations: High Impact, Little Support. In Balbir Barn, Kurt Sandkuhl, Estefanía Serral Asensio, and Janis Stirna, editors, Proceedings of the Forum at Practice of Enterprise Modeling 2021 (PoEM-Forum 2021) (PoEM 2021), Riga, Latvia, November 24-26, 2021,

volume 3045 of  $CEUR\ Workshop\ Proceedings,$  pages 31–38. CEUR-WS.org, 2021.

[zM08] Michael zur Muehlen. Business Process Analytics Format (BPAF) Document Number WFMC-TC-1015. Workflow Management Coalition USA, 2008.

## Ehrenerklärung

Ich versichere hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; verwendete fremde und eigene Quellen sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Insbesondere habe ich nicht die Hilfe eines kommerziellen Promotionsberaters in Anspruch genommen. Dritte haben von mir weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar geldwerte Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Inhalt der vorgelegten Dissertation stehen.

Ich habe insbesondere nicht wissentlich:

- Ergebnisse erfunden oder widersprüchliche Ergebnisse verschwiegen,
- statistische Verfahren absichtlich missbraucht, um Daten in ungerechtfertigter Weise zu interpretieren,
- fremde Ergebnisse oder Veröffentlichungen plagiiert,
- fremde Forschungsergebnisse verzerrt wiedergegeben.

Mir ist bekannt, dass Verstöße gegen das Urheberrecht Unterlassungs- und Schadensersatzansprüche des Urhebers sowie eine strafrechtliche Ahndung durch die Strafverfolgungsbehörden begründen kann. Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form als Dissertation eingereicht und ist als Ganzes auch noch nicht veröffentlicht.

Magdeburg, den August 18, 2022

Azeem Lodhi